Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited
ZESEEEZERERADF

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(RHESHEFMRIMNERAT)
Stock Code B 5% : 1718

ANNUAL REPORT . S

2024/2025

FEHRS




CONTENTS
B

Corporation INformation . . . . ..o 2
NSIEES
Chairman’s Statement . .. ... . 4
FERS
Management Discussion and ANalYSIS . . . . ..t 6

BEESN @A

Biographical Details of Directors and Company Secretary .. ... 35
EERADMENBEFS

Corporate Governance RepOrt . . . . ..o 42
TEERRS

Report of the DIreClOrs . . .o oo 74
EFgRS

Independent AudItor's Report . . . . ..o 95
ERVRER S CIE =

Consolidated Statement of Profit Or LOSS . . . .ot 106
reEmk

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive INCOMe . . . .. ..o 107
mefER@mE

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position . . . . . ... 108
REMBRRER

Consolidated Statement of Changes in EQUIty . . .. ..o 110
RERmEER

Consolidated Statement of Cash FIOWS . . ... 112

FERERER

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements .. ... .. . . 113

iR B IR A

Financial SUMMAry . . . 240

M2

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZEEEZRERAE
Annual Report 2024/25 —F¥=mM " HEFEHR



CORPORATION INFORMATION

AFEH

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors
Mr. Bai Huawei
Mr. Wang Yu

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Xu Lin (Chairman)
Mr. Lui Kwok Wai

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Jiang Senlin

Mr. Zhang Yi

Ms. Dan Xi

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Wong Kit Ying
AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Bai Huawei
Ms. Wong Kit Ying

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Jiang Senlin (Chairman)
Mr. Zhang Yi
Ms. Dan Xi

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Zhang Yi (Chairman)
Mr. Bai Huawei
Mr. Jiang Senlin

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Jiang Senlin (Chairman)
Mr. Bai Huawei
Mr. Zhang Yi

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

Mr. Bai Huawei (Chairman)
Mr. Wang Yu
Mr. Lui Kwok Wai

REGISTERED OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN

ISLANDS

Windward 3

Regatta Office Park

P.O. Box 1350

Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman lIslands

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZE&EBZERERAR
Annual Report 2024/25 —F_—mM "—HFFR

e
]

ol 3 o
H¥

cPEHFIBY  HF o

D02 HIDE
R

BEE B
B

DS T it

B i B

FRUSAM
H?q\i H*@”fﬁfﬂ

i

o
=
T e

Bt

A
W
Wt
H_

\
L

Iy

=
H

[t
it

(3=
xFofF
H-HF

3¢

e B SR
N
KH
Ao
g

£ (£/F)

o

0 S 26k
o=
H-HE

M m
=
KH
Ao
g

P
R

284t
S ofrHE
H?LH%@

=
iy
K
i |
g

(/%)

KSRk
i S
TP

HF ofF ofF
HEHF

K
i
g

£ (£/E)

I

BB
B

Siluii
HF

&

)
L
Jlﬂ}

Windward 3
Regatta Office Park
P.O. Box 1350

Grand Cayman KY1-1108

Cayman lIslands

EEMNSEE



CORPORATION INFORMATION

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Unit No. 07, 16/F

Emperor Group Centre

No. 288 Hennessy Road, Wanchai
Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISER AS TO HONG KONG LAW

LI & PARTNERS

22nd Floor, World-Wide House,
19 Des Voeux Road Central,
Hong Kong

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited

Room 1519, 15/F., Chevalier Commercial Centre,
8 Wang Hoi Road, Kowloon Bay,

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN
ISLANDS

Ocorian Trust (Cayman) Limited
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park,

P.O. Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman lIslands

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE IN HONG KONG

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited
Hang Seng Bank Limited

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.

DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

China Everbright Bank

STOCK CODE
01718
COMPANY WEBSITE

www.hkex1718.hk

ATEH

MMFEREFRTEZRMES

&

17 5T JE 5512885
HEEE PN
161807%

BB R ERENEREER

= RIRREMIT

&8

B E 1958

IRIKKE2218

L NVRER (]

9&%@% ZETEMEHBAARAT

NEEE 7= BR 1885
Hiﬁ%$@w@ww§

FRE#ERNBAEICRE

Ocorian Trust (Cayman) Limited
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park,

P.O. Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands

BERRMBRELDE

SEEFBRERAT
&5 EBIE 163
RS R0 71E

FEFRRT

$ﬁ%kﬁ%
B (R 15
01718
AT

www.hkex1718.hk

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZEEEZRERAE
Annual Report 2024/25 —F¥=mM " HEFEHR



4

CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
FREHRE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”),
| would like to present to the shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholders”) the annual report of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2025 (the “Reporting Period” or
“YR2025").

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded an
increase in revenue of approximately HK$12,475,000 or
approximately 4.3% to approximately HK$301,129,000
when compared with the year ended 31 March 2024 (the
“YR2024"). The increase in revenue was primarily due to
the fact that the Group has expanded the e-commerce
business with various types of products during the
Reporting Period.

Given the sluggish growth of Hong Kong’s construction
industry and the continued challenges facing the
construction sector, particularly due to reduced land
acquisitions and development projects by property
developers, the Group has adopted a conservative
approach to the operation and development of its existing
construction business.

To ensure operational stability and long-term sustainability,
the Group is not only expanding its core business activities
but also strategically pursuing growth opportunities in new
sectors.

To further strengthen its market position, the Group will
leverage its industry expertise, existing resources, and
skilled workforce to identify potential collaborations and
investment opportunities with high-quality companies.
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On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity
to express my deepest gratitude to our Shareholders and
business partners for their continued support, and to our
management and staff members for their commitment and
contribution to the growth of the Group.

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited
Xu Lin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEET R

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of (i)
foundation construction works; (i) ground investigation
services; (iii) financial services; (iv) trading of consumer
products; and (v) e-commerce sales, live streaming
and promotion business in the social media (the
“‘E-Commerce Business”).

Foundation construction works

During the Reporting Period, the foundation construction
works undertaken by the Group mainly consisted of the
construction of socketed H-piles, mini piles, soldier piles,
pipe piles and king posts. The Group undertook foundation
construction projects in both the public and private
sectors in Hong Kong. Revenue from the foundation works
contributed approximately 69.8% to the total revenue
of the Group during the Reporting Period (YR2024:
approximately 76.1%).

Ground investigation services

The Group also acted as a contractor to provide ground
investigation services in both public and private sectors in
Hong Kong during the Reporting Period. Revenue from the
ground investigation services contributed approximately
15.5% to the total revenue of the Group during the
Reporting Period (YR2024: approximately 22.7%).

Financial services
During the Reporting Period, revenue from financial

services contributed approximately 0.2% to the total
revenue of the Group (YR2024: approximately 0.2%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Trading of consumer products

During the Reporting Period, revenue from trading of
consumer products contributed approximately 1.5% to
the total revenue of the Group. There was no revenue
generated from the Group’s trading business in YR2024
as the Group was vyet to receive the outstanding receivable
arising from its previous trading of beauty and skin care
products from the customer. The Group has resumed
the trading business with a broader focus on general
consumer products during the Reporting Period since the
said outstanding trade receivable was fully settled.

E-Commerce Business

During the Reporting Period, revenue from e-commerce
business contributed approximately 11.6% to the total
revenue of the Group (YR2024: approximately 1.0%).

Outlook

Given the sluggish growth of Hong Kong’'s construction
industry and the continued challenges facing the
construction sector, particularly due to reduced land
acquisitions and development projects by property
developers, the Group has adopted a conservative
approach to the operation and development of its existing
construction business.

To ensure operational stability and long-term sustainability,
the Group is not only expanding its core business activities
but also strategically pursuing growth opportunities in new
sectors.

To further strengthen its market position, the Group wil
leverage its industry expertise, existing resources, and
skilled workforce to identify potential collaborations and
investment opportunities with high-quality companies.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEET R

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s total revenue for the Reporting Period
increased by approximately HK$12,475,000 or
approximately 4.3%, from approximately HK$288,654,000
for YR2024 to approximately HK$301,129,000 for the
Reporting Period, which was primarily due to the net effect
of the following:

Foundation construction works

The revenue from undertaking foundation construction
works decreased by approximately HK$9,404,000 or
approximately 4.3%, from approximately HK$219,633,000
for YR2024 to approximately HK$210,229,000 for the
Reporting Period. This was primarily due to the decrease
in the number of sizable projects tendered by the Group
during the Reporting Period.

Ground investigation services

The revenue from ground investigation services decreased
by approximately HK$19,118,000 or approximately
29.1%, from approximately HK$65,709,000 for YR2024 to
approximately HK$46,591,000 for the Reporting Period.
This was primarily due to the decrease in the number
of sizable projects tendered by the Group during the
Reporting Period.

Financial services

During the Reporting Period, revenue from financial
services amounted to approximately HK$525,000
(YR2024: approximately HK$554,000).

Trading of consumer products

During the Reporting Period, revenue from trading
of consumer products amounted to approximately
HK$4,633,000 (YR2024: nil). The Group has resumed the
trading business with a broader focus in general consumer
products during the Reporting Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

E-Commerce Business

During the Reporting Period, revenue from e-commerce
business increased by approximately HK$32,091,000
or approximately 1,164.0% from approximately
HK$2,757,000 for YR2024 to approximately
HK$34,848,000 for the Reporting Period. The increase
in revenue was mainly due to the fact that the Group has
expanded the e-commerce business with various types of
products during the Reporting Period.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The gross profit decreased from approximately
HK$53,073,000 for YR2024 to approximately
HK$52,962,000 for the Reporting Period. The Group’s
overall gross profit margin during the Reporting Period was
approximately 17.6% (YR2024: approximately 18.4%).

The gross profit of the Group’s foundation construction
works segment decreased from approximately
HK$30,987,000 for YR2024 to approximately
HK$29,356,000 for the Reporting Period. During the
Reporting Period, gross profit margin of the foundation
construction works segment amounted to approximately
14.0% (YR2024: approximately 14.1%). The decrease
in gross profit margin was mainly due to the decrease in
tendered price.

Gross profit of the Group’s ground investigation
services segment was approximately HK$19,055,000
for the Reporting Period, representing a decrease of
approximately 0.4% from approximately HK$19,127,000
for YR2024. Gross profit margin of the ground investigation
services segment increased from approximately 29.1% for
YR2024 to approximately 40.9% for the Reporting Period.
The increase in gross profit margin was mainly due to (j)
tight control on the cost by the management during the
Reporting Period which decreased the subcontracting fee;
(i) no additional bonus was paid to operating staff during
the Reporting Period; and (i) tendered price had been
improved.

Gross profit of the Group’s financial service was
approximately HK$524,000 for the Reporting Period
(YR2024: approximately HK$554,000). Gross profit margin
of the financial services amounted to approximately 100%
(YR2024: approximately 100%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEET R

Gross profit of the Group’s trading of consumer products
was approximately HK$627,000 for the Reporting Period
(YR2024: nil). Gross profit margin of the trading of
consumer products amounted to approximately 13.5% for
the Reporting Period (YR2024: nil).

Gross profit of the Group’s E-Commerce Business
segment was approximately HK$2,766,000 for the
Reporting Period (YR2024: approximately HK$2,406,000).
Gross profit margin of the e-commerce business segment
amounted to approximately 7.9% (YR2024: approximately
87.3%). The decrease in gross profit margin was mainly
due to increased proportion of promotion services which
had much lower profit margin.

Other income, other gains and losses, net

The Group’s other income, other gains and losses,
net increased by approximately HK$4,557,000, from
approximately HK$2,066,000 for YR2024 to approximately
HK$6,623,000 for the Reporting Period. The increase was
mainly due to (i) fair value gain on financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss of approximately HK$521,000
for the Reporting Period (YR2024: loss approximately
HK$521,000); (i) gain on disposal of property, plant
and equipment of approximately HK$1,015,000 for the
Reporting Period (YR2024: approximately HK$135,000);
(i) the government grants of approximately HK$1,200,000
have been received during the Reporting Period (YR2024:
nil) and (iv) bank interest income of approximately
HK$1,149,000 for the Reporting Period (YR2024:
approximately HK$656,000).

Selling expenses
The Group’s selling expenses for the Reporting Period were

approximately HK$4,094,000 (YR2024: nil). The expenses
were mainly derived by the E-Commerce Business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

General and administrative expenses and reversal of
impairment/impairment losses on the financial and
contract assets, net

The Group’s general and administrative expenses
and reversal of impairment/impairment losses on the
financial and contract assets, net for the Reporting
Period were approximately HK$96,827,000 (YR2024:
approximately HK$65,326,000), representing an increase
of approximately 48.2% as compared to that for YR2024.
The increase was mainly attributable to the increase in
directors’ remuneration and staff salaries, the depreciation
of right-of-use assets and other operation expenses as the
Company has expanded its existing business to maintain
the stability and sustainability of the Group’s operations.

Finance costs

The finance costs increased by approximately
HK$1,406,000 from approximately HK$9,154,000
for YR2024 to approximately HK$10,560,000 for the
Reporting Period. The increase was mainly due to the
increase of the interest rate for the amount due to a
director of a subsidiary, Mr. Lau Woon Si (Reporting Period:
6.5% per annum; YR2024: 5% per annum).

Income tax

The tax expense for the Reporting Period was
approximately HK$1,407,000 (YR2024: approximately
HK$760,000). While there was a decrease in current tax
of approximately HK$368,000, there was an increase in
deferred tax of approximately HK$1,015,000 during the
Reporting Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEET R

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

In YR2024, the financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income represent approximately 19.7%
equity interest of Matsu Gami IP Development Limited and
its subsidiaries (collectively the “Matsu Gami Group”). The
fair value loss amounted to approximately HK$5,825,000
in YR2024. The further fair value loss amounted to
approximately HK$1,135,000 for the Reporting Period.

On 11 November 2024, the Group entered into a sale
and purchase agreement with certain independent
third parties, pursuant to which, the Group disposed of
approximately 19.7% equity interest in Matsu Gami Group
at a consideration of HK$1,600,000 (the “Disposal”). The
completion of the Disposal took place on 31 December
2024,

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

The financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
represents the listed equity investments.

The fair value of listed equity investments is determined
with reference to quoted market bid price from The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
and within level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. The fair
value gain of approximately HK$521,000 (YR2024: loss
of approximately HK$521,000) was recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the Reporting
Period.

Material provision for expected credit losses in
relation to specific corporate loan receivable and
other receivable from subscription

In relation to the specific corporate loan receivable
for money lending business (the “Corporate Loan
Receivable”) and other receivable from subscription,
the Group recognised reversal of provision for expected
credit losses (‘ECL”") of approximately HK$4,326,000 due
to the partial subsequent settlement of the outstanding
balances for the Reporting Period. The aggregate amount
(after reversal of provision was made) of impairment loss
provision for these two receivables was approximately
HK$30,738,000 as at 31 March 2025 (the “Impairment
Loss”).
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(a)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Corporate Loan Receivable

Prior to the grant of the Corporate Loan Receivable,
the Group performed various due diligence and
credit assessment work on each of the borrowers
and guarantors, which include (i) obtaining of the
latest management financial statements, statutory
records and credit history (where applicable) to
assess the background and financial position of
the borrowers and to identify any indicators of
high default risks; (i) considering the key terms
by referencing the prevailing market interest
rate and the financial position of the borrowers
to compensate the associated credit risk (the
“Credit Risk Assessments”); and (i) performing
an assessment to ensure compliance with the
relevant requirements and regulations of anti-
money laundering and counter-terrorist financing.
The Group, having not identified any indication of
high default risk of the loans and having assessed
the terms and conditions for the grant of the
Corporate Loan Receivable based on Credit Risk
Assessments, considered that the initial grant of
the loans based on such terms and conditions was
fair and reasonable and was in the interest of the
Company and its shareholders as a whole.

(a)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEREmETHh

(b)

The Corporate Loan Receivable was past due since
June 2020. The Company has commenced the
winding up process against the customer company
responsible for the non-payment of Corporate Loan
receivable in April 2023. The hearing of winding-
up petition originally fixed on 28 June 2023 was
adjourned to 7 August 2023, and the Group has
been liaising with the borrower in the interim with the
view of settling the outstanding repayment amount.
The Group subsequently entered into the settlement
agreement and deed of guarantee with the borrower
of the Corporate Loan Receivable and related
guarantors on 31 July 2023, with the last instalment
repayable on or before 30 September 2025 based
on the repayment scheme. Following the entering
into the settlement agreement, the winding-up
petition was withdrawn on 7 August 2023. As at
31 March 2025, the outstanding principal was
HK$4,900,000.

Other receivable from subscription

Other receivable from subscription is represented
by an outstanding redemption amount arising
from the redemption of a debt instrument which
expired on 18 March 2023. The debt instrument
was represented by certain class C shares in a
fixed-income focused fund portfolio company
(the “Fund”) managed by an external manager
(the “Manager”) and a delegated investment
manager (the “Investment Manager”) (all being
independent third parties) which were subscribed
by Sino Topper Holdings Limited (“Sino Topper”),
being a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
on 20 April 2020 at a total subscription amount of
HK$60,000,000 with a term of 36 months after first
issuance of any class B shares and class C shares
(the “Subscription”). The Subscription was made
at the material time as an investment to utilize the
idle cash balance of the Group. For details of the
Subscription, please refer to the announcements of
the Company dated 20 April 2020 and 8 May 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Prior to the Subscription, the Group performed
various due diligence work on the Fund, the
Manager and the Investment Manager, which
include (i) conducting the necessary “know your
customer” checks by obtaining their constitutional
documents and statutory records to assess
their background, (i) reviewing the experience,
qualifications and licenses of the Manager, the
Investment Manager and the personnel in charge
of the day-to-day operation of the Fund to consider
their competence, (iii) reviewing the nature,
composition, historical performance and future
prospects of the target investments of the Fund
to consider its risk profile and (iv) reviewing the
material terms and conditions of the Fund including
but not limited to rate of returns, target investment
size, maturity period and exit mechanisms to
consider their commercial reasonableness (the
“Investment Risk Assessments”). The Group,
having not identified any indication of high default
risk of the Fund, and having assessed the terms
and conditions for the Subscription based on the
Investment Risk Assessments, considered that the
Subscription based on such terms and conditions
was fair and reasonable and was in the interest of
the Company and its shareholders as a whole.
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After the expiry date of the debt instrument (i.e.
18 March 2023), and taking into account the
repayments received by Sino Topper for the partial
redemption made prior to the expiry date, Sino
Topper has received an aggregate of approximately
HK$40,181,000 (inclusive of accrued interests)
as repayments for redemption of its subscription
amount with the last batch of repayments
received in December 2023, after which no
further repayments have been received. Despite
repeated efforts made by the Directors throughout
the Reporting Period to communicate with the
Fund, the Manager and the Investment Manager
to demand for settlement of the outstanding
redemption amount, Sino Topper has not received
any explanation for the delay in repayment, and no
further reply has been received since June 2023.
Between April 2024 and July 2024, Sino Topper
has issued demand letters against the Fund, the
Manager, the Investment Manager, and the former
Responsible Officer of the Investment Manager.
Sino Topper has engaged BVI lawyers in September
2024, issued a Statutory Demand against the Fund
in October 2024 and completed the winding up
proceedings against the Fund in the BVI on 14 April
2025. Joint liquidators have been appointed to
conduct investigations into the affairs of the Fund.
As at the date of this report, a total redemption
amount of approximately HK$26,926,000 remained
outstanding and payable to Sino Topper by the
Fund and/or others.
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(c)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Impairment loss and key value of inputs used
and assumptions adopted in valuation

The Group has engaged an independent valuer
(the “Valuer”) to conduct a valuation in relation
to impairment assessment over the financial and
contract assets (including loan receivable and other
receivable) as at 31 March 2025 (the “Valuation”).

The Valuer adopted the expected credit loss model
(the “ECL Model”) to measure the ECL of the loan
receivable and other receivable. The ECL Model
was adopted in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards 9. Major inputs of
the ECL Model include (i) probability of default
(the “PD”) of the borrowers/debtors which in turn
affecting the credit specific factor by, inter alia,
assessing the loss stages and checking forward
looking assumptions involved; (i) loss given default;
(i) exposure at default; and (iv) discount factor
reflecting time value of money.

The expected credit loss rate (the “ECL rate”)
for the Corporate Loan Receivable was 77.8%
(YR2024: 63.1%), and the provision for ECL for
the Corporate Loan Receivable was approximately
HK$3,812,000 with gross carrying of approximately
HK$4,900,000 as at 31 March 2025. After the end
of the Reporting Period and as at the date of this
report, a repayment of HK$1,000,000 has been
settled based on the repayment schedule.

(c)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEET R

The ECL rate for other receivable from subscription
in respect of the outstanding redemption amount
was relatively high in the Reporting Period due
to a significant increase in credit risks since initial
recognition due to (i) the debt instrument has
matured for more than a year since March 2023,
and (i) it is uncertain whether Sino Topper is able
to enter into any settlement arrangements with the
Fund, the Manager and the Investment Manager
to secure the repayment of the outstanding
redemption amount as the Fund, the Manager and
the Investment Manager have not been responsive,
and (i) between April and July, Sino Topper has
issued a demand letter to the Fund, the Manager
and the Investment Manager and the former
Responsible Officer of the Investment Manager for
the non-payment of the outstanding redemption
amount, Sino Topper has engaged BVI lawyers
in September 2024, issued a Statutory Demand
against the Fund in October 2024 and completed
the winding up proceedings against the Fund in the
BVI on 14 April 2025. Joint liquidators have been
appointed to conduct investigations into the affairs
of the Fund. Accordingly, the Group has provided
a full provision of approximately HK$26,926,000
for other receivable in respect of the outstanding
redemption amount with gross carrying amount of
the approximately HK$26,926,000 as at 31 March
2025.

Money lending business

Within the Group’s money lending business, prospective
borrowers are sourced from the management’s business
networks. A credit committee (“Credit Committee”)
is established and the primary responsibility of this
committee is to assess and approve loans. During the
credit assessment phase, multiple approval criteria
are considered, including the client’'s income source,
outstanding debt, credit history, loan history with our
company and relevant assessment results obtained during
the application procedure.

As of 31 March 2025, the combined outstanding balance
of the top two clients (YR2024: one client) in the money
lending business amounted to 100% of the Group’s total
loan receivables (YR2024: 100%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Business model of the Group’s money lending
business

The Group’s money lending business is managed through
a wholly-owned subsidiary, Fortune Shiny (Hong Kong)
Limited (“Fortune Shiny”), which holds a money lenders
license issued under the Money Lenders Ordinance
(Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong Kong). Fortune Shiny
provides loan financing services to both individual and
corporate clients who are third parties independent of
the Company and its connected persons (as defined in
the Rules (the “Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange). Corporate loans are
offered to corporate clients requiring loan financing for their
corporate needs, while individual loans are provided to
clients who require loan financing for their personal needs.

Fortune Shiny is capable of granting loan financing services
to both corporate and individual clients with greater
flexibility compared to licensed banks and was established
to generate interest income by providing loan financing
services in Hong Kong. The Group’s money lending
business is primarily financed through internal resources.

Credit assessment policy

Loan applications are evaluated and processed on a case-
by-case basis, with each application assessed based on its
individual merit. Prior to granting loans, the management
conducts a financial background and credit check
procedure.

The process for loan application involves collecting
customer information including identity and financial
documents, performing a customer due diligence check
to verify identity and understand the purpose of the loan,
conducting a background check including legal and
property ownership searches, performing a valuation
check on the collateral, conducting a credit assessment to
determine the borrower’s ability to repay, and performing
an assessment to ensure compliance with the relevant
requirements and regulations of anti-money laundering and
counter-terrorist financing. The details of each step may
vary depending on the specific circumstances of the loan
application.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEET R

Overall, the loan application process involves a thorough
evaluation of the borrower’s financial standing, legal and
financial history, collateral, and ability to repay the loan. By
performing these checks and assessments, the Group can
reduce the risk of default and ensure that their loans are
being used for legitimate purposes.

Ongoing monitoring of loan recoverability and loan
collection

To ensure recoverability, the Group places particular
emphasis on the financial background, assets or capital
base, repayment ability, and reputation of the borrower
when establishing loan terms. The manager communicates
with borrowers regularly to monitor the recoverability of
loans and assess the conditions of the borrowers. Any
delays in payment or defaults on significant terms of the
loan agreement are reported to the management. To
mitigate risk and potential credit losses, various measures
may be implemented, including but not limited to revising
repayment terms, executing a settlement agreement,
and/or initiating legal proceedings against the borrower
to recover any late payments and default interest. These
measures are taken after considering the normal market
practice and the actual circumstances during the credit
collection processes and negotiations with the relevant
customers with the ultimate goal of reducing the possibility
of credit losses.

Credit committee

To manage credit risk and operations, the Credit
Committee has been established, consisting of Mr. Bai
Huawei and Ms. Xia Liping, with full authority to handle
all credit-related matters of Fortune Shiny. All loans must
be approved by the Credit Committee, following the
authorization matrix for final approval.

The primary responsibilities of the Credit Committee
include approving and supervising the Group’s money
lending business and monitoring the loan portfolio. The
Credit Committee is also responsible for overseeing
compliance and governance matters such as regularly
reviewing and modifying the money lending policy to in line
with changes in the market environment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Major terms of loans granted

Under the Group’s money lending business for the
Reporting Period, the Group offered a credit period of
6-24 months for the loan to its personal customers with
interest rate of 8%—-15% per annum (YR2024: nil). The loan
to a corporate customer is interest-free, and secured by
personal guarantee.

Breakdowns of material loan receivables

As of 31 March 2025, the Group had a total outstanding
loan principal amount of HK$7,700,000 (YR2024:
HK$12,900,000) before taking into account the ECL. The
outstanding principal amounts relate to the Corporate Loan
Receivable, which was a corporate loan, and one other
personal loan (YR2024: one corporate loan). The corporate
loan accounted for 63.6% of the outstanding principal
amount of HK$7,700,000 (YR2024: the corporate loan
accounted for 100% of the outstanding principal amount of
HK$12,900,000). The Corporate Loan Receivable became
interest-free based on the settlement agreement.

During the Reporting Period, the Group granted two
personal loans (one of which has been fully repaid during
the year), the interest rates for the principal amounts were
8% to 15% per annum (YR2024: nil). The corporate loan
receivable accounts as of 31 March 2025 was secured by
personal guarantees.

Loan interest income

For the Reporting Period, the total loan interest
income from the Group’s money lending business was
approximately HK$525,000 (YR2024: approximately
HK$554,000).

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF
THE COMPANY

For the Reporting Period, the Group recorded a net loss
of approximately HK$51,430,000 as compared with
approximately HK$20,622,000, for YR2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEET R

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final
dividend to the owners for the Reporting Period (YR2024:
nil).

RIGHTS ISSUE

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement
dated 17 January 2025 and the prospectus dated 26
March 2025 (the “Prospectus”). In order to bolster its
working capital and to ensure 12 months of operational
funding amid a sluggish Hong Kong construction market,
the Company (pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed
at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company on
13 March 2025) issued 115,200,000 ordinary Shares (the
“‘Rights Share(s)”) to the qualifying Shareholders at the
subscription price of HK$0.2 per Rights Share on the
basis of one Rights Share for every one existing ordinary
Share of the Company held on 25 March 2025 (the
“Rights Issue”). The said subscription price represented
a discount of approximately 29.82% to the closing price
of HK$0.285 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange
on 17 January 2025. The aggregate nominal value of the
Rights Shares issued was HK$11,520,000, and the net
subscription price per Rights Share (i.e. the subscription
price less cost and expenses incurred in the Rights Issue)
was approximately HK$0.1881.

The Rights Issue was completed on 9 May 2025 (which
was subsequent to the end of the Reporting Period), and
accordingly none of the proceeds was utilized within the
Reporting Period. The Company intends to apply the net
proceeds from the Rights Issue (“2025 Net Proceeds”)
by 31 December 2025 as the funding of the construction
segment of the Group and general working capital of the
headquarter as disclosed in the Prospectus. The unutilised
2025 Net Proceeds were placed as bank balances with
licensed bank in Hong Kong.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THE PLACING IN 2024

References are made to the Company ’s announcements
on 3 April 2024 and 16 April 2024 (the “2024
Announcements”) in relation to the entering into of the
placing agreement by the Company on 3 April 2024 for
the placing of 19,200,000 ordinary shares of the Company
(the “2024 Placing”) which raised net proceeds of
approximately HK$18.7 million (the “2024 Net Proceeds”),
representing a net issue price of approximately HK$0.97
per placing share, and the 2024 Placing was completed on
16 April 2024.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and
belief after having made all reasonable enquiry, there were
not less than six placees under the 2024 Placing who were
individual investors that were third parties independent of
and not connected with the Company and its connected
persons. None of the placees under the 2024 Placing
has become a substantial shareholder (as defined under
the Listing Rules) of the Company immediately upon
completion of the 2024 Placing.

In view of the uncertainties in the economic and business
environment of Hong Kong, the Company considered it is
critical to replenish the financial resources of the Group for
its development. The Directors were of the view that the
2024 Placing would strengthen the financial position and
liquidity of the Group and provide financial resources to the
Group without incurring interest costs. The Directors also
believed that the 2024 Placing represents an opportunity
to raise capital for the Company while broadening its
Shareholder and capital base.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEET R

The aggregate nominal value of the maximum number of
placing shares under the 2024 Placing is HK$1,920,000.
The placing price of HK$1.00 per placing share under the
2024 Placing represents (i) a discount of approximately
14.53% to the closing price of HK$1.17 per share of the
Company (the “Share”) as quoted on the Stock Exchange
on 3 April 2024; and (i) a discount of approximately
18.70% to the average closing price of approximately
HK$1.23 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange
for the last five consecutive trading days immediately
preceding 3 April 2024.

Use of 2024 Net Proceeds

TE T NEREEETRSHERERMD N
EHEZA1,920,0008 7w _ S _NEREET
EREERHMGZEEEAR1.008 T B(I)K
NEKRORN _E_NEFEOB=HRB AT
KB ESKRRMO (TRM)117BTIEY
14.58%; RINBEE_ S _NENE=ZHA &
BEEIBXZHRBXFAARFHEKRSTE
BREMA1.23BTITELN18.70%°

—Z_NEFIRIEFEAR

Planned use
of proceeds Amount utilised Unutilised
as disclosed during the 2024 Net
in the 2024 Reporting Proceeds as at Expected
Announcements Period 31 March 2025 timeline
R-B_5E
—EomE =ZA=+-Bz
REFMBEEZ REEHR XBHA-T-NE
FiRREE AR EBhREE FRERIERE BBREE
HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$' 000
(approximately) (approximately) (approximately)
FET FET FET
(#49) (#49) (#49)
Administration and operation expenses FEBFELNNTHLEERS N/A B
of the headquarters of the Group in Hong Kong
— approximately 70% for director and staff remuneration —#)70% %% K & T 13,095 13,095 =
— approximately 8% for rental expense —#B%AERERY 1,497 1,497 -
- approximately 12% for professional fee —M2%AEEEER 2,245 2,245 -
~ approximately 10% for other operation expenses —#10%FAEHMEERS 1,871 1,871 =
18,708 18,708 -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE
PLACING IN 2016

References are made to the Company’s announcement
on 29 November 2016 (the “2016 Announcement’) in
relation to placing of 160,000,000 new ordinary shares
of the Company (the “2016 Placing”) which raised net
proceeds of approximately HK $134.0 million (the “2016
Net Proceeds”) and the announcements in relation to
change in use of proceeds from the Placing dated 2
October 2018 (the “2018 Announcement”), 17 August
2021 (the “2021 Announcement”) and 3 January 2023
(the “2023 Announcement”), 17 November 2023 and
the annual reports of the Company for the year ended
31 March 2019, 31 March 2022, 31 March 2023 and 31
March 2024.

Part of the 2016 Net Proceeds from the Placing were
utilised up to 31 March 2025 and are intended to
be applied in accordance with the revised proposed
application set out in the announcement dated 3
January 2023. The below table sets out the details of the
application of the 2016 Net Proceeds:
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Planned use Revised Unutilised 2016 Revised Amount Revised Amount Amount  Unutilised 2016 Amount  Unutilised 2016

of proceeds allocation  Net Proceeds allocation  utilised during allocation  utilised during  utilised during ~ Net Proceeds utilised during ~ Net Proceeds

as disclosed as at as at as at year ended asat  yearended year ended asat the Reporting asat
in the 2016 2 October 31 March 17 August 31 March 3 January 31 March 31 March 31 March Period 31 March Expected
Announcement 2018 2021 2021 2022 2023 2023 2024 2024 2025 202 timeline

RZBZ-§ HE HE HE K-Z3-mE RZFZEE

ZE-RE ZA=Zt+-B ot Jobet st S} ZEImE ZAS+-R ZA=t+-H

REMEEZ RIF-0\E ZKBB K-F-% ZBZ+-B RI¥ZZ§ ZA=t+-R =ZA=t-A ZRBR RIFCEE ZFBA

figw®E +AZHZ Z%-7"E \B+tH t£Ez -AZBZ 1:3:94 tEEZ  Z3-AE  BEBEZ ZE-RE
HUBE  EEIAE FMERERE EENSE  BBASE ERIAE  CHAGE CHRLE FERERE  COARE FRRERE BERER

HiSmilon — HkSmilon — HKSmilon  HKSmilon  HKSmilon  HKSmilon  HKSmilon  HKSmilon  FKSmilon  HKSmilon  FKSmillon

B B B EE#En EE¥En EE#En EEEn BEET BEET BEET BEET

(#4) #4) (#4) (#4) (#4) (#4) (##) (##) (##) #4) (##)

MNote 1) MNote2) MNote 3)
(1) (w2) (3)
Investment, financing and money 5 HEREERE 1840 573 - - - - - - - - - NARER
lending services
Funding the Acaiston (as defined below)  AMEETE (E2ETX) - 767 67 - - - - - - - - NAKER
2z

Funding further possible acaquisition(s) ATEE-SHBRE - - - 07 - 57 - - %7 50 20.7 By 30 September 2026
a3
hB=tRH
General working capital —hgEEs - - - 60 60 450 136 314 - - o NARER

1840 1840 67 67 60 707 136 314 %7 50 207
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREwEAh

Notes:

As disclosed in the 2018 Announcement, (i) the Group had
used approximately HK$20.8 million of the proceeds of the
2016 Placing for investment and financial services and for
setting up a subsidiary with a money lenders licence and
the Group intended to utilise up to approximately HK$36.5
million of the 2016 Net Proceeds in developing the Group’s
money lending business in the next 12 months; and (i) the
Group intended to change the use of up to approximately
HK$76.7 million of the outstanding 2016 Net Proceeds to
fund the acquisition of approximately 51.3% of the issued
share capital of Blue Marble Limited at a total consideration
of HK$320,000,000 (the “Acquisition”). The Acquisition then
lapsed on 2 April 2020. For details, please refer to the 2018
Announcement and the announcement of the Company
dated 2 April 2020.

On 17 August 2021, the Company resolved to change
the use of the outstanding 2016 Net Proceeds, being
approximately HK$76,700,000 as at 31 March 2021 as
follows: () as to approximately HK$70,700,000, to fund further
possible acquisition(s), including further possible acquisition
of 16% of the issued share capital of Matsu Gami; and (ii) as
to the remaining balance of approximately HK$6,000,000, for
general working capital. As at 31 March 2022, the Board has
not exercised the call option to acquire 16% of the issued
share capital of Matsu Gami. For details, please refer to the
2021 Announcement and the announcement of the Company
dated 10 September 2021.

On 3 January 2023, the Company resolved to change
the use of the outstanding 2016 Net Proceeds, being
approximately HK$70,700,000 as at 31 March 2022 as
follows: (i) as to approximately HK$25,700,000, to fund further
possible acquisition(s) and (i) as to the remaining balance of
approximately HK$45,000,000, for general working capital. As
at 31 March 2023, the Board has not exercised the call option
to acquire 16% of the issued share capital of Matsu Gami.
For details, please refer to the 2023 Announcement and the
announcement of the Company dated 3 January 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

4. On 17 November 2023, the Company published the
announcement and wishes to supplement that the unutilised
2016 Net Proceeds for further acquisitions are intended to
be fully utilised by 31 March 2025 in the acquisition of equity
interests in target company(ies) engaged in the food and
beverage and/or the construction sectors, provided that, if
any such opportunity(ies) arise in the meantime, the Group
may also utilise the unutilised 2016 Net Proceeds for Further
Acquisitions (or part thereof) in the acquisition of target
company(ies) engaged in other sector(s) if such acquisition is
considered by the Board to be conducive in broadening the
source of the revenue for the Group or otherwise in the best
interest of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

During the Reporting Period, the Group entered into an
agreement and supplemental agreement with the non-
controlling interest, pursuant to which, the Group acquired
(i) the remaining 49% equity interests of Pure Luck from the
non-controlling interest; and (i) assumed the outstanding
indebtedness due from the non-controlling interest for a cash
consideration of HK$5,000,000.

58 On 28 March 2025, the Company resolved to extend the
expected timeline of the use of the unutilized 2016 Net
Proceeds to 30 September 2026.

The remaining unutilised 2016 Net Proceeds as at 31
March 2025 were placed as bank balances with licensed
bank in Hong Kong and will be applied in the manner
consistent with the proposed allocations.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEET R

DEBTS AND CHARGE ON ASSETS

The total interest-bearing borrowings of the Group mainly
consisted of leases liabilities, borrowing from directors of
subsidiaries and borrowing from a related company of the
Group. The above borrowings as at 31 March 2025 were
approximately HK$178,883,000 (YR2024: approximately
HK$179,941,000). All borrowings were mainly
denominated in Hong Kong dollar. Interest on borrowings
are charged at fixed rates. The Group currently does
not have an interest rate hedging policy and the Group
monitors interest risks continuously and considers hedging
any excessive risk when necessary. As at 31 March 2025,
the Group did not have any charges on the Group’s assets.

NET CURRENT ASSETS

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s net current assets
amounted to approximately HK$32,874,000 which was
approximately HK$47,858,000 lower than the net current
assets of approximately HK$80,732,000 as at 31 March
2024, the decrease was mainly due to the decrease in
contract assets. As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s current
liabilities amounted to approximately HK$211,801,000
representing a decrease of approximately HK$18,372,000
from approximately HK$230,173,000 as at 31 March
2024, the decrease was mainly due to the decrease in
trade and other payables and accruals.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had cash and bank
balances of approximately HK$106,965,000, representing
a decrease of approximately HK$31,321,000 (as at 31
March 2024: approximately HK$138,286,000), which were
mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollar.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not employ any
financial instrument for hedging purposes.

CASH FLOW

The net cash used by the Group in its operating activities
amounted to approximately HK$14,977,000 during the
Reporting Period, which was mainly due to the financial
performance of the Group. Net cash used in investing
activities was approximately HK$12,286,000 mainly arose
from the purchase of property, plant and equipment of
approximately HK$10,610,000. The net cash used in
financing activities was approximately HK$3,683,000 in
which approximately HK$19,200,000 arose from proceeds
from issue of shares received, was set off by (i) decreasing
in amount due to directors of subsidiaries of approximately
HK$14,906,000; and (i) payment of principal and interest
portion of lease liabilities of approximately HK$5,485,000.

The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2025
(defined as total interest-bearing liabilities divided by the
Group’s total equity) was approximately 351.4% (as at 31
March 2024: approximately 199.2%).

The current ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2025 was
approximately 1.16 (as at 31 March 2024: approximately
1.35).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEET R

TREASURY POLICY

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management
approach towards its treasury policies and thus maintained
a healthy position of liquidity throughout the Reporting
Period. The Group strives to reduce the exposure to
credit risk by performing ongoing credit assessments
and evaluations of the financial status of its customers.
To manage liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors
the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity
structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and other
commitments can meet its funding requirements from time
to time.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and most of the
revenue and transactions arising from its operations were
mainly settled in Hong Kong dollar, and the Group’s assets
and liabilities are primarily denominated in Hong Kong
dollar.

The Group also has operations in the PRC and is exposed
to currency risk primarily through its principal activities
which give rise to receivables, payables and cash balances
that are denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency
other than the functional currency of the operations to
which the transactions relate.

The Directors believe that the Group’s risk in foreign
exchange is insignificant and the Group will have
sufficient foreign exchange to meet its foreign exchange
requirements. The Group has not experienced any material
difficulties or effects on its operations or liquidity as a result
of fluctuations in currency exchange rates; and it has not
adopted any currency hedging policy or other hedging
instruments during the Reporting Period. However, the
Group’s management regularly monitors the Group’s
foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign exchange exposure should the need
arise.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The share capital of the Group only comprises of ordinary
shares.

As at 31 March 2025, the Company’s issued share
capital was HK$11,520,000 (as at 31 March 2024:
HK$9,600,000) and the number of its issued ordinary
shares was 115,200,000 of HK$0.1 each (as at 31 March
2024: 96,000,000 of HK$0.1 each).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED
COMPANIES

Save as disclosed in this report, during the Reporting
Period, there were no significant investments held,
nor were there any material acquisitions or disposal of
subsidiaries and associated companies made by the
Group during the Reporting Period and up to the date of
this report.

Change in ownership interest in a subsidiary without
a change of control and guaranteed revenue

During the Reporting Period, the Group further entered into
an agreement and supplemental agreement with the non-
controlling interest, pursuant to which, the Group acquired
(the “Pure Luck Acquisition”) (i) the remaining 49% equity
interests of Pure Luck, from the non-controlling interest;
and (i) assumed the outstanding indebtedness due
from the noncontrolling interest for a cash consideration
of HK$5,000,000. Upon completion of the Pure Luck
Acquisition on 3 May 2024, Pure Luck became a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEET R

Under the terms of the sale and purchase agreement, the
vendor conditionally agreed that if the actual revenue of the
e-commerce live streaming business (“Actual Revenue”)
is less than the guaranteed revenue of HK$13,000,000
(“Guaranteed Revenue”) for the Reporting Period
(“Guaranteed Period”), the vendor shall compensate the
Company in the amount calculated based on the following:

Compensation Amount = (HK$13,000,000 — Actual
Revenue) X 49%

In respect of the Guaranteed Period, based on the
information made available to the Board, the Actual
Revenue had exceeded HK$13,000,000. In this regard,
the Guaranteed Revenue would have been fulfiled upon
confirmation with the audited figures of the Pure Luck
Group for the year ended 31 March 2025.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

The Group had no material capital commitment as at 31
March 2025 and 2024.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31
March 2025 and 2024.

LITIGATIONS

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had no material pending
litigation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had 174 full-
time employees (as at 31 March 2024: 158 full-time
employees).

The remuneration policy and packages of the Group’s
employees are periodically reviewed. Apart from mandatory
provident fund and in-house training programmes, salary
increment and discretionary bonuses may be awarded
to employees according to the assessment of individual
performance. The total remuneration cost incurred by
the Group for the Reporting Period was approximately
HK$93,663,000 as compared to approximately
HK$76,587,000 for YR2024.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group places an emphasis on environmental
protection when undertaking its projects. The Group was
awarded the ISO 14001:2015 (environmental management
system). During the Reporting Period, the ISO 14001:2015
certificate was valid from 24 March 2021 to 29 April
2027. When preparing the tender documents, the Group
will take into consideration the environmental protection
requirements of potential customers as well as the
relevant laws and regulations in relation to environmental
protection. The Group’s safety officers are responsible for
ensuring that the Group satisfies the applicable laws and
regulations requirements and identifying and reporting on
environmental issues to our project management team.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEET R

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the
Company’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong and the PRC
while the Company itself is a holding company. Our
operations accordingly shall comply with the relevant laws
and regulations in Hong Kong and the PRC. During the
Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, there
is no material non-compliance with the relevant prevailing
laws and regulations by the Group.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group did not have other plans for material
investments and capital assets up to the date of this
report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company had complied with all applicable code
provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code
(the “Code”) contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules
during the Reporting Period.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING
DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as
its code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the
Directors. All Directors have confirmed, following a specific
enquiry by the Company, that they have complied with the
required standard as set out in the Model Code throughout
the Reporting Period.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Bai Huawei (HER]), aged 45, has over 20 years
of experience in securities trading, enterprise listing,
investment, financing and fund management and also
has extensive professional experience in the energy field
during his past cooperation with central state-owned
enterprises in China. He has been a managing director of
Xinglin Investment (Hong Kong) Limited since December
2015, a representative for type 1 (dealing in securities)
regulated activities under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong, the
“SFO”) (“Type 1”) of Shun Loong Securities Company
Limited since May 2020 and a representative for type 9
(asset management) regulated activities under the SFO
(“Type 9”) of Capital Focus Asset Management Limited
since May 2020. Mr. Bai was also a representative for
Type 1 of Emperor Securities Limited from March 2010
to May 2020, a representative for Type 1 of Emperor
Wealth Management Limited from May 2012 to June
2017, a representative for type 2 (dealing in futures
contracts) regulated activities under the SFO of Emperor
Futures Limited from August 2017 to May 2020 and
a representative and responsible officer for Type 9 of
Emperor Asset Management Limited from August 2011
to October 2014 and from October 2014 to June 2017,
respectively. Mr. Bai joined the Company on 7 September
2023.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY

ESRATIMEREREFR

Mr. Wang Yu (EFR), aged 39, is a managing partner at
BRICs (Xiamen) Equity Investment Fund Co., Ltd.* (&
(EFY) BEKEEEHRAE) since December 2018.
Prior to that, Mr. Wang served as post-doctoral analyst
at China Oceanwide Holdings Group Co., Ltd. (FFEZ
EIEREEAREAT) from May 2017 to May 2019 and
chief analyst at Zhuhai ValueHunter Investment Fund
Management Co., Ltd.* GREEHKIERKREETEIER
fR/AT]) from September 2014 to September 2015.

Mr. Wang obtained a bachelor’s degree in finance and
a master’'s degree in management studies from Waikato
University in the New Zealand in June 2009 and August
2011 respectively, and a doctor’s degree in management
from City University of Macau in September 2014. He
was also a postdoctoral fellow in theoretical economics
at Chinese Academy of Social Sciences (Rl &5} &
f) in the People’s Republic of China from May 2017 to
May 2019. Mr. Wang joined the Company since 5 January
2024.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lui Kwok Wai (BE|E), aged 35, was appointed
as the vice president of OCI International Holdings Limited
(REEERERBIRAT) (‘OCI International’), a
company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
329), since November 2020. He is also a director of
various subsidiaries of OCI International and the managing
director and responsible officers of OCI Asset Management
Company Limited, an indirectly wholly owned subsidiary
of the OCI International. He manages SFC Type 1, Type 4
and Type 9 regulated activities and also acts as the overall
management oversight and the manager-in-charge of key
business line functions. Mr. Lui is focusing on company
management, fund investment & capital market area, and
business development.

Mr. Lui has extensive experience in capital market and
corporate finance. He served as the senior vice president
of the leverage & acquisition finance division of Mason
Securities Limited from October 2016 to July 2020. Mr. Lui
was responsible for margin finance, general offer finance,
merge & acquisition projects, asset management, advising
on securities trading and funds investment, as well as
issuance of investment research report.

Mr. Lui also served as non-executive director of China
International Development Corporation Limited, a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 264), from
February 2017 to March 2018.

Mr. Lui obtained a bachelor’s degree of Science in
Engineering (Environmental Engineering) from the University
of California, San Diego in 2013. Mr. Lui joined the
Company since 5 January 2024.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY

ESRATIMEREREFR

Mr. Xu Lin (B¥#), aged 64, had obtained a bachelor’s
degree in law from Xi’an Political Science and
Law University* and a master’s degree in business
administration from Capital University of Economics and
Business in July 1996 and December 2001, respectively.
He gained experience through various positions and has a
solid foundation in economic theory and rich management
experience. Mr. Xu currently serves as an independent
non-executive director of Mei Ah Entertainment Group
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 391), since December 2022 and a non-executive
director of Hao Tian International Construction Investment
Group Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 1341), since October 2020. From September
2021 to January 2023, Mr. Xu worked for Chow Tai
Fook Enterprises Limited as the senior vice president.
Mr. Xu previously also served as a non-executive director
of Yunnan Jinggu Forestry Co., Ltd. (“Yunnan Jinggu
Forestry”), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 600265) from December 2020
to February 2025, a non-executive director of Goldstone
Capital Group Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 1160), from December 2022
to October 2024, the chairman of the board of Yunnan
Jinggu Forestry, from December 2020 to March 2024,
an independent non-executive director of China United
Venture Investment Limited (formerly known as Glory Mark
Hi-Tech (Holdings) Limited), a company listed on GEM
of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 8159) from March
2022 to December 2022, an executive director and the
vice chairman of the board of DTXS Silk Road Investment
Holdings Company Limited, a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 620), from April 2020 to
February 2021, an independent non-executive director
of Lamtex Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1041), from
March 2020 to July 2020, and an executive director of
Zhaobangji Lifestyle Holdings Limited (formerly known as
Zhaobangji Properties Holdings Limited), a company listed
on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1660), from October
2019 to March 2020. Mr. Xu joined the Company since 4
November 2024.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Jiang Senlin (Z#%#F), aged 53, has over 30 years
of experience in financial and investment management. He
has been worked in Beijing Renge Technology Corp. Ltd*
AERCHBERMNDBRAE) (NEEQ Code: 837824,
voluntarily delisted in December 2018) as vice general
manager and chief financial officer from September 2015
to December 2017. He also worked as chief financial
officer (Asia) in Morningstar, Inc. (NASDAQ: MORN) from
August 2009 to September 2015. Mr. Jiang has been
an independent non-executive director of China Ruifeng
Renewable Energy Holdings Limited (FR B3 B 37 AL R 1%
& AEBR/AE]), a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 527), since January 2019, an executive
director of Enviro Energy International Holdings Limited
(“Enviro Energy’) (RSEBIRIZERABERAE), a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1102), since
June 2019, and re-designated to a non-executive director
since 5 July 2024. From January 2018 to March 2025,
Mr. Jiang was the vice-president, chief financial officer and
chief executive officer in Wonderland International Asset
Management Limited (“Wonderland International”) (Z£7&
BR&EEBIEAREAT). From March to June 2022, Mr.
Jiang was a non-executive director of Suoxinda Holdings
Limited (R{FARZRBEAE]), a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 3680).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY

ESRATIMEREREFR

Mr. Jiang qualified as an accountant in the People’s
Public of China in May 1998 and as an intermediate
financial officer conferred by the Ministry of Personnel
People’s Republic of China in November 1997. Mr. Jiang
completed his research program in Art and Culture® (X
) at Sichuan University in July 2000 and obtained his
bachelor’s degree in Accountancy at the Central Institute of
Finance (P REABERIZPT) (now known as the Central
University of Finance and Economics) in June 1993. Mr.
Jiang joined the Company since 7 September 2023.

Mr. Zhang Yi (3R%), aged 44, obtained his bachelor’s
degree in finance management from Xi’an Jiaotong
University in July 2000. Mr. Zhang passed the SAC
Securities Industry Professional Level Evaluation Test*
(SACEE HTEEE ABKFFEAIE) by the Securities
Association of China* (FEIzE 21 E) on “securities
trading™ (F&#5325), “securities investment analysis™ (58
HH/RE D) and “fundamental knowledge in securities
market”™ (3825 i E M A #)in June 2012. He had
also passed the AMAC Fund Practitioner Qualification
Examination* (AMACE S % ABEREH) by Asset
Management Association of China* (FEZEHKRE
HEE ¥ ®) on “fundamental knowledge in security
investment funds™ (FEHKREEEEMTH) and “laws
and regulations, professional ethics and business practices
of funds™ (B A AR BEBREEBEFE), in
December 2016. In addition, Mr. Zhang has also been the
general manager in Shenzhen Jingshi Culture Media Co.,
Ltd.* CRINT RBXIEEEBRRQE) (formerly named
as Shenzhen Sanzhi Mingxiang Cultural Media Co., Ltd*
(RN =ZEEXEEEARAT)) since September
2015. Mr. Zhang joined the Company since 7 September
2023.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Dan Xi ({BB&), aged 35, obtained a bachelor’s
degrees in laws and French from Wuhan University and
a master’s degree in laws from The Chinese University
of Hong Kong in June 2012 and November 2013,
respectively. She obtained her practicing license as a
full-time lawyer issued by The Department of Justice,
Guangdong in June 2015.

Ms. Dan has been an independent non-executive director
of WellCell Holdings Co. Limited, a company listed
on the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 2477), since 22
November 2024. Ms. Dan joined Beijing Dacheng Law
Offices, LLP (Shenzhen) (“Beijing Dacheng”) in June
2013 and is currently a deputy director of the dispute
resolution department and a senior partner of Beijing
Dacheng since 2022 and June 2024, respectively. She
also has been serving as the secretary general of The
Appeals and Reconsideration Professional Committee*
(R BBEEXZEZE ) of the Guangdong Lawyers
Association since December 2023 and arbitrator of
Shanwei Arbitration Commission ClIER#Z%E &2 €) since
August 2024. From January 2023 to March 2024, Ms.
Dan served as an independent non-executive director of
Ruihe Data Technology Holdings Limited (formerly known
as Suoxinda Holdings Limited), a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 3680) during the period
from January 2023 to March 2024. From January 2021
to January 2023, she was also a commercial mediator
in Shenzhen Pingshan District Commercial Mediation
Center* CRYITIF & EFHHEMKD . Ms. Dan joined the
Company since 4 November 2024.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Wong Kit Ying (Ei£%) joined the Company in
January 2017. She currently serves as the company
secretary and financial controller. She holds a bachelor of
accounting degree in the Edinburgh Napier University and
is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Wong
worked in Sheen Tai Holdings Group Company Limited, a
company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1335) as a finance manager and several
accounting firms. Ms. Wong has over 14 years of extensive
experience in the field of accounting, auditing and financial
management.

ESRATIMENEEFR

HEZLL 35 N _E—_—FE~BAKZ
—=—F+— B2 EBSRERBEB R LD
BTEMAUREARPXAREELEZBTE[M R
RN_E—AF AN ESEREBZEEZEN
RETBZESE o

Bzt _MNE+—BZ+ZHIEEEE
REIMZTERBERAD (—ERBIA LT
NE BB 2477) 2 BAUERTES o
BLITHR _E—=ZFAMAILRKMN CF
) EEMEFHER (TIERAK) TBE-2 -2
RZE_WENBED AR KK F R
ARBEIETEREBREBA-BITIBEZZST =
+ ZREETERSEMBERFTEEEE
ZEEMERREZZE_NENBEEMLL
BERHEEZEg2HHEE - BEE-_=ZF—8&F
TETNE=ZR - BRITEERMEAEREIT
BRERRE (FIBREAERERAR  —M
REZEmzRAE RMHMATR : 3680) 28
YIERTEE BEE - F—BEZZT=
FE—B FhAFRIHTTFLERERERZHE
¥ FAmE-BXTE T _NE+—HAUBAE
MAXAT e

NEHWE

BREUIN _Z—tF-—BMAXRE KER
EQTWE&H@L%?@%Oﬁ?—_rﬁﬁj—ﬁilaﬂﬁﬂﬁj(
=l D-I—ﬂiiﬂitfl)i%f&/% D‘I’Eﬂi@gZEEob_\
MAXRREF BEXLTERIERZEREBRFRA
B (—ERBMXMAER LM ZAT (BRH AR :
1335)) TFEEEM‘%%@EEZB?%F'sﬁ%%ﬁﬂﬁ%i‘%ﬁﬁl
FemRINEs Bt RUBEEFEESE14
FHE T ES o

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited HE&EEZRERAR
Annual Report 2024/25 —F¥=mM " HEFEHR

41



42

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEERERS

The Board of Directors of Wan Kei Group Holdings
Limited and its subsidiaries is committed to achieving
and maintaining the highest standard of corporate
governance. The Board believes that a good corporate
governance standard will provide a framework for the
Group to formulate the business strategies and policies,
and manage the associated risk through effective internal
control procedures. It will also enhance the transparency
of the Group and strengthen its accountability to the
Shareholders of the Company.

The Company has complied with all the applicable
principles and code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules (the “Code”) during the Reporting Period.

The Group commits to continuously improving its
corporate governance practices by periodic review to
ensure that the Group continues to meet the requirements
of the Code.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The key corporate governance practices of the Group are
summarised as follows:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises two
executive Directors, two non-executive Directors, and three
independent non-executive Directors.

Executive Directors

Mr. Bai Huawei
Mr. Wang Yu

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Xu Lin (Chairman)
Mr. Lui Kwok Wai

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Jiang Senlin

Mr. Zhang Yi
Ms. Dan Xi
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Each of Mr. Xu Lin and Ms. Dan Xi had confirmed that he/
she () obtained the legal advice referred to under Rule
3.09D of the Listing Rules on 4 November 2024 (being the
date of his/her appointment) and (i) understood his/her
obligations as a director of a listed issuer under the Listing
Rules.

The Company has complied with rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A
of the Listing Rules during the Reporting Period. There
are currently three independent non-executive Directors in
the Board and the number of independent non-executive
Directors represents more than one-third of the Board.
As such, there exists a strong independent element in
the Board, which can effectively exercise independent
judgement, take the lead where potential conflicts of
interest arise, and serve as an effective mechanism to
ensure that independent views and input are available
to the Board, and scrutinize the Group’s performance
in achieving agreed corporate goals and objectives and
monitor performance reporting. The Company has also
complied with rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules which
stipulates that one of the independent non-executive
Directors must possess appropriate professional
qualification or accounting or related financial management
expertise. In compliance with the Code, the independent
non-executive Directors expressly identified as such in all
corporate communications that disclosed the name of the
Directors.

As at 31 March 2025, the Company has two non-executive
Directors, being Mr. Xu Lin and Mr. Lui Kwok Wai, with
a term of 2 years commencing from 4 November 2024
for Mr. Xu Lin, and a term of 2 years commencing from
5 January 2024 for Mr. Lui Kwok Wai.

As at 31 March 2025, the Company has three independent
non-executive directors, being Mr. Jiang Senlin, Mr. Zhang
Yi and Ms. Dan Xi, with a term of 2 years commencing
from 7 September 2023 for both Mr. Jiang Senlin and
Mr. Zhang Yi and a terms of 2 years commencing from 4
November 2024 for Ms. Dan Xi.
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Each of the non-executive Directors and the independent
non-executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for a specific term of two years which
can be terminated by not less than three months’ notice
in writing served by either party on the other and they
are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
the annual general meeting of the Company (‘AGM”) in
accordance with the articles of association of the Company
(“Articles”).

At each AGM, one-third of the Directors are required to
retire from office. Each Director shall retire from office once
every three years. The Directors to be retired in every year
shall be those appointed by the Board during the year
and those who have been longest in office since their last
election or re-election. Mr. Bai Huawei, Mr. Zhang Yi and
Mr. Jiang Senlin will retire from office as Directors at the
forthcoming AGM and will offer themselves for re-election
pursuant to Article 108 of the Articles.

New Director appointed by the Board during the year shall
retire and submit themselves for re-election at the AGM
immediately following their appointments. Mr. Xu Lin and
Ms. Dan Xi will retire from office as Director at the forth
coming AGM of the Company, being eligible, will offer
himself/herself for re-election pursuant to Article 112 of the
Articles.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM has a service contract with the Company which
is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation other than statutory
compensation.

The Company has received from each of its independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of its
independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Group considers all independent non-executive
Directors to be independent under the Listing Rules.

There are no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship among the members of the Board.
The biographical details of each of the Directors are set out
in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and
Company Secretary” of this report.
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BOARD AND GENERAL MEETING

The Board meets regularly and,

in addition to regular

ESTRRRAT

EZgEHEHT

ZomkEA g TERY

meetings, it meets as and when warranted by particular HREREERAHEZR NGB LT
circumstances. During the Reporting Period, 11 board M REEEER - EFHEESTETERMR
meetings were held. The Directors’ attendance of the RAEHXREETOT .
Board meetings and general meeting are set out as
follows:
Attendance/ Attendance/
Number of Number of
general Board meetings
meeting during during the
the Reporting Reporting
Period Period
AR EHAR MREREHIRE
RRERAEH sERggasn
HERS HERS
EERE EERY
Executive Directors HiTES
Mr. Yan Shuai (retired on 19 August 2024) BENEE (P2 - HEF
NA+HBEED 2/2 4/5
Mr. Bai Huawei HERTE 3/3 11/11
Mr. Wang Yu FrRSsE 3/3 11/11
Non-executive Directors JEMITESE
Mr. Zhang Zhenyi SRIRERSLE (MW
(retired on 19 August 2024) NB+HHEEMD 2/2 5/5
Mr. Chui Kwong Kau EXRAE (WMZZEIWE
(resigned on 4 November 2024) +—BEH&T) 2/2 7/7
Mr. Lui Kwok Wai = B B e 2/3 8/11
Mr. Xu Lin (appointed on 4 November 2024)  =F#ksed (R _IU4F
+—AMNBEZE) 1/1 4/4
Independent Non-executive Directors BIAIEHITES
Mr. Eric, Todd (resigned on 4 November 2024) ZIRiIZ4 4 (R T /N4
+—RA B &) 2/2 5/7
Mr. Jiang Senlin E/RMAEE 3/3 11/11
Mr. Zhang Vi sRESLE 3/3 11/11
Ms. Dan Xi (appointed on 4 November 2024) Bz 1 (R _Z Y&
+— B HEZT) 1/1 4/4
During the Reporting Period, Mr. Xu Lin, the Chairman RNEREHAM  EF T ETFEFMEELRBIIIEHR
of the Board, held 1 meeting with the independent TEERT—XRGgH HMESREFE-

non-executive Directors, without the presence of other

Directors.
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BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES AND
DELEGATION

The Board is responsible to the Shareholders for leadership
and control of the Group and be collectively responsible
for promoting the success of the Group by directing
and supervising the Group’s affairs. The Board focuses
on formulating the Group’s overall strategies, approving
the annual development plan and budget; monitoring
financial and operating performance; reviewing the
effectiveness of the internal control and risk management
system and supervising and managing the management’s
performance.

Regarding the Group’s corporate governance, during the
Reporting Period, the Board has performed the following
duties in accordance with the terms of reference:

° developed and reviewed the policies and practices
on corporate governance of the Group and make
recommendations;

o reviewed and monitored the training and continuous

professional development of the Directors and
senior management;

o reviewed and monitored the Group’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

° developed, reviewed and monitored the code of
conduct applicable to Directors and employees; and

° reviewed the Company’s compliance with the Code
and disclosure in this corporate governance report.

The Board delegates the day-to-day management,
administration and operation of the Group to the
management. The delegated functions are reviewed by the
Board periodically to ensure they remain appropriate to the
needs of the Group. The Board gives clear directions to
the management as to the matters that must be approved
by the Board before decisions are made on behalf of the
Group by the management. In addition, the Board has also
delegated various responsibilities to the board committees
of the Company (the “Board Committee”).
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EEERERS

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Under code provision C.2.1 of the Code, the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer should be
separated and should not be performed by the same
individual. Mr. Xu Lin, the Chairman of the Board, is
responsible for providing strategic advice and guidance
for the development of the Group, leading the Board
and guaranteeing effective operation of the Board in
accordance with sound corporate governance practice
and procedures, as well as advocating an open and active
discussing culture to promote the Directors to effectively
contribute to the Board. The Company has not appointed
the chief executive officer during the Reporting Period.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of
conduct of the Company regarding directors’ transactions
of the listed securities of the Company.

The Company has made specific enquiry to all Directors,
and all Directors confirmed that they have complied with
the Model Code and its code of conduct during the
Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
PROGRAMME

All Directors confirmed that they have complied with
code provision C.1.1 of the Code during the Reporting
Period that all Directors have participated in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The Company has arranged an in-
house training on the Listing Rules in the form of a seminar
during the Reporting Period conducted by the legal advisor
as to Hong Kong laws and relevant training materials were
distributed to all the Directors. All Directors attended the
in-house training and perused the training materials. The
training covered topics including the Code, listed company
regulations and disclosure obligations in Hong Kong,
disclosable transactions and connected transactions, etc.
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The Company has also arranged newly appointed Directors
to receive a comprehensive, formal and tailored induction
on appointment.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the (i) audit committee (the
“‘Audit Committee”), (i) remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”), (iii) the nomination
committee (the “Nomination Committee”) and (iv) the
investment committee (the “Investment Committee”)
with defined terms of reference. The terms of reference
of each of the Board Committees, which explain their
respective roles and authority delegated to them by the
Board, are available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange. The Board Committees are provided
with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and
upon reasonable requests, are able to seek independent
professional advice and other assistance under appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Audit Committee on 9
May 2015 with written terms of reference in compliance
with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and paragraph D.3 of
the Code. The Audit Committee currently consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Jiang
Senlin, Mr. Zhang Yi and Ms. Dan Xi with Mr. Jiang Senlin
being the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are, inter alia,
to assist the Board in providing an independent view of
the effectiveness of the financial reporting system, internal
control procedures and risk management control systems,
to oversee the audit process and to perform other duties
and responsibilities as assigned by the Board. During
the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee has reviewed
with the management on the Group’s unaudited interim
results, audited annual results, the consolidated financial
statements and this report.
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EEERERS

During the Reporting Period, 3 meetings were held by the
Audit Committee. The attendance record of each member
of the Audit Committee is set out below:

REESHE BREECERTIRNEE-F
REEEENENHFECHIHEIINT :

Attendance/
Number of
meetings during
the Reporting

Name of committee members Period

R HARE R

HERSE

EEEREHSR RN

Mr. Jiang Senlin (Chairman) EH/MEE (F/E) 3/3
Mr. Eric, Todd (resigned on 4 November 2024) EIRELE

(MZE_OEFE+—FEE#T) 2/2

Mr. Zhang Yi RE L 3/3

Ms. Dan Xi (appointed on 4 November 2024) BBzt
(RZE_NF+—FMOBEEEE) 1/1

There had been no disagreement between the Board and
the Audit Committee during the Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period, members of the Audit
Committee had performed the following duties under the
terms of reference:

Relationship with the Company’s auditor

(@) to be primarily responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor,
and to approve the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor, and any
questions of its resignation or dismissal;

(b) to review and monitor the external auditor’s
independence and objectivity and the effectiveness
of the audit process in accordance with applicable
standards. The audit committee should discuss with
the auditor the nature and scope of the audit and
reporting obligations before the audit commences;
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to develop and implement policy on engaging
an external auditor to supply non-audit services.
For this purpose, “external auditor’ includes any
entity that is under common control, ownership or
management with the audit firm or any entity that
a reasonable and informed third party knowing all
relevant information would reasonably conclude to
be part of the audit firm nationally or internationally.
The audit committee should report to the Board,
identifying and making recommendations on any
matters where action or improvement is needed;

Review of the Company’s financial information

(@

to monitor integrity of the issuer’s financial
statements and annual report and accounts, half-
year report and, if prepared for publication, quarterly
reports, and to review significant financial reporting
judgements contained in them. In reviewing these
reports before submission to the Board, the
committee should focus particularly on:—

(i) any changes in accounting policies and
practices;

(ii) major judgmental areas;
(i) significant adjustments resulting from audit;

(iv) the going concern assumptions and any
qualifications;

(V) compliance with accounting standards; and

(Vi) compliance with the Listing Rules and legal
requirements in relation to financial reporting;
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(e) Regarding (d) above:-

(i) members of the committee should liaise with
the Board and senior management and the
committee must meet, at least twice a year,
with the issuer’s auditor; and

(i) the committee should consider any
significant or unusual items that are, or
may need to be, reflected in the report and
accounts, it should give due consideration
to any matters that have been raised by the
issuer’s staff responsible for the accounting
and financial reporting function, compliance
officer or auditor.

Oversight of the issuer’s financial reporting system,
risk management and internal control systems

() to review the issuer’s financial controls, and unless
expressly addressed by a separate board risk
committee, or by the board itself, to review the
issuer’s risk management and internal control
systems;

(e); to discuss the risk management and internal
control systems with management to ensure that
management has performed its duty to have
effective systems. This discussion should include
the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the
issuer’s accounting and financial reporting function;

(h) to consider major investigation findings on risk
management and internal control matters as
delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and
management’s response to these findings;

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZE&EBZERERAR
Annual Report 2024/25 —8=M /“HFFiR

() BMLEMAIEMES : —

iy ZEEHNEREEFTTRERE
BAEWKK - ZEGREDLEF
MREZTANZBABRES
AN

(i) ZEEREENRESRERBEFMR
REREGPISERR R BRBIER E K EL
TEEFER IUREEZEEM
HETABTHNSS RMBHRR
BE BERTEAZBMELY
ESCR

BEERTAMBREIE - BREERNEEEE
R

() BHBTANPHFEE UKk (KRIEA
SRNEFEETAREZETNESTT
A HERIE) B ETANRRERE
A EREEE R

(9 BREEENREREERNSEEZER
MoOEREEECBRTREZILANY
A -NMANRREEETATES R
MEBEHRBBESTENER - BETEER
KERAREH UABIRERERE
BERERRE;

(hy EEFENZRIETH REMERE
BErRBEESEENEZFAEERKE
EEHNZSHAEERNEIEETHE



(o)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

to review the group’s financial and accounting
policies and practices;

to review the external auditor’'s management
letter, any material queries raised by the auditor to
management about accounting records, financial
accounts or systems of control and management’s
response;

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely
response to the issues raised in the external
auditor’s management letter;

to report to the Board on the matters in the terms of
reference;

to consider other topics, as defined by the Board;

to review arrangements employees of the issuer can
use, in confidence, to raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or
other matters. The audit committee should ensure
that proper arrangements are in place for fair and
independent investigation of these matters and for
appropriate follow-up action; and

to act as the key representative body for overseeing
the issuer’s relations with the external auditor.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Remuneration
Committee on 9 May 2015. As at the date of this report,
the Remuneration Committee comprises an executive
Director, namely Mr. Bai Huawei and two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Jiang Senlin and Mr. Zhang

Yi.

Mr. Zhang Yi is the chairman of the Remuneration

Committee.
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The written terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee adopted by the Board are in line with the Code
and are available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration
Committee include making recommendations to the Board
on the Group’s policy and structure for the remuneration
of all Directors and senior management, reviewing and
approving the management’s remuneration proposals
with reference to the corporate goals and objectives of
the Board from time to time. The Board as a whole has
determined the remuneration policy and packages of the
Directors. No individual Director was allowed to be involved
in deciding his/her own remuneration.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ emoluments are determined with reference
to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance
and the results of the Group. In addition, the Directors’
remuneration is reviewed by the Remuneration Committee
of the Company annually. Details of the Directors’
remuneration are set out in the consolidated financial
statements of this report.

REMUNERATION OF THE SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

During the Reporting Period, the remuneration of senior
management is listed as below by band:

Band of remuneration (HK$)

EFERMNFNEECEERELRAST
Al - ERAREREIXANEIETHS
S

FMEEEN T ERSEENEIEREESE
EhEREEBEAENFHFHRERRBAES
EFLERER URBEFEFAKNRTE
BRFEBTREHEEENFMER -EF
EERRAEEFHNHFNERRENTBE I E
B EFEESEREEBIHM -

ES

EEMNERBEESNRDT SERKREURSE
EENEEETE I EFHFMBERTFH
MESESFER - EFFHMNFBHNER
HERAaMBHRER-

=RERASHM

RBREHE sREEASNHFMEE RSN
T

No. of person

#FHNEEE (BT) A
Below HK$1,000,000 1,000,000 7T T -
HK$1,000,000 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,000 75 £ 1,500,0007 7T -
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T £2,000,0007# 7T -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7 75 £2,500,00074 7T 5

Further details of the remuneration of the Directors and the
5 highest paid employees required to be disclosed under
Appendix D2 to the Listing Rules have been set out in the
consolidated financial statements of this report.
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During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee
held 3 meetings to review the Group’s remuneration policy
and approved the terms of executive Directors’ service
contracts. The committee members’ attendance of the
Remuneration Committee is set out as follow:

EXERRS

REBEESHB FMEETETTIREE XU
ERTAEBRFNERAMERTESTRB S
MR- EEERELEEE S ER
BREHMT -

Attendance/
Number of
meetings during
the Reporting

Period
H R & HARE R
HERE
BERH
Mr. Zhang Yi (Chairman) REBELRE (£/E) 3/3
Mr. Jiang Senlin EZ/MESE 3/3
Mr. Yan Shuai (retired on 19 August 2024) &R B 5T &

(RZEZMENB+HALEHEME 11

Mr. Bai Huawei (appointed as the member of the HERLE

Remuneration Committee on 19 August 2024) (BWZ=EEZmMENB+ANH

EZAAFHNEZEGHE) 2/2

During the Reporting Period, members of the
Remuneration Committee had performed the following
duties under the terms of reference:

o assessed the performance of executive Directors
and consulted the Chairman of the Board and the
Chief Executive Officer about their remuneration
proposals for other executive Directors;

° made recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’ and
senior management remuneration;

° reviewed and approved the management’s
remuneration proposals with reference to the
Board’s corporate goals and objectives;

° made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management;
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° made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of non-executive Directors;

° considered salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities and
employment conditions elsewhere in the Company
and its subsidiaries;

° ensured that no Director or any of his/her associates
is involved in deciding his/her own remuneration;
and

° reviewed and approved compensation payable to

executive Directors and senior management for
any loss or termination of office or appointment to
ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms
and is otherwise fair and not excessive.

° reviewed and approved compensation
arrangements relating to dismissal or removal of
Directors for misconduct to ensure that they are
consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise
reasonable and appropriate;

° reviewed and/or approved matters relating to share
schemes under Chapter 17 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”); and

° conformed to any requirement, direction, and
regulation that may from time to time be contained
in the memorandum and articles of association of
the Company or imposed by the Listing Rules or
applicable law.

No material matters relating to share schemes (as defined
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules) were required to
be reviewed or approved by the Remuneration Committee
during the Reporting Period.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a Nomination Committee on 9
May 2015. As at the date of this report, the Nomination
Committee comprises an executive Director, namely Mr.
Bai Huawei, and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Jiang Senlin and Mr. Zhang Yi. Mr. Jiang Senlin
is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The written terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee adopted by the Board are in line with the Code
and are available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee are to
review the structure, size, diversity and competition of the
Board, assess the independence of independent non-
executive Directors and make recommendations to the
Board on matters relating to the appointment of Directors.

Nomination Policy

The director nomination policy sets out the approach
and procedures the Board adopts for the nomination
and selection of Directors including the appointment of
additional directors, replacement of directors, and re-
election of directors. The selection criteria in assessing the
suitability of potential candidates includes, but not limited
to, their professionalism and personal ethics, reputation
for integrity, character and integrity, board experience,
expertise, time commitment, measurable objectives
set out in the board diversity policy. The Nomination
Committee may use any process it considers appropriate
for evaluating and shortlisting candidates, which may
include, personal interviews, background checks, written
submission by the candidates and third party references.
The selection process for each of their appointments shall
be evaluated using a substantially similar process and shall
be fair and transparent.
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During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee RESHBE REEZEEGRTT2REH U
held 2 meetings to review the Group’s nomination policy. EBERAEEHRELABR - RREZESTHERES
The committee members’ attendance of the Nomination EEEENBREIAOT :
Committee is set out as follow:
Attendance/
Number of

meetings during
the Reporting

Period

g =y
HExRE
BERH

Mr. Jiang Senlin (Chairman) EHxMEE (F/E) 2/2

Mr. Zhang Vi REFERLE 2/2

Mr. Yan Shuai (retired on 19 August 2024) BB 5T 4

(RMZZ2_mOENA+NLHERE) 1/1

Mr. Bai Huawei (appointed as the member of the BERTE

Nomination Committee on 19 August 2024) (RZZE2ZHFENB+ANHAH
BEZTARLEZEERE) 1/1

During the Reporting Period, members of the Nomination RSB EREZE e EBERERERHE

Committee had performed the following duties under the BITUTHE :

terms of reference:

. reviewed the structure, size and composition . SN EESENEBE - RERMEAR (81
(including the skills, knowledge and experience) RE-A#AKERSE »EURABEER
of the Board and made recommendations RENCERBRMBEETSREHNE
on proposed changes (if any) to the Board to BB MESSRHEBER ;
complement the Company'’s corporate strategy;

. reviewed the Company’s Board Diversity Policy and . BMEAABNEESTLTEBEREIR
the progress on achieving the objectives set for MITEMBEMMZEERNER ;
implementing the said policy;

. determined the policy for the nomination of . BEETEENRABEE;

Directors;
. assessed the independence of independent non- . TZBIUERITEENE LN &

executive Directors; and

. made recommendations to the Board on the . NEEFZETHNEFZEURES (TH

appointment or re-appointment of Directors and BEEERITHAER) X280 EHE
succession planning for Directors, in particular the ENEEFRHEBREZ -

Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZE&EBZERERAR
Annual Report 2024/25 —8=M /“HFFiR



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) from the date of Listing up to the
date of this corporate governance report. A summary of
this Board Diversity Policy, together with the measurable
objectives set for implementing this Board Diversity Policy,
and the progress made towards achieving those objectives
are disclosed below.

The Company recognised the benefits of having a diverse
Board to enhance the quality of its performance. The
Board Diversity Policy aims to set out the approach to
achieve diversity on the Board. In designing the Board’s
composition, the Board’s diversity has been considered
from a number of measurable aspects including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of services, all of which the Company considers
to be important to enhance the quality of its performance.
Currently, the Board comprised seven Directors, one
of which was female. In order to cultivate a pipeline of
suitable female successors to the Board, such steps will
include providing existing female senior management
with comprehensive training on areas such as business
operation, management and corporate governance, and
giving due consideration to gender diversity when recruiting
or promoting candidates for senior managerial roles and/
or directorship based on existing nomination and board
diversity policies. All Board appointments will be based
on meritocracy and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regards for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation
of the Board Diversity Policy and recommend any
proposed changes to the Board for approval. The
Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity
Policy on an annual basis to ensure its effectiveness.

At the date of this report, the Board comprises 7 Directors,
members of the Board have a variety of education
backgrounds, including holding bachelor and/or master
degrees in the science, law, financial management as well
as the business administration fields. Most of the members
also possess various finance-related experiences. The
composition of the Board reflects the necessary balance
of skills, professional experience and knowledge for an
effective leadership of the Company.
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The Nomination Committee has reviewed the Board
Diversity Policy to ensure its effectiveness and considered
that the Group achieved the objectives in Board Diversity
Policy during the Reporting Period.

For the gender ratio in the workforce (including senior
management), please refer to the environmental, social
and governance report of the Company for the Reporting
Period.

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Investment Committee
on 2 March 2022. As at the date of this report, the
Investment Committee comprises two executive Directors,
namely Mr. Bai Huawei and Wang Yu and one non-
executive Director, namely Mr. Lui Kwok Wai. Mr. Bai
Huawei is the chairman of the Investment Committee.

The specific written terms of reference of the Investment
Committee were approved and adopted by the Board.

Pursuant to the terms of reference, the primary duties
of the Investment Committee are (a) to study and make
recommendations to the Board in relation to investment
activities, recommendations must be submitted to the
Board for approval; (b) to advise on the investment
policies of the Company; (c) to discuss, formulate views
and advise the Board on asset allocation, selection of
external portfolio investment advisor/fund manager(s)
and gquantum to be invested with collective investment
schemes/fund managers and appointment of custodian(s);
(d) to consider such other topics and matters relating to
financial investments of the Company as may be assigned
by the Board; and (e) to review these terms of reference on
at least an annual basis and recommend any changes it
considers appropriate for the Board’s approval.
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During the Reporting Period, the Investment Committee RESHBE REZEGRITTINREZH K

held 3 meetings. The committee members’ attendance of ELZEENEBHEZEEEZNEREI W
the Investment Committee is set out as follow: S <

Attendance/

Number of

meetings during
the Reporting

Period

AR S EARE

HERS

FHRY

Mr. Bai Huawei (Chairman) BERLE (F) 3/3

Mr. Wang Yu FrRf s 3/3

Mr. Lui Kwok Wai = B & o & 1/3
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge and understand their
responsibility for preparing the consolidated financial
statements and to ensure that the consolidated financial
statements of the Group are prepared in a manner which
reflects the true and fair view of the state of affairs, results
of its operations and cash flows of the Group and are
in compliance with the relevant accounting standards
and principles, applicable laws and disclosure provisions
required of the Listing Rules. The Directors are of the view
that the consolidated financial statements of the Group for
each financial year have been prepared on this basis.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company engaged Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited
as its external auditor for the year ended 31 March
2025. There was no disagreement between the Board
and the Audit Committee on the selection, appointment,
resignation or dismissal of the external auditor. Details of
the fees paid/payable to Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited
during the Reporting Period are as follows:

ESMESHUBRRARENTE

EFHIRTHERSPAEEREGEETMBR
ROTHERFAEERENGEMBREEEM
ATPHMRBREAEEBNEBZ R - HEEXEA
RFEERE BNEHBEEFER KRR B
RZEAU EHRAUEENRER - EFR
A AERERYRFENGEMBREHER
ZEERH
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AABD LR REBELESAMNEHMARLA
RBE_Z_AF=B=+—HILEFEHNI
EZ#M - EFTRBEREEEERE -
E-RHERABRIIEZHMSTEBLIEER D
K- REMERNEN BN RRESZ IS
BRAERARDNERSFBNOT !

HK$

T

Audit services EIZARTS 1,300,000
Non-audit services JEBIZARTS 530,000
1,830,000
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to evaluate and
determine the nature and extent of the risks it is willing
to take in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives,
and to ensure that the Group establishes and maintains
appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems. However, risk-taking is an unavoidable
necessity and an accepted part of the Company’s business
while effective risk management is an integral part to
present competitive advantages and ensure the Company
achieves its strategic and business objectives. The risk
management and internal control systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failing to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but
not absolute assurance against material misstatements or
losses.

Risk Management

Risk management applies to all aspects of the Group’s
business and is a critical component in developing
strategic plans, preparing operational plans and budgets,
approving investment projects and managing project plans.

Risks are evaluated by the Board and management
based on the severity of impact on the Company and the
probability of risk occurring.

Based on the risk evaluation, the Group will manage the
risks as follows:

° Risk elimination: management may identify and
implement certain changes or controls that in effect
eliminate the risk entirely.
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° Risk mitigation: management may implement a risk
mitigation plan designed to reduce the likelihood and/
or severity of impact to an acceptable level.

° Risk acceptance: management may decide that the
risk rating is acceptable for the Company meanwhile
and no action is thus required. However, the risk
would continue to be monitored to ensure the level of
risk does not increase to an unacceptable level.

Controls and Reviews

Policies and procedures are in place to ensure that the
relevant management directives are carried out and actions
that may be needed to address risks are taken. These may
include approvals, verifications, reviews, safeguarding of
assets and segregation of duties.

Control activities can be divided into operations, financial
reporting and compliance, although there may, on
occasion, be some overlaps between them. The typical
control activities adopted by the Group include:

° analytical reviews: such as conducting reviews of
actual performance against prior periods;

o direct functional or activity management: review of
performance reports;

° physical controls: ensuring equipment, inventories
and other assets are safeguarded and subject to
periodic checks; and

° segregation of duties: dividing and segregating duties
among different people, with a view to strengthening
checks and minimizing the risk of errors and abuse.
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Inside Information

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the
handling and dissemination of inside information, the
Group:

o conducts its affairs with high regard to the “Guidelines
on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission;

° closely communicates and seeks advice from its
legal advisor in assessing the likely impact of any
unexpected and significant event that may impact
the price of the Shares or their trading volume,
and to determine whether the relevant information
is considered inside information that needs to be
disclosed as soon as reasonably practicable pursuant
to the SFO and the Listing Rules;

o has included in its Corporate Code of Conduct
a strict prohibition on the unauthorized use of
confidential or inside information; and

° ensures, through its own internal reporting process
and the consideration of their outcome by senior
management, the appropriate handling and
dissemination of inside information.
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Assessing the Effectiveness of Risk Management
and Internal Control Systems

The Board, via the Audit Committee, is responsible for the
review and assessment of the major risks the Group faces
and the review, approval and monitoring of the Group’s
response to such risks annually.

The Audit Committee oversees the risk management
process and reviews the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems by performing
the following procedures:

o Review with management annually those reports on
compliance with the risk management policy;

° Discuss with management annually on the Group’s
major risks and the steps management has taken
since then or should take to address and deal with
such risks; and

° Review the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management practices.

Management is responsible for ensuring the Group’s
business operations being conducted in line with our risk
management policy, taking into consideration changes in
external environment and the Group’s risk tolerance level.

In addition to the Board’s oversight, the Group has
developed a risk management process to identify, evaluate
and manage significant risks and to remediate material
internal control deficiencies (if any). Management, through
the engagement of the independent internal control and
risk advisory team, is responsible for the annual risk
reporting process. The independent internal control and
risk advisory team meets with members of the senior
management to review and assess risks and discuss
remedial measures to address material internal control
deficiencies (if any), including any changes relevant to
a given year. Risks are compiled, ratings assigned and
migration plans documented. The risk assessment is
reviewed by management and presented to the Audit
Committee and the Board for their review.
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The Group has in place effective processes and systems
for the identification, capture and reporting of operational,
financial and compliance-related information in a form
and timeframe intended to ensure that staff carry out their
designated responsibilities.

Risk Management and Internal Control Process

On behalf of the Board, the Audit Committee reviews
annually the continuous effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems dealing with risk
and financial accounting and reporting, the effectiveness
and efficiency of operations, compliance with laws and
regulations, and risk management functions.

The assessment considers:

° the scope and quality of management’s ongoing
monitoring of risks and of the risk management and
internal control systems;

° the extent and frequency with which the results
of monitoring are communicated, enabling the
Committee to build up a cumulative assessment of
the state of control in the Group and the effectiveness
with which risk is being managed;

° the incidence of any significant control failings or
weaknesses that have been identified at any time
during the period and the extent to which they have
resulted in unforeseen outcomes or contingencies
that have had, could have had, or may in the future
have, a material impact on the Group’s financial
performance or condition;

° the effectiveness of the Group’s processes in relation
to financial reporting and statutory and regulatory

compliance;

° areas of risk identified by management;
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° significant risks reported by the independent internal
control and risk advisory team;

° work programs proposed by the independent internal
control and risk advisory team; and

° significant issues arising from internal and external
audit.

As a result of the above review, the Board considers that
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
are effective and adequate and have complied with the
Code Provisions on risk management and internal control
throughout the year and up to the date of this report.

Internal Audit
The Company does not have an internal audit function.

The Group has engaged an independent internal control
and risk advisory team, PKF Consulting (Shanghai) Co.,
Ltd, which has assisted in monitoring the corporate
governance of the Group and providing an objective
assessment to the Board on whether a sound
internal control system is maintained and operated by
management.

The internal control and risk advisory team conducted a
review on a number of corporate governance areas and
business cycles and provided recommendations for the
improvement and strengthening of the internal control
system. No significant control finding or weakness has
been identified by the internal control and risk advisory
team. The Audit Committee reviews the findings and
recommendations of the internal control and risk advisory
team on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control
system and reports to the Board on such reviews.
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Dividend policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy. The
Company may consider declaring and paying dividends to
the Shareholders provided that the Group is profitable and
without affecting the normal operations of the Group. In
determining the declaration of dividends and the dividend
amount, the Board will take into consideration, inter alia,
the following factors:

° the Group’s actual and expected financial
performance;

o the liquidity position and capital requirements of the
Group;

° retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Company and each of the members of the Group;
and

° any other factors that the Board may consider
appropriate.

The declaration and payment of dividend by the Company
are also subject to restrictions under the applicable laws
and the memorandum and articles of association of the
Company.

For the avoidance of doubt, there can be no assurance
that a dividend will be proposed or declared in any specific
period.

The Board would review the Company’s dividend policy
from time to time considering factors including but not
limited to capital investment and business plan.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Wong Kit Ying has been appointed as the Company
Secretary (the “Company Secretary”) since January
2021.

The Company Secretary reports directly to the Board. All
Directors have easy access to the Company Secretary
and the responsibility of the Company Secretary is to
ensure the Board meetings are properly held and are in
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations. The
Company Secretary is also responsible for giving advices
with respect to the Directors’ obligations on securities
interest disclosure, disclosure requirements of disclosable
transactions, connected transactions and inside
information.

The Company Secretary, Ms. Wong Kit Ying, had taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during
the Reporting Period.

GENERAL MEETINGS WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

For each general meeting:

- separate resolutions are proposed at the general
meeting for each substantial issue, including the
election of individual Directors;

- the chairman of the general meetings of the
Company explains the procedures for conducting a
poll before putting a resolution to vote; and

- the results of the voting by poll are then published
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.
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The AGM is a forum in which the Board and the
Shareholders could communicate directly and exchange
views concerning the affairs and overall performance of
the Group, and its future developments, etc. At the AGM,
the Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) are available to attend to questions raised by the
Shareholders. The external auditor of the Company is also
invited to be present at the AGM to address to queries of
the Shareholders concerning the audit procedures and the
auditor’s report.

The next AGM of the Company will be held within 2025,
the notice of which shall be sent to the Shareholders at
least 20 clear business days prior to the meeting.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Convening General Meetings by
Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles, the Board may
whenever it thinks fit call extraordinary general meetings.

Extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened on
the requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, at the
date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth of
the paid-up capital of the Company having the right to vote
at general meetings.

Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board
or the Company Secretary by mail at Unit No. 07, 16th
Floor, Emperor Group Centre, No. 288 Hennessy Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong for the purpose of requiring an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. Such meeting shall be held within 2 months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of
such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.
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Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meeting

Shareholders are requested to follow Article 64 of the
Articles for including a resolution at an extraordinary
general meeting. The requirements and procedures are
set out above in the paragraph headed “Procedures for
Convening General Meetings by Shareholders”.

Pursuant to Article 113 of the Articles, no person (other
than a retiring Director) shall be eligible for election to the
office of Director at any general meeting unless a notice in
writing of the intention to propose that person for election
as a Director and notice in writing by that person of his
willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the
head office or at the branch share registrar set out in the
section headed “Corporation Information” no earlier than
the day after the dispatch of the notice of the general
meeting for such election and no later than 7 days prior to
the date of such general meeting and the minimum length
of the period during which such notices to the Company
may be given will be at least 7 days.

Procedures by which Enquiries may be Put to the
Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns
to the Board by addressing them to the Company
Secretary by post to the principal place of business in
Hong Kong set out in the section headed “Corporation
Information” by fax at +852 3793 3530 or by email at
info@1718hk.com. The Company Secretary is responsible
for forwarding communications relating to matters within
the Board’s direct responsibilities to the Board and
communications relating to ordinary business matters,
such as suggestions and inquiries, to the Chairman of the
Board.
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Investor Relations

To ensure transparent and comprehensive disclosures
to investors, the Group delivers information of the Group
and maintains different communication channels with its
stakeholders and through various channels, including
general meetings, public announcements and financial
reports. The investors are also able to access the latest
news and information of the Group via our website
(www.hkex1718.hk).

In order to maintain good and effective communication, the
Company together with the Board extend their invitation
to all Shareholders and encourage them to attend the
forthcoming AGM and all future general meetings. All
the abovementioned communication channels are part
of the Company’s shareholders’ communication policy.
The shareholders’ communication policy is annually
reviewed by the Board to ensure its implementation and
effectiveness. The Board reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy
deemed the results as satisfactory.

The Shareholders may also forward their enquiries and
suggestions in writing to the Company to the followings:

Address: Unit No. 07, 16/F,
Emperor Group Centre
288 Hennessy Road
Wanchai, Hong Kong

Email: info@1718hk.com

Constitutional Documents

There was no change in the Articles during the Reporting
Period.

CONCLUSION

The Company believes that good corporate governance
could ensure an effective distribution of the resources
and Shareholders’ interests. The senior management
will continue endeavours in maintaining, enhancing and
increasing the Group’s corporate governance level and
quality.
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The Board presents this report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
financial year ended 31 March 2025.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company
with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 7 October
2014. Its registered office and principal place of business
are at Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box 1350,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1108, Cayman Islands and Unit
No. 07, 16/F, Emperor Group Centre, 288 Hennessy Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong, respectively.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and details of the principal activities of its subsidiaries are
set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements in
this report. There was no significant change in the Group’s
principal activities during the Reporting Period.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the Reporting Period
as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) is included in
the section “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this
report. All such discussions form part of this report of the
Directors.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the Reporting
Period by operating segments is set out in the note 4 to
the consolidated financial statements in this report.

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZE&EBZERERAR
Annual Report 2024/25 —8=M /“HFFiR

EFTELREFAREURTEERBEET
ETHFE-RA=Z+-HLEMBREENKEEZ
e BwREe

FEEFRMME

KRNBR _E—NF+AETtHEHEREH
M IIAERENERSE LD - HEMitsE
FEHIHUE R F EE FE# B B AL FAWindward 3,
Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box 1350, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1108, Cayman Islands & & #&
BT EH EFFE288HEEB P 161207 = o

FEXEH

ARBETEEBRAREER MAKRBATMN
TEXEBFFEANEAREG M BRERWE
1T RBRERBE AEENTEXHFEEEKR

28

E LR

RIBEEBEAF622B(RABMEFIIMNERELIR
B AEERKRSHENEFLBRHENARS
WIEEENmRION I —H -FREHERE RS
FAEFEREZ 87

SEPER

REENHE PN EREAEER RS HE X
B MERABREFREHBREM 4 -



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s key risk exposures are summarised as follows:

U

(i)

(i)

(iv)

The Group has a concentrated clientele base. Any
loss for major customers or decrease in the number
of projects with the top 5 customers of the Group
may adversely affect the Group’s operations and
financial results.

The Group’s past revenue and profit margin may not
be an indication of the Group’s future revenue and
profit margin. In particular, the Group’s revenue is
on project basis, which is non-recurrent in nature,
and the Group may achieve lower-than expected
revenue if it fails to maintain continuity of the
Group’s order book for its new projects.

The Group is dependent on its Board members
and senior management staff, the departure of its
staff may adversely affect the Group’s business
operations.

Failure to accurately estimate and control the costs
of the Group’s projects may adversely affect the
Group’s financial performance.

Any delay or default of progress payments or
retention monies by the customers may affect the
Group’s cash flow and may have adverse impact on
the Group’s financial results.

Failure to renew the Group’s current registrations
and licenses may adversely affect the Group’s
business operations. For other risks and
uncertainties facing the Group, please refer to the
section headed “Risks Factors” in the prospectus
of the Company dated 28 July 2015 (the “IPO
Prospectus”).
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RELATIONSHIP WITH CUSTOMERS,
SUPPLIERS, SUBCONTRACTORS AND
EMPLOYEES

The Group’s success also depends on the support from
key stakeholders which comprise employees, customers
and suppliers.

Customers

For foundation construction works, the principal customers
are generally from the main contractors of construction
projects in Hong Kong. For ground investigation services,
the principal customers are generally from the employers of
construction projects in Hong Kong. During the Reporting
Period, the Directors considered that the Group did not rely
on any single customer. The Group also maintains a long-
term relationship with its customers, some of which have
established more than 10 years of working relationship with
the Group.

Suppliers and Subcontractors

During the Reporting Period, the suppliers of goods
and services which were specific to the business of the
Group and were acquired on a regular basis to enable
the Group to continue to carry its business included ()
subcontractors engaged by the Group to perform the site
works; (i) materials and equipment suppliers to supply
materials and equipments used in the site works; and (i)
suppliers of miscellaneous goods and services required
for the Group’s business operations. The Group maintains
multiple suppliers and subcontractors to avoid the over-
reliance on a few suppliers and subcontractors; and did
not experience any material difficulties in sourcing materials
from suppliers and engaging subcontractors during the
Reporting Period. The Group did not have any significant
disputes with any of its suppliers and subcontractors
during the Reporting Period.
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Employees

The Group recognised employees as valuable assets of
the Group. During the Reporting Period, the Group has
complied with the applicable labour laws and regulations
and regularly reviewed the benefits of existing staff for
improvement. The Group intends to use its best effort
to attract and retain appropriate and suitable personnel
to serve the Group. The objective of the Group’s human
resource management is to reward and recognise
performing staff by providing an attractive remuneration
package.

The Group determines the salary of its employees
mainly based on each employee’s qualification, relevant
experience, position and seniority. The Group conducts
annual review on salary increment, bonuses and
promotions based on the performance of each employee.

The Group considers that the Group has maintained
a good relationship with its employees. The Group
has not experienced any strikes, work stoppages or
labour disputes which affected its operations during the
Reporting Period. The Directors also acknowledge that the
management team and the employees have maintained
a good relationship and co-operated well during the
Reporting Period.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in this report. No dividend was paid
or proposed by the Company during the Reporting Period,
nor has any dividend been proposed by the Directors since
the end of the Reporting Period (2024 nil).

These are no arrangements under which a shareholder has
waived or agreed to waive any dividends.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The forthcoming AGM of the Company will be held on
1 September 2025. For the purpose of determining the
entitlement of the Shareholders of the Company to attend
and vote at the AGM, the transfer of books and register of
members of the Company will be closed from 27 August
2025 to 1 September 2025, both days inclusive. During
such period, no share transfer will be effected. In order to
be qualified for attending the forthcoming AGM, all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates,
must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar
in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for
registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on 26 August 2025.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Company and the Group during the Reporting
Period are set out in the note 12 to consolidated financial
statements in this report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the Reporting Period in the
share capital of the Company are set out in note 26(c) to
the consolidated financial statements in this report.
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during
the Reporting Period are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity in this report.

As at 31 March 2025, save for the share premium which
is distributable subject to the conditions and restrictions
stated in note 26(d)(i) to the consolidated financial
statements in this report, the Company did not have any
reserve (31 March 2024: nil) available for distribution as
calculated based on Company’s share premium and capital
reserve and retained profits/accumulated losses under
applicable provisions of the Companies Law in the Cayman
Islands.

GROUP FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for last five financial years is set out on page
240 in this report. This summary does not form part of the
audited consolidated financial statements in this report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY FOR DIRECTORS

Directors’ emoluments are determined with reference
to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance
and the results of the Group. In addition, the Directors’
remuneration is reviewed by the Remuneration Committee
of the Company annually. Details of the Directors’
remuneration are set out in note 8 to the consolidated
financial statements in this report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the written resolutions of the Shareholders on 9
May 2015, the Company adopted a share option scheme
(the “Share Option Scheme”) to attract and retain the
best available personnel, to provide additional incentive to
employees (full-time or part-time), Directors, consultants
or advisors, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents,
customers, business partners or service providers of the
Group and to promote the success of the business of the
Group.
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The total number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme is not
permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company
in issue as the date of approval of the Share Option
Scheme (being 8,000,000 Shares (after adjusting the
effect from share consolidation), without prior approval
from the Shareholders. The number of shares issued and
to be issued in respect of which options granted and
may be granted to any individual in any one year is not
permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any point in time, without prior approval from the
Shareholders. Options granted to substantial Shareholders
or independent non-executive Directors or any of their
respective associates (including a discretionary trust whose
discretionary objects include a substantial Shareholders,
independent non-executive Directors, or any of their
respective associates) in any 12-month period in excess
of 0.1% of the Company’s share capital or with a value in
excess of HK$ 5 million must be approved in advance by
the Shareholders.

Options granted must be taken up within seven days
inclusive of the day on which such offer was made, upon
payment of HK$1 per option. Options may be exercised at
any time during a period as the Directors may determine
which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant.
The exercise price is determined by the Directors, and
will be at least the higher of () the closing price of the
Company’s shares on the date of grant; (i) the average
closing price of the shares for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Company’s share.

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period
of ten years commencing on the date of adoption (i.e. 9
May 2015) and shall expire at the close of business day
immediately preceding the tenth anniversary thereof unless
terminated earlier by the Shareholders in general meeting.
Accordingly, the Share Option Scheme has expired on 9
May 2025.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

No share options were granted since the adoption of the
Share Option Scheme and there are no outstanding share
options at the end of the Reporting Period. Accordingly,
8,000,000 share options are available for grant under the
Share Option Scheme as at 1 April 2024 and 31 March
2025. However, since the Share Option Scheme has
expired as at date of this report, nil Share (representing 0%
of the total issued shares) is available for issue under the
Share Option Scheme. A summary of the principal terms
and conditions of the Share Option Scheme is set out in
Appendix IV to the IPO Prospectus.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted a share award scheme on 30
June 2020 (the “Share Award Scheme”) to recognise
the contributions by participants and to provide them
with incentives in order to retain them for the continual
operation and development of the Group, and to attract
suitable personnel for further development of the Group.
The participants of the Share Award Scheme include ()
employees of any member of the Group, (i) non-executive
directors or proposed non-executive directors (including
independent non-executive directors) of any member of
the Group or any entity in which any member of the Group
holds any equity interest (“Invested Entity”), (i) suppliers
of goods or services to any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity, (iv) customers of the Group or any Invested
Entity, (v) persons or entities that provide or will provide
research, development, consultancy, advisory services or
other technological support to the Group or any Invested
Entity, (vi) shareholders of any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity or holders of any securities issued or
proposed to be issued by any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity, (vii) any other group or class of participants
from time to time determined by the Directors as having
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliances, consultancy, advisory services or other
business arrangements to the development and growth
of the Group, and (vii) any person or entity, who, at the
sole determination of the Directors, has contributed to the
Group. The Board may, from time to time, grant awarded
shares to any participant at no consideration.
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According to the Share Award Scheme, the Board shall
not make any further award of awarded shares which will
result in the nominal value of the Shares awarded by the
Board under the Share Award Scheme exceeding ten per
cent (10%) of the issued share capital of the Company
from time to time. Therefore, the total number of shares in
respect of which awards may be granted under the Share
Award Scheme as at the date of this report is 23,040,000
shares, representing 10% of the issued shares as at the
date of this report. Subject to any early termination as may
be determined by the Board, the Share Award Scheme
shall be valid and effective for a term of ten (10) years
commencing on the adoption date. The remaining life of
the Share Award Scheme is approximately 5 years. The
maximum number of shares which may be awarded to a
selected participant under the Share Award Scheme shall
not exceed one per cent (1%) of the issued share capital of
the Company from time to time.

The Share Award Scheme shall be subject to the
administration of the Board and the trustee, DL Securities
(HK) Limited, in accordance with the rules of the Share
Award Scheme and the terms of the trust deed made
and entered into between the Company and the trustee.
The decision of the Board with respect to any matter
arising under the Share Award Scheme (including the
interpretation of any provision of the Share Award
Scheme) shall be final and binding. The trustee shall hold
the trust fund in accordance with the rules of the Share
Award Scheme and the terms of the trust deed.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Subject to the terms and conditions of the Share Award
Scheme and the fulfilment of all vesting conditions (if
any) on such selected participants as specified in the
Share Award Scheme and the relevant grant notice, the
respective shares awarded to such selected participants
and the related income held by the trustee on behalf
of the selected participants shall vest in such selected
participants in accordance with the vesting schedule as
set out in the grant notice, provided that the selected
participants remain at all times after the award and on the
relevant vesting date(s) a participant of the Group. The
Board may from time to time give written instructions to
the trustee to purchase shares on the Stock Exchange,
specifying the maximum amount of funds to be used and
the range of prices at which such shares to be purchased.
The trustee may not incur more than the maximum amount
of funds or purchase any shares at a price falling outside
the range of prices so specified unless with the prior written
consent of the Board.

No share awards were granted since the adoption of the
Share Award Scheme. A total of 9,600,000 (after adjusting
the effect from share consolidation) share awards as at
1 April 2024, 11,520,000 share awards as at 31 March
2025 and 23,040,000 share awards as at the date of
this report, could be available for grant under the Share
Award Scheme. A summary of the principal terms and
conditions of the Share Award Scheme is set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 30 June 2020. As
at 31 March 2025, the number of share held for the Share
Award Scheme was 3,164,500 shares.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Reporting Period
and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yan Shuai (retired on 19 August 2024)
Mr. Bai Huawei
Mr. Wang Yu

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Zhenyi (retired on 19 August 2024)

Mr. Chui Kwong Kau (resigned on 4 November 2024)
Mr. Lui Kwok Wai

Mr. Xu Lin (appointed on 4 November 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Eric, Todd (resigned on 4 November 2024)
Mr. Jiang Senlin

Mr. Zhang Yi

Ms. Dan Xi (appointed on 4 November 2024)

The Company has received confirmation on independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and all of them
are considered to be independent.

Information regarding Directors’ emoluments is set out
in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements in this
report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

All the independent non-executive Directors and non-
executive Directors have entered into a service contract
with the Company for a fixed term of two years, which
can be terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other.
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BOARD CHANGE AND CHANGES IN

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ERERS

ESTERREFEHED

DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, change in
the information of the Directors since the date of the annual
report for the year ended 31 March 2024 and up to the

R EHRAE13.61B)IFR EFERBE
E_Z_NFE=ZRBR=+—HLEEFEEZFRAH
HEEARESAHURZEZSHHEIWMT ¢

date of this report is set out below:

Name of Director

EEA

Board Change and Changes in Directors’ Information

EETEPREFTENED

Mr. Yan Shuai
EREM ST E

Mr. Zhang Zhenyi
sRIRE T E

Mr. Chui Kwong Kau
BRI E

Mr. Eric, Todd
EIRELE

Mr. Xu Lin
Pt

Ms. Dan Xi
Bt

Mr. Jiang Senlin

ERMAELE

Retired as executive Director with effect from 19 August 2024
R_E_NFENB+NBERERNTES

Retired as non-executive Director with effect from 19 August 2024

R_ZE_MENBTABREFATES

Resigned as non-executive Director with effect from 4 November 2024

R _E_ME+—BMUAREFEATES

Resigned as independent non-executive Director with effect from 4 November 2024
N_E_NE+—ANBAFERIIIFRITES

Appointed as non-executive Director with effect from 4 November 2024

R_ZE_ME+—ANBEZERIFRITES

Resigned as a non-executive director of Yunnan Jinggu Forestry Co., Ltd., a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock code: 600265) on 13 February 2025
N_E_HAF_A+=HRIZEMAMERGBRAE (—BER LERH5XZ
EmZRE BRMASE 1 600265) ZIEHITES

Appointed as independent non-executive Director with effect from 4 November 2024
A _E_NF+—RBNBEZERBIUIFNTES

Re-designated to a non-executive director of Enviro Energy (Stock code: 1102) on 5
July 2024
A ZE_NFTARBRBERIIRE RHOMNSE 1 1102) ZIFRNITESE

Resigned as the vice-president, chief financial officer and chief executive officer of
Wonderland International in March 2025
ATETHFE- AT ESEE AT BETHEE RTHAEE
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Save as disclosed above, there is no other information
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules.

Apart from the foregoing, no Director proposed for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting
has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements in this report, no transaction, arrangement or
contract of significance to which the Group was a party (in
which a Director or an entity connected with a Director had
a material interest whether directly or indirectly) subsisted
at the end of the Reporting Period or any time during the
Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out in the section
“Biographical Details of Directors and Company Secretary”
in this report.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five
highest paid individuals of the Group are set out in notes
8 and 9 to the consolidated financial statements in this
report, respectively.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

As at 31 March 2025, the Company did not enter into
or have any management and administration contracts
in respect of the whole and any principal business of the
Company.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2025, none of the Directors nor Chief
Executive of the Company had any beneficial interests
(including interests or short positions) in the shares of
the Company (the “Shares”), underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) which would
be required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including the interests and short positions which they
are taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions
of the SFO), or which will be required, pursuant to section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
in that section, or will be required, pursuant to the Model
Code in the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
AND OTHERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2025, the following persons (not being
a Director or Chief Executive of the Company) had
interests or short positions in the shares of the Company
or underlying Shares which fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

EFGHRS
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Ms. Su Guifang (“Ms. Su”) Beneficial Owner 11,592,000 10.06%
gEszLT (Hrt) E@EAA
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Other than those disclosed under the paragraphs headed
“Share Option Scheme” and “Directors’ and Chief
Executive Officer’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures”, at no time during the
year ended 31 March 2025 were rights to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures
of the Company or any other body corporate granted to
any Director or their respective close associates, or were
any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company,
its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors to acquire such rights in the Company or any
other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
report, no Directors are considered to have interests in
businesses which compete or are likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group other
than those businesses where the Directors of the Company
were appointed as Directors to represent the interests of
the Company and/or the Group pursuant to the Listing
Rules.

All the independent non-executive Directors are delegated
with the authority to review the non-competition
undertakings (the “Non-competition Undertakings”)
given by Mr. Lau Woon Si (‘Mr. Lau”), Mr. Fong Hon Hung,
Mr. Leung Man Lun Stephen, Suntecli Company Limited
and Samwood Global Limited (collectively the “Former
Substantial Shareholders”) during the Reporting Period.
The Former Substantial Shareholders ceased to have
any interest in the Shares of the Company on 23 July
2024. The independent non-executive Directors were not
aware of any non-compliance of the Non-competition
Undertakings from the beginning of the Reporting Period
up to 23 July 2024.

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZE&EBZERERAR
Annual Report 2024/25 —8=M /“HFFiR

ES AR (0 X AR REF

PRIERES S R TEFRITEBANKNL
HERDREEENED KX B REMKE
BN RBE_ZE_AF=RB=+—HLEFE
NERER BIEEENEFARSZENEER
BMBAEREN JERBALINEMEM
ZERMNAEEEMESN o HETETRE
EEERER , NEARAT HIERAFTHHEAE
ANEBARNERNBEATDHRET LEMER
P REEFTESARTHENEMERRD
B RIER -

ESNRPEEBNER

RBESHBAEEFAREAH BESEEFRE
EFHRUBREAEERACAREALAERES
BRI RAEBARIZES GRAAERSE
RAKR,/ A EBETMEERRABDEER
BEEZEBIN AR -

ERBUFNTEZTESEERIBFTLE
(TRRE) FEBEE BXBEE M
BRNERATDEBFBEIEKARAT (44 A
FTEREKR)) RHESHEBHAHFESE (TF
MBESE) - AITERENR_Z_NOELA
TtH+-HEFABEBEARARG ZEMARE
meEREHMEEE_SE_NEtA_-_+=
B BUERTEETUANBETAERARS
2 R



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Each of the Former Substantial Shareholders
has confirmed that he/it had complied with the
Non-competition Undertakings given by them from the
beginning of the Reporting Period up to 23 July 2024.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of the Group’s purchases and revenue
attributable to major suppliers and customers during the
Reporting Period and 31 March 2024 are as follows:

EFGHRS

FMFERRZEERD BRSPHHEE_Z
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FIKEE ©

FEERREES
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ZR=+—HBFfEAEERBRERBRANS
oW

2025 2024
—E-RE —“ZTAF
Percentage of construction material purchases BB EM N KT DEH
and construction subcontracted: BETEADL:
From the largest supplier RERANHEER 9.72% 15.43%
From the five largest suppliers RERAKMER 38.32% 42.71%
Percentage of revenue: WABDLE :
From the largest customers RERAKER 15.81% 21.97%
From the five largest customers RKEAAEE 51.00% 45.44%

None of the Directors, their close associates or any
Shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors
owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) had any interest in the five largest customers nor
suppliers during the Reporting Period.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
securities during the Reporting Period.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

During the Reporting Period, the Company has arranged
Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance for all Directors
and senior management of the Company. The insurance
covers the corresponding costs, charges, expenses and
liabilities for legal action of corporate activities against
them.

SEF WINETHEARCARS BE
FRABARRTDHTRAES% EH) R
BEMEBEREAS S R ERE PR
I o

fE - HENBERFAFES

RBEHE ZARHEEANERR L ERE
E-HENBEIARTEMZES-

EESFREME

REBREHBE AR ERERBDZERESE
EREREBEERRESFASHRITHRAESHE
o ZRERAERHBRSREREZARAT
EHRERFABEANNES - BER - RAXKRE
o

=
/N
AN

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited HE&EEZRERAR
Annual Report 2024/25 —F¥=mM " HEFEHR

89



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EFGHRS

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
articles or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation
available to Shareholders by reason of their holdings in the
shares.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not enter into
any equity-linked agreements.

DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the charitable donation
amounted to nil (YR2024: nil).

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group had the following
connected transactions:

(i) Lease agreements

Name of suppliers

Term of lease agreements

BikiEiat

ERMANSRAEFRES ZHEERRELER
BIRX  BEXRRBABRARRLLLA R
2HEMRD -

MR R

EXABBRANEEEMERRET A RMDMA
RERBBIRBAE

R R i 89 thh

B3R 45 10 R - A 4 B X 4 AT T 4E R IR 4 8 15

PN

MRS BEBRAS (CEomER !
) o

REXZRAESLRZS

RBREHRE ~EBEUTHERS :

() THEEH=

Monthly rent Annual rent

HERRE TAEW AR B FiHE
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Chung Hang 1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025 60,000 720,000
R “ETUFEMB—HE
—_EHRFE=A=+—H
Chung Wah 1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025 115,000 1,380,000
SSE::: “ETUFEMB—HE
—_EHRFE=A=+—H
2,100,000
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(i)  Other transactions (i) HMxxB
HK$
AT
— Professional fees paid to Etoiles —EEAEINEEXER 750,000
— Acquiisition of the additional interests in — BCheer TrendW B4 EEIR B R A B (T4HE))
Pure Luck International Limited (‘Pure Luck”) ZREIMER
from Cheer Trend 5,000,000
— Acquisition of an intangible asset from Mr. Chong — B it RBER B E 850,000
6,600,000

Chung Hang Enterprises Holdings Limited (“Chung Hang”)
is owned by Mr. Lau as to approximately 94.65%. Mr. Lau
is one of the former controlling Shareholders and a former
executive Director. Mr. Lau is a director of a subsidiary as at
March 2025 and 2024.

Chung Wah Investment Company Limited (‘Chung Wah”)
is owned by Chung Hang and Mr. Lau as to 95.00% and
2.50%, respectively.

Mr. Cheung Kit Shing (“Mr. Cheung”) is a director of a
subsidiary and he resigned on 3 May 2024.

Cheer Trend Limited (“Cheer Trend”) is a non-controlling
interest of a subsidiary wholly-owned by Mr. Cheung until
the completion of the Pure Luck Acquisition (defined herein
below).

Etoiles Consultancy Limited (“Etoiles”) is a related
company owned by Mr. Cheung.

Mr. Chong Ka Yee (“Mr. Chong”) is a director of a
subsidiary.

The lease agreements were entered into on normal
commercial terms and in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group where each of the relevant
percentage ratios calculated for the purpose of Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules is less than 5% and the total
fees payable under lease agreements are less than
HK$3,000,000. Pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules, the lease agreements are fully exempt from the
reporting, annual review, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EFGHRS

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the
related party transactions as disclosed in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements constituted as connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, and the
Company have complied with the disclosure requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the
Reporting Period.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

Save for certain transactions as disclosed in notes 6(a), 23
and 30 to the consolidated financial statements, neither
the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has entered into
any contract of significance with a controlling Shareholder
or any of its subsidiaries, nor any contract of significance
for the provision of services to the Company or any of
its subsidiaries by a controlling Shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries during the Reporting Period.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has retained the prescribed public float of at
least 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital as at
the date of this report pursuant to the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited (“HLB”) has resigned
as the auditors of the Company with effect from 10 April
2024. Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited has been appointed
as the auditors of the Company by way of passing an
ordinary resolution at the extraordinary general meeting
held 10 April 2024 to fill the casual vacancy following the
resignation of HLB and to hold office until conclusion of the
forthcoming AGM.

The consolidated financial statements for the years ended
31 March 2023 and 2022 had been audited by HLB
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The consolidated financial statements for the years ended
31 March 2025 and 2024 have been audited by Ascenda
Cachet CPA Limited, who will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for reappointment at the forthcoming AGM.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to protecting the environment,
fulfilling social responsibility and promoting employee
benefits and development to achieve sustainable growth of
its business. For more details of the Group’s performances
in environmental and social aspects, please refer to
the environmental, social and governance report of the
Company for the Reporting Period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company had complied with all the applicable
principles and code provisions as set out in the Code
contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules during the
Reporting Period.

The details of Group’s compliance with the Code is set out
in the Corporate Governance Report in this report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the
Company’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong while the Company
itself is a holding company. Our operations accordingly
shall comply with the relevant laws and regulations in Hong
Kong. During the Reporting Period and up to the date of
this report, there is no material non-compliance with the
relevant prevailing laws and regulations by the Group.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed below, there are no other significant
event after the Reporting Period up to the date of this
report.

EFGHRS
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EFGHRS

Completion of Rights Issue

On 10 April 2025, the Company received 14 valid
applications and acceptances from qualifying Shareholders
for a total of 40,491,810 Rights Shares (representing
approximately 35.15% of the total number of Rights Shares
offered under the Rights Issue). The remaining 74,708,190
unsubscribed Rights Shares (representing approximately
64.85% of the total number of Rights Shares offered under
the Rights Issue) were successfully placed at the price of
HK$0.2 per Share on 28 April 2025.

The Rights Issue was completed on 9 May 2025.
Accordingly, the gross proceeds raised from the Rights
Issue were approximately HK$23.0 million and the net
proceeds from the Rights Issue were approximately
HK$21.7 million. For further details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 8 May 2025.

Disposal of subsidiaries

On 12 May 2025, the Group entered into the sales and
purchase agreement with an independent third party (the
“Purchaser”), pursuant to which, the Group disposed
of its subsidiaries, Prestige Victory Limited and Topper
Summit Limited, to the Purchaser at an aggregate
consideration of HK$1,350,000. The disposal was
completed on 30 May 2025.

On behalf of the Board
Xu Lin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

y

_

Ascenda CACFEU

RI|Z |35

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

WAN KEI GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 106 to 239,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2025, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 March 2025, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS
Accounting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

WAL B ETR S

Unit 1519, 15/F.,, Chevalier Commercial Centre,
8 Wang Hoi Road, Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

WAL ZBEMR S

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (‘HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide
a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the
matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the
auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report, including in
relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included
the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements. The results of our
audit procedures, including the procedures performed
to address the matters below, provide the basis for our
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

REVENUE RECOGNITION FOR THE
CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS

ARISING FROM THE FOUNDATION
CONSTRUCTION WORKS AND GROUND
INVESTIGATION SERVICES

Reference is made to notes 2.4 and 3 to the consolidated
financial statements for the directors’ disclosures of the
related accounting policies, judgements and estimates,
respectively and note 4(a) to the consolidated financial
statements for further information.

Key Audit Matter
Bt FIH

WAL B ETR S

REMEZEZTER I MENARFBNERE
BHR I AFRER

BRE—5 ERE S WS BN SRR AN
S04 R OE R BHERN 5 B  HIA R (i3t
B B D R 2 A B R A 34 ) ©

How our audit was addressed
in the Key Audit Matter
HREAPEERREAFIENSE

The Group recorded revenue from the construction
contracts arising from the foundation construction works
and ground investigation services with an aggregate
amount of approximately HK$256,821,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2025.
BE_Z_AF=-A=+—HILFE > SEERSE?
BB REE TR KT HENRRFRRE SO AL
B8 45%9256,821,0007% 7T ©

Contract revenue is recognised progressively over
time using output method, which is based on direct
measurements of the value of services delivered or
surveys of work performed.

BHWARBERENR —EBREBAZ LS HEE BIRERY
RENBRBEENEZFTEXHFANTIENRAD) o

Our procedures in relation to Directors’ assessment of the
revenue recognition from the Contracts arising from the
foundation construction works and ground investigation
services included:
EENEFHMERR TR R T MENAIRBAELEN
BRI ARG TR R 7 64

- Obtaining an understanding from the Directors
about how to determine the contract sums and the
stage of completion;

- THREFINNEEENTERTIEE ;

- Inspecting a sample of contract agreements with
main-contractors and customers to identify key
terms and conditions, including the contracting
parties, the contract period, the contract sum, the
scope of work and progress payment;

- HEERREEREREIINERBRE UEE
ARG RGY BEHO5 - aNH -50%
TR EREENN;
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Key Audit Matter
FAREE st HIA

How our audit was addressed
in the Key Audit Matter
REHPEERRBEFENGE

For the purpose of the determination of the stage of
completion of the revenue recognition from foundation
construction contracts and ground investigation service
contracts (collectively, the “Contracts”), the directors
of the Company (the “Directors”) determined the stage
of completion of contract revenue with reference to (i)
the progress payment applications (the “Applications”)
submitted by the Group to the main-contractors and
customers; and (i) the certificates (the “Certificates”)
from the surveyors of the main-contractors and
customers. Significant Directors’ judgement and
estimation was used to determine the stage of
completion, including (i) the basis for the Applications;
and (i) the amount certified as per the Certificates.
RETREMERSEORLIHMARBSL (HHE
88 WA RN TREE BREES (TEF
H)2R() EEE0AXKERREREINEEMNNR
A (THREE))  RIVMEAREEREFIAEASEEN
#E (R UBETEENBANTHREE - NEET
MEER > EERATERAB RS SFE10FHHFN
&IE ; K(VRIBEESZENEEE -

For the above reasons, we identified the revenue
recognition from the Contracts arising from the foundation
construction works and ground investigation services as a
key audit matter.

Bt PRE BE R Bt B iEZ R T2 K 1+ iy AR
BHENRWA RS # A —IRERESTFRE
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- Obtaining the Applications and the Certificates
to evaluate the reasonableness of the stage of
completion (including the review of (i) the basis
for the Applications; and (i) the amount certified
as per the Certificates) and test the revenue
recognition based on their stage of completion;
and

= BiSHARES LFHhTREENSEL (B
Eist ()RR R()VRBESZENE
88) o WREB R ENFTEAEERFE AR ; &

S Recalculating the revenue from the Contracts
arising from the foundation construction works
and ground investigation services during the year
and assessing whether the revenue recognition is
based on their stage of completion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT OF TRADE
AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, CONTRACTS
ASSETS, LOAN RECEIVABLES

Reference is made to notes 2.4 and 3 to the consolidated
financial statements for the Directors’ disclosures of the
related accounting policies, judgements and estimates,
respectively and notes 17, 18, 19 and 29(a) to the
consolidated financial statements for further information.

Key Audit Matter
FAsRE T BIA

WAL B ETR S

85 R E MBI AR E R
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How our audit was addressed
in the Key Audit Matter
MREFPEERARENFIENSE

The carrying amount of the Group’s trade and other
receivables, contracts assets, and loan receivables were
approximately HK$36,429,000, HK$88,266,000, and
HK$3,859,000 (net of impairment of HK$34,110,000,
HK$4,545,000 and HK$3,841,000), respectively, as at 31
March 2025.

RZEZAF=B=+—H> EEBENEZKHM
FEWRFIBE ENEEUKRERETRNIREEDS B AL
36,429,000 73 ~ 88,266,000 75 & 3,859,00078 7t (30
BB fB34,110,00078 7T ~ 4,545,00078 75 % 3,841,00078
JT) °

The Group has applied (i) the simplified approach to
calculate the expected credit loss (“ECL”) on trade
receivables and contracts assets, which are assessed
by using a provision matrix; and (i) the general approach
to calculate the ECL on other receivables, and loan
receivables and recognise lifetime ECL where significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition is identified.

BEEERANECETEEZRRIBRENEEN
TRHAEEEE (FRIEEE)) - KRB EBREETT
&5 R(i)— ML st E M UBGRIE U & B E MBI TE R
EE/BE LN HE 2 B VRESELIRE & R R EE 1
eI 2 HATRIRE R

Our procedures in relation to the Directors’ assessment
of the impairment of the Group’s trade and other
receivables, contracts assets, and loan receivables
included:

EENESYH SEENEZRHEMEBKRIE-&0NE
7 LU R BB B ST PRERER VAR = B145

- Discussing with the Directors and the Valuer
to understand the basis of approach and
methodology of the ECL Valuation;

- BESEhGEMHUTREREERIEGE
7= R ERBIKE

- Challenging the Directors and the Valuer on the
adoption of the assumptions and estimations in
the ECL Valuation;

- RBAEEEBEETHRANRRRMLTHE
ERGEMRELES ;

- Evaluating the competence, independence and
professionalism of the Valuer;

- SHE(EERTRIBS ERE D B R B EM
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Key Audit Matter
FAREE st HIA

How our audit was addressed
in the Key Audit Matter
REHPEERRBEFENGE

For the purpose of assessing the ECL, the Directors
engaged an independent professional valuer (the
“Valuer”) to perform a valuation (the “ECL Valuation”)
regarding ECL on trade and other receivables, contracts
assets, and loan receivables based on the Directors’
assumptions. Significant Directors’ judgement and
estimation was used to determine the key assumptions
underlying the ECL Valuation, including (i) the probability
of default; (i) the loss given default; and (i) the selection
and use of reasonable and supportable forward-looking
information without undue cost or effort in the ECL
Valuation. The Group calibrates the matrix to adjusting
the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
factors.
RIMETRIAEEBE EXTREBH U F X LER (KB
) REBEENRIEEZ REMBKRIE - aNEE
NkERERNTEREEHEBRETHE (FREEES
RIGE) - NETTRACEEHBLEMKBRNERERR
B EEERA T EARAE 5T BFENELQRBIE (i)
ENERNER RN TBRAEEHBGEREERS
ABRNEBEHANB NI EEZ BB F
ATHEEER . SEBRREAEEEREBEETR
2 YA BRELEEBIBREER
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- Evaluating the reasonableness and
appropriateness of the ECL Valuation and the
assumptions, information and parameters used
in the model, including the probability of default,
loss given default and forward-looking factors, and
reviewing of management’s identification of the
balances with credit impaired;

- L TRERE BB B EUR R RFERANRKREE
EERZ2Y (BRENNHR - BHOEHNELX
RAEIBEMER NEBEEREBEEMREREEE
HEDRREERENGSERIER A

- Checking the information used by the Directors
and the Valuer to develop the provision matrix
including ageing analysis of trade receivables and
contracts assets on a sample basis, by comparing
individual items in the analysis with the relevant
Surveyor’s Certificates;

- BB PNERIEE EERRAEREET
EE 82 > 3 5 e 5 B AR 7Sl 7 #8 A AE P Y
i GEHEZRRIERSNEENRED
i

- Assessing whether other receivable, and loan
receivables with no significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition have been
appropriately grouped based on common risk
characteristics;

- SHE BV eSS LRE SRR I EEAE LN
HMEWREBEBURERERZSRELENE
RREETTBEE DM ;
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Key Audit Matter
FAREE st HIA

WAL B ETR S

How our audit was addressed
in the Key Audit Matter
REPEEMBEFENGE

Based on the ECL Valuation, the Group (i) provided
impairment loss on trade receivables and contract
assets of approximately HK$6,131,000; (i) recorded
a write back of impairment on loan receivables of
approximately HK$4,297,000; and (i) recorded a write
back of impairment on other receivables of approximately
HK$2,890,000 for the year ended 31 March 2025.
RERAEEREEGE EEERNSE_Z"_15=
A=+—BLEFE(MEZRKREBERENEEREBERES
B SR EH496,131,0008 7T ; (B 1S UL E AR E ]
#94,297,00078 7T 5 (i) iR 15 H th FEWGRRIE R E B4
2,890,000/ 7T ©

For the above reasons, we identified the impairment
assessment of trade and other receivables, contracts
assets, and loan receivables as a key audit matter.
BEREMRER BESKES REMEBWRIE - 6HEE
MKW E R ET G 2 —IBRREst E 18

- Checking settlements subsequent to the end of
the reporting period relating to the trade and other
receivables, contracts assets, and loan receivables
as at 31 March 2025 on a sample basis; and

- MEBE_E_AF-_RB=+—HWNESZKH
W SNBEEURERERNRSHR
BNERER; &

- Recalculating the ECL of trade and other
receivables, contracts assets, and loan
receivables, and assessing the sufficiency of the
impairment, if any, as at 31 March 2025.

- EMFEBEZ REMBUARIE SHNEEUKRE
WERNEREESE L8 E"S°"AF
“BR=+—HRE WA BEERE-
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The Directors are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included
in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the Directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either
intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Directors are assisted by the audit committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

WAL ZBEMR S

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
Directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date
of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within
the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on
the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review
of the audit work performed for purpose of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our
audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZE&EBZERERAR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit
Committee, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Wan Kin Man Tony.

Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Wan Kin Man Tony
Practising Certificate Number P05506

Hong Kong, 27 June 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

ReIRmR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) E —_ZE " AF =B =+—HI-FE CUBTEHE)

Notes 2025 2024
s ZBZHRE “TTWHF
Revenue A 4(a) 301,128,972 288,653,324
Cost of sales HEMA 6(c) (248,166,618) (235,580,347)
Gross profit EF 52,962,354 53,073,477
Other income, other gains and losses, net  E g A ~ Efthi 5 K E518
R 5 6,622,922 2,065,971
Selling expenses HERMX (4,094,283) -
General and administrative expenses — R AT (97,883,405) (61,439,636)
Reversal of impairment/(Impairment losses) &RIRESNEE 2 HERE[E],
on financial and contract assets, net CREE518) $38 6(c)&29(a) 1,056,622 (3,886,525)
Loss from operations iR (41,335,790) (10,186,713)
Finance costs =N 6(a) (10,560,387)  (9,153,895)
Loss before tax PRgRIASIE 6 (51,896,177) (19,340,608)
Income tax expenses T8z 7 (1,406,992) (759,814)
Loss for the year FREE (53,303,169) (20,100,422)
Loss attributable to: UTFALREERSIE -
Owners of the Company ZiN/NCIEZZ =N (51,429,751) (20,621,836)
Non-controlling interests JEVERR = (1,873,418) 521,414
(53,303,169)  (20,100,422)
HK cents HK cents
Al Bl
(Restated)
(B EH)
Loss per share SREE
Basic and diluted EAXARE#E 11 (40.10) (21.97)

Details of the dividends for the year are disclosed in note
10 to the consolidated financial statements.

The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &

AR

SE2ENmR

“HE=RA= -l— HLIEFE CUBTEHE)

Notes 2025 2024
s ZBZHRE “TTWHF
Loss for the year FREE (53,303,169) (20,100,422)
Other comprehensive income Hh2mEss
Other comprehensive income that may BERrIEEN D BERGEZ
be reclassified to profit or loss Hitt2mWKam
in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on MEBINEBMHRR
translation of financial statements bE R ERE
of foreign operations (397,781) (583,708)
Other comprehensive income that BERreEMmsBEEE2
will not be reclassified to profit or loss Hitt2mis
in subsequent periods:
Equity investment at fair value through BAFESAEMEZRE
other comprehensive income: Wz RAKE
— Change in fair value — N EEEH) 14,29()  (1,134,980)  (5,824,609)
Other comprehensive income FRHEHMPEURE
for the year, net of tax MNp&HRIE (1,532,761)  (6,408,317)
Total comprehensive income FAREWELEEE
for the year (54,835,930) (26,508,739)
Attributable to: UTALRE:
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIEZ TN (52,995,576) (27,015,478)
Non-controlling interests FEIERC R R (1,840,354) 506,739
(54,835,930) (26,508,739)
The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated BEMIMN ST B R ERa M BHRR 2 —5 K

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

LREMBARR

At 81 March 2025 (in HK dollars) i =&

EFE=RB=+—8 CUEstE

Notes 2025 2024
iz ZTZHRE —ZT@OEF
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment IEN IS E 12 18,602,736 9,235,366
Intangible assets B EE 13 1,223,625 290,000
Financial assets at fair value through BAFESARMEE
other comprehensive income W@ EMEE 14 - 2,734,980
Loan receivables FEUE R 19 2,771,136 809,100
Total non-current assets JEREBEERE 22,597,497 13,069,446
Current assets TENEE
Inventories =58 16 9,447,328 =
Contract assets BHNBEE 17 88,266,155 117,555,252
Trade and other receivables 85 R EMEWIE 18 36,428,854 49,151,153
Loan receivables EUER 19 1,088,100 3,953,000
Financial assets at fair value through BAFESABGNER
profit or loss HE 15 2,480,000 1,959,200
Cash and cash equivalents RBERIREEEBY 20 106,964,960 138,285,822
Total current assets mBEESE 244,675,397 310,904,427
Current liabilities mEafE
Trade and other payables and accruals B 5 REMEARIER
FEETER 22 34,635,535 48,755,379
Due to a related company FE(S—ERAE A B RIE 23 56,016,771 55,350,521
Due to directors of subsidiaries FENMBABES 2B 23 114,234,029 122,000,000
Lease liabilities HEaE 24 5,723,368 1,617,757
Tax payable FEIIRIE 1,191,435 2,448,933
Total current liabilities TENB (R4 211,801,138 230,172,590
Net current assets RENEEFE 32,874,259 80,731,837
Total assets less current liabilities BEEERREBAR 55,471,756 93,801,283

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZE&EBZERERAR
Annual Report 2024/25 —8=M /“HFFiR



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
tra MBIRR

At 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) R ZE_HE= H +—H B TEHE)

Notes 2025 2024
iz ZTZRE —ZT@OEF
Non-current liabilities JERBEE
Long service payment liabilities EHRZEEE8E 1,486,225 1,486,225
Lease liabilities HEaR 24 2,908,599 972,685
Deferred tax liabilities IRIERIEAE 7(c) 1,376,145 513,656
Total non-current liabilities JEREN B R 5,770,969 2,972,566
Net assets BEEFE 49,700,787 90,828,717
Capital and reserves attributable FATHEEAERGEELRR
to the owners of the Company e
Share capital A&7 26(c) 11,520,000 9,600,000
Reserves = 39,382,780 80,721,978
50,902,780 90,321,978
Non-controlling interests JEIERG fE (1,201,993) 506,739
Total equity k] 49,700,787 90,828,717

The consolidated financial statements on pages 106 to
239 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board
of Directors on 27 June 2025 and are signed on its behalf

by:

BAI HUAWEI

BER
Director

EF

The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated

financial statements.

E106E239ENGREMBREEN _F -4
FRBITLtHEKEETMAERREBEE M I

AUTAERAERERE

WANG YU
xR
Director

4

B NEERZFRE

MBHRERZ —

BB1n ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FEEmER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) #;

ECETHF=A=+—RHLEFE CUBTHE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FRARANES
Shares
Exchange  held under Non-
Share Share Merger Capital  Fairvalue  fluctuation ~share award Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium* reserve*  reserve*  reserve* reserve* scheme* losses* Total interest equity
BB
Bk  HAGE E{320
Rx  REE AR E6EE ATERRE e R R a B eEsE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK HK$ HK$
v & #n v i #n v & #n #n v
(Note 26(c)) (Note &) (Note b)
(z06(c)) (ista) (ko)
Balance at 1 April 2023 R-BZ=
WMA—-BZ&E 9600000 211,357,601 3,955,820 9,669,301 - 849,859 (19,429,159  (98,665,966) 117,337,456 - 117,337,456
Changes in equity “ECMEY
for 2024: Bagy.
Loss for the year EREA = S - - - - - (20,621,836) (20,621,830) 521,414 (20,100422)
Exchange differences on -~ EESNERET
tranglation of fnanciel ~~ HRNERER
Statements of foreign
operations - - - - - (569,033) - - (569,033 (14675 (683,708)
Equiy investmentsat ~ ATEE AL
fair value through SEYEZRE
other comprehensie BB
income:
-Change infarvae - ATEEH - - - - (5,824,609 - - - (5,824,609 - (5,824,600
Loss and total ERNBEREERR
comprenensive re
expenses for the year - - - - (5,824,609 (569,033 - (20,621.836) (27,015478) 506,739 (26,508,739)
Balance at RZE-MmE
31 March 2024 ZRA=+-R
2 9,600,000 211,357,601 3,955,820 9,669,301  (5,824,609) 200826  (19,429,159) (119,287,802) 90,321,978 506,739 90,828,717

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZE&EBZERERAR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) #Z—

Attributable to owners of the Company

e

HEEE

TRE=ZRA=+—HLFE CUBTsHE)

FARRE AR
Shares
Exchange  held under Non-
Share Share Merger Capital ~ Fairvalue  fluctuation ~ share award  Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium* reserve*  reserve*  reserve* reserve* scheme* losses* Total interest equity
e
‘ - ‘ ERRS  stEGE E[323
Rt ROVEE  afHE  ESEE ATERE it Ry RemE o G Enen
HK$ HKS$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS HK$ HKS$ HK$ HKS$ HK$
R AT o AR AR AT AR AT AT A AR
Noe25e) MNote28c)j)  Noled  (Noteb)
(zk6c)  (Hzk26)f) () (Hizko)
Balance at 1 April 2024 R—2-I&
H BZ&R 9600000 211357601 395,820 9,669,301  (5,824,609) 280826 (19429159 (119,287,802 90,321,978 506,739 90,828,717
Changes in equity ZETREY
for 2025; age.
Loss for the year ERER = = = = - - - (51429751) (p1,429,751) (1873418 (53,303,169
Exchange differences on B EINEBEH
tranglation of fnancil ~~ HRNERER
statements of foreign
operaions - . . . N ) . o U B/osk  (397,78)
Eouity ivestments at AT AZH
fair value through 2ENEZRE
other comprehensiie % &
income:
~Chenge nfarvae - ATELE - - - - (1134980 - - - (1134980 o 1,138
Loss and total EREEREA
comprehensive Waes
income for the year - - - o139 [#30845) - BANTS) (B20055T6 (1840354 (54835.990)
Transfer of far value HERATEA
feserve upon the Afr2ElE s
disposal of equity RaLEReEE
investments at fai ATERE
value through other
comprehensive
income - - - - 6,959,589 - - (6959589 - - -
Issue of shares BIRH
{note 26() (o600 190000 17280000 - - . - - - 19200000 - 19200000
Shareissue expenses  TR{AE{TEI:
Iote 26() (500610 - o0 - - - . . - 00 S 00
Acqistion of non- WERB AN
controling interestsin -~ FEEGIER
subsideries (ole 31 (E31) - - - (13162 - - - - BIBIER) 13162 (5000000
Balance at RZEZLE
31 March 2025 ZA=+-A
ki 11,520,000 228,145,601 3,955,820 4,537,679 - (150,019)  (19,429,159) (177,677,142) 50,902,780  (1,201,993) 49,700,787
* The reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves * HETBEERAVBRAIRPINESHEY

of approximately HK$39,383,000 (2024: approximately

39,383,000/ 70 (ZZE M4 !

#980,722,0007T) ©

Notes:

HK$80,722,000) in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Merger reserve represents the difference between the nominal
value of the shares issued by the Company in exchange for
the nominal value of the share capital of its subsidiaries arising
from the reorganisation of the Group (the “Reorganisation”).

The capital reserve represents (i) the deemed capital
contribution from its equity shareholders, Suntecli Company
Limited, Samwood Global Limited, Mr. Leung Man Lun
Stephen and Ms. Yeung Siu Lai Shirley, in relation to listing
expenses reimbursed to the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2016; and (i) the difference between the
consideration and the carrying amount of the non-controlling
interests arising from the acquisition of non-controlling
interests as detailed in note 31.

aftREEIENAEEEA ((El) KRB EAAR
WBABRAMBEARATETRMZEERZFR
FEEZER-

ERRER)REERERRNESHBRAR &K

EIRMARAE  RXBELERGVEL T HRE

ECERFZA=T—HLEFERARATEGEN

B E RS AR AR E 5 Re(ii) B 5E31 PREF ALY S

gsiﬂﬂg SmERRIFEREEN A ERREEZE
Ho

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZEEEZRERAE
Annual Report 2024/25 —F¥=mM " HEFEHR

m



12

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

aRERER

nv'F

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) #ZE—

ETHF=RB=1T—HLFE CIBTE)

Notes 2025 2024
hE k- ek % “EIEF
Cash (used in)/generated from operations 4% (FfF) /Fii5HH& 21(b) (13,093,643) 43,466,580
Tax paid [=EDEiE (1,883,080) (1,171,587)
Net cash (used in)/from operating activities #&% ;%8 (FiF) Fh1S
REBE (14,976,723) 42,294,993
Cash flows from investing activities REETHHERE
Purchases of items of property, BEYE BEMREER
plant and equipment (10,610,122) (1,737,760)
Acquisition of intangible assets WERTEE 13 (940,000) -
Proceeds from the disposal of financial assets ~ HEZAFET AEMEEU
at fair value through other comprehensive mZEMBEZFENIEA
income 1,600,000 -
Acquisition of non-controlling interests g YN EIS2dy d
in subsidiaries 31 (5,000,000) -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME -BEREREZ
plant and equipment PRSAUIE 1,515,000 138,168
Interest received EWFHE 1,149,428 1,931,363
Net cash (used in)/from investing activities  $2& ;&80 (FRE) Frf5
NEBEE (12,285,694) 331,771
Cash flows from financing activities MEEHHRERE
Proceeds from issue of shares BITRD 2 FTERUE 26(c)(ii) 19,200,000 =
Share issue expenses BRAD TR 26(c)(ii) (492,000) =
Decrease in amount due to directors of BB AR ES 2 RIER D
subsidiaries 21(c) (14,905,962) (8,678,127)
Decrease in amount due to a related company ~ FEff—REIREA T 2 G R D 21(c) (2,000,000) (10,000,000
Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities BEREEaENEEH S 21(0) (4,731,262) (1,491,935)
Payment of interest portion of lease liabilities BEEHEEaENFESS 21(c) (754,146) (187,645)
Net cash used in financing activities B EBFRAREFH (3,683,370)  (20,357,707)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and RERREEEN
cash equivalents (RL) /1hn3% (30,945,787) 22,269,057
Cash and cash equivalents at the ENRERREEEY
beginning of the year 138,285,822 116,478,368
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EXEmHzye (375,075) (461,603)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end EXRAERREEEN
of the year 20 106,964,960 138,285,822
The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated BEMM IR ZE R BRRN—3 D

financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability on 7 October 2014 under the
Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated
and revised) of the Cayman Islands.

The Company’s registered office is located at Windward
3, Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box 1350, Grand Cayman
KY1-1108, Cayman lIslands. The Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong is located at Unit No. 07,
16/F, Emperor Group Centre, No. 288 Hennessy Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are the provision
for the (i) foundation construction works, (i) ground
investigation services, (i) financial services, (iv) trading
of consumer products, and (v) e-commerce sales, live
streaming and promotion business in the social media.

The Company’s shares were listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 11 August 2015.

sRE M IRRMIE

THE= E +—HLEFE QUBTHE)

1. —/REH
REEEZERERAD (AT > BEREEKM
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AIRBHEHBEEAE22EREE (—R—
FEIFER KRG RIE ST)T‘E%EE?%%IH%
PRI —HERRNEREERT

AATHNEMMPSESEMI AWindward 3,
Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box 1350, Grand
Cayman KY1—1108 Cayman Islands e &= A

ARNEANTEEEMBUNEBEFEHE
SHIE288R I EEBE P N16IE07E ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tr e ISR RMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) E —_ZE " AF =B =+—HI-FE CUBTEHE)

1. GENERAL INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries

1. —RENE
BERMBARNER

Group’s effective interest

TEEBRIEDR
Particulars of
Place of issued and paid
incorporation/ up capital/
Name of establishment registered Principal
company and business capital Direct Indirect activities
B3 AT BRITRBERS
Ak B R E 2 A& RS E# i TFEEH
Hong Kong Wan Wai British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares US$10,000 100% - Investment holding
Company Limited* (‘BVI')
BARRBRAT HEBRUEE EER10,000% 7T BREER
(EEELEE)
Chung Shun Boring Engineering Hong Kong Ordinary shares - 100%  Ground investigation works
Company Limited HK$5,500,000
FEEFIRERAT BN E1825,500,000% 7T THE R TR
Wan Kei Geotechnical Engineering Hong Kong Ordinary shares - 100%  Construction site foundation engineering and
Company Limited HK$14,000,000 bore pile pre-driling works
REITHTRERAT ) E3&0%14,000,000% 7T EEMBME TERETLETBRLER
I#
Wan Kei Machinery Company Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$100 S 100%  Machinery leasing
BERWMERAD BN EER1007ETT HinEE
Wan Kei (Macau) Civil And Foundation  Macau 2 shares of MOP 14,000 - 100%  Construction site foundation engineering and
Construction Company Limited* bore pile pre-driling works
BE (RP) HERKIRARAR RM 2R RPIHE14,0007T BEMBME TR LB ETERLEER
1%
Ultimate Proud Limited” BVI Ordinary shares US$1 100% - Investment holding
EHBRAF HEBRUEE BERIET BREER
Fortune Shiny (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares S 100%  Money lending
HK$1,000,000
BB (5H) BRAT BN 881,000,000 7T L=
Infinite Time Holdings Limited* BVI Ordinary shares US$1 100% - Investment holding
XEERBRAD HBRUHES BBRIET BREER
Sino Topper Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares S 100%  Not yet commence business
HK$20,000,000
HREBRRAR BN &3&#%20,000,000% 75 BN E=ES
Prestige Victory Limited* BVI Ordinary shares US$1 100% - Investment holding
BYERAE) HEEYEE BERIZET BREER
Topper Summit Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares - 100%  Not yet commence business
HK$5,000,000
BEFRAR B £ 48A%5,000,0007 7T HABREZE
Delight Vision Global Limited* BVI Ordinary share US$1 100% - Investment holding
RERKBRAF" HEEYEE EBERIZET BEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

1. GENERAL INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

A

SR HmRME

THE= E +—HLEFE QUBTHE)

1. —HREH @
BRMBARNEN (@

Group’s effective interest

TEEBREDR
Particulars of
Place of issued and paid
incorporation/ up capital/
Name of establishment registered Principal
company and business capital Direct Indirect activities
B3 AT BRTREERS/
Ak B R E 2 A& RS E# i TFEEH
Shiny Wiser Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares = 100%  Not yet commence business
HK$5,000,000
YEERAT B £ 38A%5,000,0007 7T HABREZE
Elegant Top Holdings Limited* BVI Ordinary share US$1 100% - Investment holding
HEERERAT" HBEEYEE BERIZET BEER
Success Mount Investments Limited*  BVI Ordinary share US$1 - 100%  Not yet commence business
MERERRAT" HEEYEE BERIET HRREEE
Advance Trade Holdings Limited* BVI Ordinary share US$1 100% - Investment holding
BERRBRAT HEBRUHEE BERIET BREER
Regal Victor International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$100 S 100%  Trading of consumer
ZRERBRAE Bl EER100ETT HEMES
Yuyong (Shanghai) Construction People’s Republic of  Registered RMB22,591,394 - 100%  Not yet commence business
Engineering Company Limited ** " China (the “PRC”) Paid up RMB22,591,394
(2024 : Registered
RMB100,000,000,
Paid up RMB 20,576,300)
ik (£8) BEIRBERAF" hEAREMNE HAMARE HREEEE
("ehE)) 22,591,39470 > 12
AR 22,591,3947T
CEmE: #MAR
#100,000,0007c * &
AE#20,576,3007T)
Keen Ace International Limited* BVI Ordinary share US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
EERKRBRAR" HEEYEE EBERIZET BEER
Sky Orient Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary share HK$1 - 100%  Not yet commence business
XRERBRAT BN BERIET HRREEE
Ultimate Fit Limited” BVI Ordinary shares US$100 100% - Investment holding
ERBRAT" HEBRUHEE EER100%TT BREER
Pure Luck International Limited* BVI Ordinary shares US$100 S 100%°  Investment holding
(2024: 51%)
MERIRA R AR HEEYEE EER100ETT CEmE: RBEER
51%)
Bright Asia Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary share HK$1 = 100%°  Investment holding
(2024: 51%)
BRERERAR B EBBERIET (CBEZmE: REZR
51%)

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited HE&EEZRERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tr e ISR RMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) E —_ZE " AF =B =+—HI-FE CUBTEHE)

1.  GENERAL INFORMATION (Continueq) 1. —REH @
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) BHMEARNER @)
Group’s effective interest
TEEBRIEDR
Particulars of
Place of issued and paid
incorporation/ up capital/
Name of establishment registered Principal
company and business capital Direct Indirect activities
B3 AT BRITRBERS
Ak B R E 2 A& RS E# i TFEEH
Guangzhou Paiyue Shangyi Technology PRC Registered HK$5,000,000, - 100%"  E-commerce live streaming and promotion
Company Limited *** Paid up HK$5,000,000 (2024: 51%)  business in the social media
(2024 : Registered
HK$ 5,000,000,
Paid up HK$ 2,550,000)
BEMREBHIZRZERAT HE 15,000,000 7T » 8 CBINE: AREEEHEERERYLS
5,000,000 7 (ZZ =M 51%)
£ ¢ 315,000,000/ 7% 2
22,550,000 7T)
Guangzhou Zhenxue Information PRC Registered RMB500,000, S 55%°  Not yet commence business
Technology Co., Ltd. ** Paid up RMB Nil (2024: 28%)
BENESEERKBRAF HE £ A R #500,0007T CEIME: HREREE
BRARBOT 28%)
Guangzhou Linyue Yi Information PRC Registered RMB1,000,000, - 51%"  Not yet commence business
Technology Co., Ltd. ** Paid up RMB 510,000 (2024: 26%)
BEMREBlIZEEREBRAT" HE it A K #1,000,0007T (CEIME: HREEEE
BB AR 510,000 26%)
Yuet Tun Group Company Limited ® Hong Kong Ordinary Shares HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding
(2024: Nil)
HHERERARC BN BERIET CEmE: REER
&)
Heyuan Jiahong Air Conditioning PRC Registered US$1,000,000, S 100%  Not yet commence business
Engineering Co., Ltd*"® Paid up US$644,500 (2024 Nil)
ARERLRIEERAR " FE #Eff1,000,000% 7% C2IMmE: HRAEREE
#2644 500% T &)
Dynamic Fame Limited® Hong Kong Ordinary Shares HK$1 S 100%  Investment holding
(2024: Nil)
ENFRAE® HE BER1ET CEIME: REZR
&)
Shenzhen Defan Information PRC Registered HK$1,000,000 100%  E-commerce
Technology *"@ Paid up HKD 1,000,000 (2024: Nil)
BB ERAR e = 1f#1,000,0007 7T - (CZomE BB
#121,000,000% 7T &)
Xinyi Building Materials (Shenzhen) PRC Registered HK$50,000,000 S 100%  Trading of construction material
Co., Ltd *"@ Paid up HKD 10,000,000 (2024: Nil)
MEEM GRI) BRAT e FE #£ff150,000,0008 7T.° C2mE: BEEMHESR
# 210,000,000 7T &)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

sRE M IRRMIE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) iZE _E_HF= ﬁ +—RBIEEE CUBTEHE)

1. GENERAL INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

1. —RER
BRMBARNEN (&

Group’s effective interest

TEEBREDR
Particulars of
Place of issued and paid
incorporation/ up capital/
Name of establishment registered Principal
company and business capital Direct Indirect activities
B3 AT BRITRBERS
Ak B R E 2 A& RS E# i TFEEH
Misstar Jewelry (Shenzhen) PRC Registered RMB2,000,000, 100%  Retail sales of jewelry
Co., Ltd*"@ Paid up RMB2,000,000 (2024: Nil)
WETEIRE (RY) BREFLF " FE st AR 2,000,007z 2 - CBCME: KERE
%2 AR 2,000,0007 &)
Guangzhou Jumping Information PRC Registered RMB500,000, S 85%  E-commerce live streaming and promotion
Technology Co., Ltd* @ Paid up RMB Nil (2024: Nil) - business in the social media
EMKBE ERITERAT e AR #500,0007T CEIME: HRXEREHERREEES
BEAREOT )
Xizang Paiyue E-commerce PRC Registered RMB1,000,000, S 100%  Not yet commence business
Co., Ltd"® Paid up RMB Nil (2024: Nil)
FERREESFHEERAR FE S AR #1,000,0007T C2IMmE: HRAEREE
BEAREOT &)
* Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited is not the statutory auditor of * KR EGETSEHBAAARABLIEZEWE AR
these subsidiaries. 2R TEIZEREM o
** The English names of these companies referred to in these E BRI E X R ZEMBRRASIMZE

financial statements represent management’s best effort
to translate the Chinese names of those companies, as no
English names have been registered.

These companies are wholly-foreign-owned enterprises in
Mainland China.

. These subsidiaries are newly incorporated/acquired during the
year.
b As detailed in note 31 to the consolidated financial

statements, the Group further acquired the remaining 49%
equity interests in Pure Luck International Limited during the
year.

REZAXLBHEEEREABZNHZSZ AT
XLTBIEHZ B

ZERNER/MUR PRI EEERE

auk

@ ZENB R B RN EENE ML RS

e MRS M FFRR S PAF  AEBNFERNE
—F B AEERIR A IR A B R 8R49%0Y B 1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) E —_ZE " AF =B =+—HI-FE CUBTEHE)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

Statement of Compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable HKFRS
Accounting Standards (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock
Exchange. The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared under the historical cost convention except
for (i) the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL”) and (i) the financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), which are stated
at their fair value. The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”).

The HKICPA has issued certain new and amendments
to HKFRS Accounting Standards that are first effective
or available for early adoption for the current accounting
period of the Group and the Company. Notes 2.2 and
2.3 to the consolidated financial statements provide
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting
from initial application of these developments to the
extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current
accounting period is reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRS Accounting Standards requires
management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and
expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of
making the judgements about carrying values of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZE&EBZERERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Statement of Compliance (Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRS Accounting Standards that have significant
effect on the consolidated financial statements and major
sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 3
of the consolidated financial statements.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the
year ended 31 March 2025. A subsidiary is an entity,
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group
the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

sRE M IRRMIE

THE= E +—HLEFE QUBTHE)

21 RREE =
SHRBHWE =

ZEMRERRREFEETHS - HE 5t
TE.#E’]WEJT A=A CHIRENS ’E'N‘ﬂ%u‘fﬁﬂf’%ﬁ
2 WESTREEAKRAKRIAE BIEEITK
RARHARE HE ST o

EEETRAEAM BT REEN G EIR
PREHEGEEMBEREBEERAT EN A K
HEFTHARZEZTEZRRNGEMBRE
By 5T 35w At ©

At

FEEE
REVMBREACEARDIRENBRATIHE
—EAF=ZR=Z+T—HLEFENMBR
K- MBARAAAATDERABEEFNE
R -EXEEBBAZ2ANKREHNEREEM
AEFE2L0RNERNEENZM®KR TEA
SENERNBRRESNEN BIE&EEBRA
BENETERRESNEREHNRAER) &
EZEOME > AES = H# o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) #ZE—

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

() the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of the
subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated
until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-
controlling interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve;
and recognises the fair value of any investment retained
and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The
Group’s share of components previously recognised in
other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss
or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards for the first time for the current
year’'s consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
(the “2020 Amendments’)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the 2022 Amendments’)
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements
and HKFRS 7

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards are described below:

(@) Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements
that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease
liability arising in a sale and leaseback transaction
to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any
amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right
of use it retains. Since the Group has no sale and
leaseback transactions with variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate occurring
from the date of initial application of HKFRS 16,
the amendments did not have any impact on the
consolidated financial position or performance of the
Group.

sRE M IRRMIE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

nv'F
For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) #ZE—

2.2

SR EEHRRME

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
(Continued)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements
for classifying liabilities as current or non-current,
including what is meant by a right to defer
settlement and that a right to defer must exist at
the end of the reporting period. Classification of
a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the
entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability can
be settled in its own equity instruments, and that
only if a conversion option in a convertible liability
is itself accounted for as an equity instrument
would the terms of a liability not impact its
classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify
that, among covenants of a liability arising from
a loan arrangement, only those with which an
entity must comply on or before the reporting date
affect the classification of that liability as current or
non-current. Additional disclosures are required for
non-current liabilities that are subject to the entity
complying with future covenants within 12 months
after the reporting period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions
of its liabilities as at 1 April 2024 and 2023 and
concluded that the classification of its liabilities as
current or non-current remained unchanged upon
initial application of the amendments. Accordingly,
the amendments did not have any impact on the
consolidated financial position or performance of the
Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.2

23

sRE M IRRMIE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) iE —_ T _AF =8 =+—HIEFE CBTTsHE)

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and
require additional disclosure of such arrangements.
The disclosure requirements in the amendments
are intended to assist users of financial statements
in understanding the effects of supplier finance
arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows
and exposure to liquidity risk. As the Group does
not have supplier finance arrangements, the
amendments did not have any impact on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRS Accounting Standards, that have been issued
but are not yet effective, in these consolidated financial
statements. The Group intends to apply these new and
revised HKFRS Accounting Standards, if applicable, when
they become effective.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements?

HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability:
Disclosures®

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the Classification and

and HKFRS 7

Measurement of Financial Instruments?

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an

and HKAS 28
Amendments to HKAS 21

Annual Improvements
to HKFRS Accounting

Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture*
Lack of Exchangeability'

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 72

Standards - Volume 11

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2026

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) E —_ZE " AF =B =+—HI-FE CUBTEHE)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Further information about those HKFRS Accounting
Standards that are expected to be applicable to the Group
is described below.

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. While a number of sections have been
brought forward from HKAS 1 with limited changes,
HKFRS 18 introduces new requirements for presentation
within the statement of profit or loss, including specified
totals and subtotals. Entities are required to classify
all income and expenses within the statement of profit
or loss into one of the five categories: operating,
investing, financing, income taxes and discontinued
operations and to present two new defined subtotals.
[t also requires disclosures about management-defined
performance measures in a single note and introduces
enhanced requirements on the grouping (aggregation and
disaggregation) and the location of information in both
the primary financial statements and the notes. Some
requirements previously included in HKAS 1 are moved
to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors, which is renamed as HKAS 8 Basis
of Preparation of Financial Statements. As a consequence
of the issuance of HKFRS 18, limited, but widely
applicable, amendments are made to HKAS 7 Statement
of Cash Flows, HKAS 33 Earnings per Share and HKAS
34 Interim Financial Reporting. In addition, there are minor
consequential amendments to other HKFRSs. HKFRS 18
and the consequential amendments to other HKFRSs are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027 with earlier application permitted. Retrospective
application is required. The Group is currently analysing
the new requirements and assessing the impact of HKFRS
18 on the presentation and disclosure of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

sRE M IRRMIE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) iE —_ T _AF =8 =+—HIEFE CBTTsHE)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

HKFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced
disclosure requirements while still applying the recognition,
measurement and presentation requirements in other
HKFRSs. To be eligible, at the end of the reporting period,
an entity must be a subsidiary as defined in HKFRS
10 Consolidated Financial Statements, cannot have
public accountability and must have a parent (ultimate
or intermediate) that prepares consolidated financial
statements available for public use which comply with
HKFRSs. Earlier application is permitted. As the Company
is a listed company, it is not eligible to elect to apply
HKFRS 19. Some of the Company’s subsidiaries are
considering the application of HKFRS 19 in their specified
financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 clarify the date on
which a financial asset or financial liability is derecognised
and introduce an accounting policy option to derecognise
a financial liability that is settled through an electronic
payment system before the settlement date if specified
criteria are met. The amendments clarify how to assess
the contractual cash flow characteristics of financial assets
with environmental, social and governance and other
similar contingent features. Moreover, the amendments
clarify the requirements for classifying financial assets with
non-recourse features and contractually linked instruments.
The amendments also include additional disclosures
for investments in equity instruments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income and financial
instruments with contingent features. The amendments
shall be applied retrospectively with an adjustment to
opening retained profits (or other component of equity) at
the initial application date. Prior periods are not required
to be restated and can only be restated without the use of
hindsight. Earlier application of either all the amendments
at the same time or only the amendments related to
the classification of financial assets is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) E —_ZE " AF =B =+—HI-FE CUBTEHE)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10
and in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a
gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction when
the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a business.
For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent
of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the HKICPA.
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall
assess whether a currency is exchangeable into another
currency and how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate
at a measurement date when exchangeability is lacking.
The amendments require disclosures of information that
enable users of financial statements to understand the
impact of a currency not being exchangeable. Earlier
application is permitted. When applying the amendments,
an entity cannot restate comparative information. Any
cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments shall
be recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained profits or to the cumulative amount of translation
differences accumulated in a separate component of
equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

sRE M IRRMIE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) iE —_ T _AF =8 =+—HIEFE CBTTsHE)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards —
Volume 11 set out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7
(and the accompanying Guidance on implementing HKFRS
7), HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7. Details of the
amendments that are expected to be applicable to the
Group are as follows:

o HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The
amendments have updated certain wording in
paragraph B38 of HKFRS 7 and paragraphs I1G1,
IG14 and IG20B of the Guidance on implementing
HKFRS 7 for the purpose of simplification or
achieving consistency with other paragraphs
in the standard and/or with the concepts and
terminology used in other standards. In addition,
the amendments clarify that the Guidance on
implementing HKFRS 7 does not necessarily
illustrate all the requirements in the referenced
paragraphs of HKFRS 7 nor does it create
additional requirements. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

o HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments
clarify that when a lessee has determined that a
lease liability has been extinguished in accordance
with HKFRS 9, the lessee is required to apply
paragraph 3.3.3 of HKFRS 9 and recognise any
resulting gain or loss in profit or loss. In addition,
the amendments have updated certain wording
in paragraph 5.1.3 of HKFRS 9 and Appendix A
of HKFRS 9 to remove potential confusion. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) E —_ZE " AF =B =+—HI-FE CUBTEHE)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

° HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements:
The amendments clarify that the relationship
described in paragraph B74 of HKFRS 10 is just
one example of various relationships that might
exist between the investor and other parties acting
as de facto agents of the investor, which removes
the inconsistency with the requirement in paragraph
B73 of HKFRS 10. Earlier application is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.

° HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments
replace the term “cost method” with “at cost” in
paragraph 37 of HKAS 7 following the prior deletion
of the definition of “cost method”. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has
power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and other
parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances, transactions and cash flows and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but only
to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those interests
that meets the definition of a financial liability. For each
business combination, the Group can elect to measure any
non-controlling interests either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the subsidiary’s
net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately
from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the
Company. Non-controlling interests in the results of the
Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and
total comprehensive income for the year between non-
controlling interests and the equity shareholders of the
Company. Loans from holders of non-controlling interests
and other contractual obligations towards these holders
are presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position depending on the nature of
the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative
interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no
gain or loss is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tr e ISR RMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) E —_ZE " AF =B =+—HI-FE CUBTEHE)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EBEKEEE @)
(Continued)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Continueq) B AR BRI ER (&)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is ERAEBRAEZHWNBATDNESE, BlZHE
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that ZHBATDINESER AR MAAEEN KR
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in FEBANBERER REAEEZEGEEBNRF
profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former subsidiary BRAEMNBRABENERERIZAFERR M
at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair value ZEEREAR " BEREEVREINA
and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial g o

recognition of a financial asset.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an RAEARBUMBRIEERR RNBABZKETS
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment B AREREBERIR REZRERD
losses, unless the investment is classified as held for sale. ERAFMFLRE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its equity investments at fair value
at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible
by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) #ZE—

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as
follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities
Level2 - Dbased on valuation techniques for which the

lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
consolidated financial statements on a recurring
basis, the Group determines whether transfers have
occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the
end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for non-financial asset is required (other
than deferred tax assets), the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher
of the asset’s or cash generating unit’s value in use and its
fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion
of the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a
headquarters building) is allocated to an individual cash-
generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of
cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of impaired asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) #ZE—

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is any indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but
not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment
loss is credited to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income in the period in
which it arises.

Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses:

- right-of-use assets arising from leases over freehold
or leasehold properties where the Group is not the
registered owner of the property interest; and

S items of plant and equipment, including right-of-use
assets arising from leases of underlying plant and
equipment.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property, plant and equipment are determined
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit
or loss on the date of retirement or disposal. Any related
revaluation surplus is transferred from the revaluation
reserve to retained profits and is not reclassified to profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation
of items of property, plant and equipment, less their
estimated residual value, if any, using the straight line
method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

e  Furniture and fixtures 3-5 years
e |easehold improvements 5 years
e Motor vehicles 5 years
e Machinery 4-5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and
its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for
an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at
least at each financial year end.

(i) Club membership

Club membership with indefinite useful live is stated at cost
less any impairment loss and no amortisation is provided.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) E —_ZE " AF =B =+—HI-FE CUBTEHE)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i) Trademark

Trademark is stated at cost less any impairment losses and
is amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated
useful live of 8 years.

(iii)  Licence

Purchased licence with indefinite useful live is stated at
cost less any impairment loss and no amortisation is
provided.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(i) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the
amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets as follows:

Office and warehouse over the lease term

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.

sRE M IRRMIE

THE= E +—HLEFE QUBTHE)

24 EXRGHERE

HE
AEBERGNRERTIEZENESEM
EfEsHE - HENABRERMAEM m%E—
&%WW?%Ju%Mééﬁﬁm%ﬂ AlzEa

MEHENESHE

FEEFEHBEABA

FEREAERMEEEEEMEESN  "EEHR
EHERNE—HAKSTES L cEHER
AREHEENRHNEEERURRERER
@%ﬁé%%ﬂ%@%%ﬁ@o

)  RAEEE

EREESENEERHBHE (BIEMEEY H#
EANEH R - EAEEEMURERRG
TEREDREREFE ITEEERNME
HEMFEETRAE - ERREENREEE
EEINEEERSHR BEEENVBEREN
U KRERE B R ZA ARV E A
WRINEFREERB -EREEECBERE
REPASENGSAERFHZEB ZEE
HEtRITE ARNT

MAERBE REEHR
HEEEENMAERETHENBERTEE
TAERE AMEARBRITEEEEZR BIE
REENGSAIEREHRAERE-

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited HE&EEZRERAR
Annual Report 2024/25 —F¥=mM " HEFEHR

137



138

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) E —_ZE " AF =B =+—HI-FE CUBTEHE)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)
(i) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees.
The lease payments also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Group and payments of penalties for termination of a lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate. The variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the
period in which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to the ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee. If
this is not the case, the lease is classified as an operating
lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), and fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”).

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of accounts receivable
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset
at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not
at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs.
Accounts receivable that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied
the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue and other income” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or FVOCI, it needs to give rise to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
(“SPPI”") on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and
measured at FVTPL, irrespective of the business model.

sRE M IRRMIE

THE= E +—HLEFE QUBTHE)

24 EXRGHERE

REREMEMEE
HIETEZ.

TMEENNEESF DB S HBIREHN
K BAFEFAHEMEE R T (TEAFES
AHMZEEWE ) RRATEFS AR (M
AFEFAEE) FE

MEEDRE cHEENYBERRARESREE
HENREREFUE NI EREEZSE SR
EENEFER - RIBEARMER DA E
BEEMHERfRAREAMETSNEEN
ATREAENEWRTSIN KEBEBER
FTEMERSHMAEA (HEMEEWIFRRAFE
TAEGR) STEEREE - UESTAREND
RAEBEECEBOTERT S ENEWERIR
BETITXTWAREMEZE SN KREZE S
MHBREERFI5HEECNRZEBRTE

%@%ﬁﬁéﬁ%ﬁﬁ$ﬁﬁ@$@%kﬁ
theEERDETIERGE A7 32
ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ{iﬁﬁﬂéﬂﬂ%ﬁiﬁ$ﬁ
RAUBRNRFEERE-RERBULIFMAREA/X
NEERMNENERMEE FTREEXEBEREIAY
BAFESABmZDERSGE

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited HE&EEZRERAR
Annual Report 2024/25 —F¥=mM " HEFEHR

139



140

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) #ZE—

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while
financial assets classified and measured at FVOCI are held
within a business model with the objective of both holding
to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial
assets which are not held within the aforementioned
business models are classified and measured at FVTPL.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace are recognised
on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits
to purchases or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL are carried in the consolidated
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected
to classify at FVOCI. Dividends on the equity investments
are also recognised as other income in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income when the right of payment has been established.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a
financial liability or non-financial host, is separated from
the host and accounted for as a separate derivative if the
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related
to the host; a separate instrument with the same terms
as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of
a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not measured at
fair value through profit or loss. Embedded derivatives are
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. Reassessment only occurs if
there is either a change in the terms of the contract that
significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise
be required or a reclassification of a financial asset out of
the fair value through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing
a financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The
financial asset host together with the embedded derivative
is required to be classified in its entirety as a financial asset
at FVTPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) E —_ZE " AF =B =+—HI-FE CUBTEHE)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the statement of
financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or
° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash

flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without
material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement.
In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations
that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
losses (ECLs) on the following items:

- financial assets measured at amortised cost
(including cash and cash equivalents, trade and
other receivables and loan receivables);

- contract assets as defined in HKFRS 15; and

- debt investment measured at FVOCI (recycling).

Financial assets measured at fair value, including units
in bond funds, equity and debt investment measured
at FVTPL, equity securities designated at FVOCI (non-
recycling) and derivative financial assets, are not subject to
the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Credit losses are measured as the present value of all
expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the
cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive).

For undrawn loan commitments, expected cash shortfalls
are measured as the difference between (i) the contractual
cash flows that would be due to the Group if the holder of
the loan commitment draws down on the loan; and (ii) the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive if the loan is
drawn down.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) #ZE—

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the
following discount rates where the effect of discounting is
material:

- fixed-rate financial assets, trade and other
receivables, contract assets, loan receivables
and debt investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income: effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition or an approximation
thereof.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is
the maximum contractual period over which the Group is
exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort. This includes information
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from possible default events within the 12
months after the reporting date; and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from all possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which the ECL model
applies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets
are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix based on
days past due of trade receivables and contract assets for
groupings of various customer segments with similar loss
patterns and adjusted for forward-looking factors specific
to the customers and the environment.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a
loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk of the financial
instrument since initial recognition, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group compares the risk of default occurring on the
financial instrument assessed at the reporting date with
that assessed at the date of initial recognition. In making
this reassessment, the Group considers that a default
event occurs when (i) the borrower is unlikely to pay its
credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse
by the Group to actions such as realising security (if any
is held); or (i) the financial asset is 90 days past due.
The Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
nv'F Ej. ﬁ#ﬁﬁ Btl.-‘-I

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) E —_ZE " AF =B =+—HI-FE CUBTEHE)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EXEGFHHEK (E

(Continued)
EEBEREERE &)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

EHTRREHNEEZIEEER ()

(i)  Credit losses from financial instruments and 0]
contract assets (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued) EEEEREE A (&
In particular, the following information is taken into M RNAHEERMBVRERUKRZE

E\?ﬁ%tﬂﬁﬁ FEEBEGEEUTER

account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

RENRAXEHFMENGHNEH A IBIEL

- failure to make payments of principal or interest on -

their contractually due dates,

an actual or expected significant deterioration in a
financial instrument’s external or internal credit rating
(if available);

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have a
significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to
meet its obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,

BRI

- TR ITEIIBHABEETR (HER)
WERIFAERBRERSEL

- BEHEAKLEXRNERABHEER
165 &

- B FE%\%% Y&@L&%E’JEHUY

ﬁﬁ%kK%U%QO

TR ITANMEEER FEHEER ‘Z%EEE%

the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is J:HFJ};(TI IEENHEFEEEIT N iZH
performed on either an individual basis or a collective basis. HEETTHGR AEETREBEEZEE }—Hﬂ
When the assessment is performed on a collective basis, FE (Mafik ik EERMRTHK S/ T
the financial instruments are grouped based on shared HiET DM

credit risk characteristics, such as past due status and

credit risk ratings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is
recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss.
The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for all
financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment
to their carrying amount through a loss allowance
account, except for investments in debt securities that
are measured at FVOCI (recycling), for which the loss
allowance is recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the fair value reserve (recycling).

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the
gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial
asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a
financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-
impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset have occurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) #ZE—

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income (Continued)

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
the following observable events:

significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

- it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
into bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

- significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an adverse
effect on the debtor; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a security
because of financial difficulties of the issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or contract
asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is
generally the case when the Group determines that the
debtor does not have assets or sources of income that
could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts
subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in
profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
(i) Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period to identify indications
that property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use
assets), club membership and interest in an associate
impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an impairment
loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of
its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
Where an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the recoverable
amount is determined for the smallest group of assets
that generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit).

- Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit
to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-
generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating
unit (or group of units) and then, to reduce the carrying
amount of the other assets in the unit (or group of units) on
a pro rata basis, except that the carrying value of an asset
will not be reduced below its individual fair value less costs
of disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if determinable).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) #ZE—

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i) Impairment of other non-current assets
(Continued)

- Reversal of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment
loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversal of
impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the year
in which the reversals are recognised.

Other contract costs

Other contract costs are either the incremental costs of
obtaining a contract with a customer or the costs to fulfil
a contract with a customer which are not capitalised as
inventory, property, plant and equipment or intangible
assets.

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs
that the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer
that it would not have incurred if the contract had not
been obtained e.g. an incremental sales commission.
Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are capitalised
when incurred if the costs relate to revenue which will
be recognised in a future reporting period and the costs
are expected to be recovered. Other costs of obtaining a
contract are expensed when incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Other contract costs (Continueq)

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the costs
relate directly to an existing contract or to a specifically
identifiable anticipated contract; generate or enhance
resources that will be used to provide goods or services in
the future; and are expected to be recovered. Costs that
relate directly to an existing contract or to a specifically
identifiable anticipated contract may include direct labour,
direct materials, allocations of costs, costs that are
explicitly chargeable to the customer and other costs
that are incurred only because the Group entered into
the contract (for example, payments to sub-contractors).
Other costs of fulfilling a contract, which are not capitalised
as inventory, property, plant and equipment or intangible
assets, are expensed as incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Impairment losses are recognised to the extent that the
carrying amount of the contract cost asset exceeds the
net of (i) remaining amount of consideration that the Group
expects to receive in exchange for the goods or services to
which the asset relates, less (i) any costs that relate directly
to providing those goods or services that have not yet
been recognised as expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is charged to
profit or loss when the revenue to which the asset relates is
recognised. The accounting policy for revenue recognition
is set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) E —_ZE " AF =B =+—HI-FE CUBTEHE)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue before being unconditionally entitled
to the consideration under the payment terms set out
in the contract. Contract assets are assessed for ECL
in accordance with the policy set out in “Credit losses
and impairment of assets” above and are reclassified
to receivables when the right to the consideration has
become unconditional.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays non-refundable consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. A contract liability would
also be recognised if the Group has an unconditional
right to receive non-refundable consideration before the
Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a
corresponding receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. For
multiple contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of
unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest accrued
under the effective interest method.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration is
due. If revenue has been recognised before the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration, the amount
is presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less allowance for credit losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition,
as financial liabilities at FVTPL, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables and accruals, amount due to a related company,
amount due to directors of subsidiaries and long service
payment liabilities.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include

financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at FVTPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) E —_ZE " AF =B =+—HI-FE CUBTEHE)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they
are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near
term. This category also includes derivative financial
instruments entered into by the Group that are not
designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships
as defined by HKFRS 9. Separated embedded derivatives
are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or
losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. The net fair value gain or loss
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income does not include any
interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as
at FVTPL are designated at the initial date of recognition,
and only if the criteria in HKFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains or
losses on liabilities designated at FVTPL are recognised in
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, except for the gains or losses arising from the
Group’s own credit risk which are presented in other
comprehensive income with no subsequent reclassification
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. The net fair value gain or loss
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income does not include any
interest charged on these financial liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other
payables and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables and
accruals are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition
of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) #ZE—

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continueqd)
Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at
fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest
expenses is recognised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting police for borrowing costs.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value. Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other
payables are subsequently stated at amortised cost unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at invoice amounts.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted-
average. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management
are also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated statement
of cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Employee benefits

Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

Share-based payments

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to
employees via the Group’s employee share award scheme.
Information relating to these schemes is set out in note 26
to the consolidated financial statements.

Employee share award scheme

The Group operates share award scheme to recognise the
contributions by employees. The fair value of the employee
services received in exchange for the grant of restricted
shares is recognised as employee benefit expense. The
total expense is recognised over the vesting period,
which is the period over which all of the specified vesting
conditions are to be satisfied. The shares held under
share award scheme is administered by an independent
trustee and is funded by the Group’s cash contributions
and recorded as contributions to shares held under share
award scheme, an equity component. The administrator
of the shares held under share award scheme buys the
Company’s shares in the open market for the awards to
employees if applicable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) #ZE—

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they
relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts
of tax are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period,
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax
bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in
the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss
arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or
forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax
losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority and
the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a
period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be
utilised.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to be
utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that
it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based
on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of
carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) E —_ZE " AF =B =+—HI-FE CUBTEHE)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group
has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the following additional
conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered, intend to realise
the current tax assets and settle the current
tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Provisions and contingent liabilities (Continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle
a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another
party, a separate asset is recognised for any expected
reimbursement that would be virtually certain. The amount
recognised for the reimbursement is limited to the carrying
amount of the provision.

Onerous contracts

An onerous contract exists when the Group has a contract
under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the
obligations under the contract exceed economic benefits
expected to be received from the contract. Provisions for
onerous contracts are measured at the present value of the
lower of the expected cost of terminating the contract and
the net cost of fulfilling the contract. The cost of fulfilling the
contract includes both the incremental costs of fulfilling that
contract and an allocation of other costs that relate directly
to fuffiling that contract.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises
from the sale of goods, the provision of services or the use
by others of the Group’s assets under leases in the ordinary
course of the Group’s business.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) #ZE—

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer, at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is expected to
be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

Construction contracts

A contract with a customer is classified by the Group
as a construction contract when the contract relates to
foundation construction works on real estate assets under
the control of the customer and therefore the Group’s
construction activities create or enhance an asset under
the customer’s control.

When the outcome of a construction contract can be
reasonably measured, revenue from the contract is
recognised progressively over time using the output
method, based on direct measurements of the value to
the customer of goods or services transferred to date
(“Value to the Customer”) provided that the Value to
the Customer is established according to the progress
certificate (by reference to the amount of completed works
confirmed by customer) issued by the customer.

The likelihood of the Group earning contractual bonuses
for early completion or suffering contractual penalties for
late completion are taken into account in making these
estimates, such that revenue is only recognised to the
extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal
in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not
occur.

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZE&EBZERERAR
Annual Report 2024/25 —8=M /“HFFiR

ETHF=RB=1T—HLFE CIBTE)

24 EXRGHERKRE
WA RE s (&)

WAEERNBRBHEFHBEEREZTRE &
FEERRERKKMNAERESTRES
BEARBEZFWEANRE - WATBEIEE
M HEMHER > LA BREMEZ I -

B RS & B A e Hfth Uy o B SY BER B & —
$D$|E§D—F .

BiES

GHESEREFINEMEEENMERR
ITREAAR ~EEREERFINEGNDE
RREEN BAEEREZIHABRAREAR
ERERNEE-

ERECONERENCTEFER  GHKRA
RAEHZEZN —EBREFERESES BIREE
B BESALB8BZNERTRBTERD
BE(FERNEHE)) EFERHNEER
BEREHNEEER (H2REFPEINT
TIRERWME) M-

AEBEGIEFTRMBI G AR AL
BT IMBERSNIMNAUEMERIFEZST
BERMUEE AL EEERBRF WA

TERBRAEFAERERLCES GHREDIA -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue and other income (Continued)
Construction contracts (Continued)

When the outcome of the contract cannot be reasonably
measured, revenue is recognised only to the extent of
contract costs incurred that are expected to be recovered.

If at any time the costs to complete the contract are
estimated to exceed the remaining amount of the
consideration under the contract, then a provision is
recognised.

Ground investigation services revenue

A contract with a customer is classified by the Group
as a service contract when the contract relates to work
on ground investigation assets under the control of the
customer and therefore the Group’s construction activities
create or enhance an asset under the customer’s control.

When the outcome of a service contract can be reasonably
measured, revenue from the contract is recognised
progressively over time using the output method, based
on direct measurements of the Value to the Customer
provided that the Value to the Customer is established
according to the progress certificate (by reference to the
amount of completed works confirmed by customer)
issued by the customer.

The likelihood of the Group earning contractual bonuses
for early completion or suffering contractual penalties for
late completion are taken into account in making these
estimates, such that revenue is only recognised to the
extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal
in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not
occeur.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) #ZE—

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue and other income (Continued)
Ground investigation services revenue (Continued)

When the outcome of the contract cannot be reasonably
measured, revenue is recognised only to the extent of
contract costs incurred that are expected to be recovered.

If at any time the costs to complete the contract are
estimated to exceed the remaining amount of the
consideration under the contract, then a provision is
recognised.

Trading of consumer products

Net income from trading of consumer products are
recognised when the customers takes possession of and
accepts the goods.

E-commerce sales, live-streaming and promotion
revenue

E-commerce sales, live streaming and promotion revenue
mainly derives from the merchandise sales in e-commerce
platform and the provision of online promotion services
through social media platform. The promotion services are
performance based. Revenue is recognised when relevant
specific performance measures are fulfilled.

Revenue from other sources
Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over the
periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable. Contingent rentals are recognised as income in
the accounting period in which they are earned.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue and other income (Continued)
Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under the
effective interest method using the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling) that are
not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to
the gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit-impaired
financial assets, the effective interest rate is applied to
the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss
allowance) of the asset.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement
of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the Group
will comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants
that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised as income in profit or loss on a systematic
basis in the same periods in which the expenses are
incurred. Grants that compensate the group for the cost
of an asset are deducted from the carrying amount of the
asset and consequently are effectively recognised in profit
or loss over the useful life of the asset by way of reduced
depreciation expense.

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. Exchange
gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) #ZE—

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. The transaction date is the date on which the
Company initially recognises such non-monetary assets or
liabilities. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are
translated using the foreign exchange rate underlying at the
dates the fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into HK$
at the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement
of financial position items are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the closing foreign exchange rates at the end of
the reporting period. The resulting exchange differences
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount
of exchange differences relating to that foreign operation is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the profit or
loss on disposal is recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the
cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)

or

the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) #ZE—

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)
(b) (Continued)

(Vi) the entity is controlled or joint controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vi)  a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity); and

(vii)  the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are
identified from the financial information provided regularly
to the Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type or
class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES

Critical accounting judgements in applying the
Group’s accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following accounting
judgements:

(i) Income taxes

Significant judgements on the future tax treatment of
certain transactions are required in determining income tax
provisions. The Group carefully evaluates tax implications
of transactions and tax provision are recorded accordingly.
The tax treatment of such transactions is reconsidered
periodically to take into account all changes in tax
legislation.

(ii) Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses
and temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the losses
can be utilised. Significant management judgement is
required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets
that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing
and level of future taxable profits together with future tax
planning strategies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) E —_ZE " AF =B =+—HI-FE CUBTEHE)

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (Continueq)

Sources of estimation uncertainty

(i) Construction contracts arising from the
foundation construction works and ground
investigation services

Revenue from construction contracts arising from
foundation construction works and ground investigation
services contracts are recognised over time using the
output method. Such revenue and profit recognition on
incomplete projects are dependent on estimating the
outcome of the contract, as well as the work done to
date. Actual outcomes in terms of total costs or revenue
may be higher or lower than estimated at the end of the
reporting period, which would affect the revenue and profit
recognised in future years as an adjustment to the amounts
recorded to date.

(i) Impairment of trade and other receivables,
contract assets and loan receivables

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
the trade receivables and contract assets. The provision
matrix is based on days past due for groupings of
various customer segments with similar loss patterns,
and adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to
the customers and the environment. In addition, other
receivables and loan receivables with significant balances
and credit impaired are assessed for ECLs individually. The
provision of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances
and forecast general economic conditions. The information
about the ECLs and the Group’s trade receivables and
contract assets are disclosed in note 29(a). If the financial
condition of the customers or the forecast economic
conditions were to deteriorate, the actual loss allowance
would be higher than estimated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (Continueq)

Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
(i)  Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for property, plant and equipment (including the
right-of-use assets) at the end of each reporting period.
Property, plant and equipment is tested for impairment
when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may
not be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying
value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less
costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation of
the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available
data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length
transaction of similar assets or observable market prices
less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When
value in use calculations are undertaken, management
must estimate the expected future cash flows from the
asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows. Details of which, are disclosed in Note

12(a)(i).
(iv)  Provision for inventories

The Group carries out an inventory review at the end of
each reporting period and estimates the net realisable
value of inventories based primarily on the latest market
prices and current market conditions as well as make
allowance for obsolete and slow-moving inventories.
Such estimates could change significantly as a result of
changes in economic conditions and customers taste.
Where the subsequent estimated net realisable value and/
or allowance for obsolete and slow-moving inventories
differs from the original estimate, a provision or reversal of
provision may be material.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) E —_ZE " AF =B =+—HI-FE CUBTEHE)

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (Continueq)

Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

v) Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing
rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR
is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to
borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to
the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.
The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have to
pay”, which requires estimation when no observable rates
are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into
financing transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to
reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for example,
when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional currency).
The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such
as market interest rates) when available and is required
to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the
subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT
REPORTING

(a) Revenue

The principal activities of the Group are the provision
of foundation construction works, ground investigation
services and financial services, trading of consumer
products and e-commerce business.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
of each significant category is as follows:

sRE M IRRMIE
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MARBZREMRB - HERBEZREBX
%%O

BEREHNZREEFPGHNRANDENDT

2025 2024
“ETRE “EZTF

Revenue from contract with customers
within the scope of HKFRS 15:

ERAMBHEENF155REERN
REERSHZHBA

Revenue from foundation construction works 28 B B2 T2 UK A 210,229,215 219,633,347
Revenue from ground investigation services B BRI AR TS BI U A 46,591,336 65,709,218
Trading of consumer products HEMRES 4,633,291 =
Revenue from e-commerce business KEEFHEFHIWA 34,847,532 2,757,238
Other trading revenue HMEZUA 4,302,598 =
300,603,972 288,099,803
Revenue from other sources KB EMEFENKA
Interest income from financial services B2 RRFEIF EUA 525,000 554,021
301,128,972 288,653,324

Information about the Group’s performance obligation is
summarised below:

Foundation construction works and ground
investigation services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time using
output method, which is based on direct measurements of
value of services delivered or surveys of work performed
with reference to () the progress payment applications
submitted by the Group to the main-contractors and
customers and (i) the certificates from the surveyors of the
main-contractors and customers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) E —_ZE " AF =B =+—HI-FE CUBTEHE)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT
REPORTING (continued)

(a) Revenue (Continued)
Trading of consumer products and other products

The performance obligation is satisfied at a point in
time upon the delivery of consumer products and other
products.

E-commerce business

The performance obligation is satisfied at the point in time
upon the relevant specific performance measures are
fulfilled.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
by the timing of revenue recognition is disclosed in note
4(R)0).

As at 31 March 2025, the aggregated amount of the
transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations under the Group’s existing contracts was
approximately HK$200,400,000 (2024: approximately
HK$275,503,000). This amount represents revenue
expected to be recognised in the future from foundation
construction works and ground investigation services.
The Group will recognise the expected revenue in future
when or as the work is completed or when the obligations
performed, which is expected to occur over the next 1 to 2
years.

(b) Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by business lines. In
a manner consistent with the way in which information
is reported internally to the Group’s senior executive
management for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment, the Group has presented the
following five reportable segments. No operating segments
have been aggregated to form the following reportable
segments.

o Foundation construction works: this segment
provides foundation construction works to
customers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT
REPORTING (Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continueq)

o Ground investigation services: this segment
provides ground investigation services to
customers.

° Financial services: this segment provides

investment, financing and money lending business.

° Trading of consumer products: this segment
engages in the trading of consumer products.

° E-commerce business: this segment engages in the
provision of e-commerce sales live streaming and
promotion services in the social media.

(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s senior
executive management monitors the results, assets and
liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on the
following bases:

Segment assets include all current and non-current
assets with the exception of (i) unallocated head office
and corporate assets, (i) financial assets at FVOCI and
(iii) financial assets at FVTPL. Segment liabilities include
all current and non-current liabilities with the exception of
(i) unallocated head office and corporate liabilities, (i) tax
payable and (iii) deferred tax liabilities.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to revenue generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments
or which otherwise arise from the depreciation of assets
attributable to those segments. The measure used for
reporting segment results is profit/(loss) before tax.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tr e ISR RMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT

REPORTING (Continued)
(b) Segment reporting (Continueq)

(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities

(Continued)

£

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
by the time of revenue recognition, as well as information
regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided
to the Group’s most senior executive management for

ETHF=RB=1T—HLFE CIBTE)

4 WARDEERS (B

(b) HRERE T

) DEEE BEREE ()
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the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of $E< DEHNEREIWMT
segment performance for the years ended 31 March 2025
and 2024 is set out below:
Year ended 31 March 2025
HECS-RESRA=1-HIER
Foundation Ground Trading of
construction  investigation Financial consumer  E-commerce
works services services products business Others Total
HERE
IR DHBARE  SREE  HEREA EES 2t gt
Disaggregated by timing of revenue  BIRARIRHAE
recognition
- Over time - KR 210229215 46,591,336 525,000 - - - 257,345,551
- Ata point in time -EE-HREE - - - 4633201 34847532 4302598 43,783,421
Revenue from external customers ~ SMIZFIKA 210229215 46,591,336 55000 4633201 34847532 4302598 301,128,972
Reportable segment revenue A2RAEA 210229215 46,591,336 525,000 4633291 34,847,532 4,302,598 301,128,972
Reportable segment gross profit J2RAHER 29355719 19,054,529 524,439 627,484 2,766,241 633942 52,962,354
Reportable segment profit/(loss) A2 RAMRMAERR/
before tax (BR (2305733) 4604093  (19.852819) 13790  (8565108)  (4,182016)  (30,267,799)
Interest income from bank deposits BAGAHEHA - - (680,767) (368,034) (1,548) (26436)  (1,076,785)
Interest expenses IS 6,975,862 - 606,993 - 218,574 50,955 7,852,384
Depreciation and amortization ERmEREH
for the year 1,408,087 1,793,877 3,800,174 23,702 468,138 686,671 8,180,599
Impairment losses/(Reversal of impaiment) £&REHEE ZRE
on financial and contract assefs, net B4,/ (RERE) 38 6,003,136 (983) (5,148,372 37,501 11,301 19620 1,012,208
Impairment of property, plant and W BRRREAE
equipment - - 764,877 - 170,673 1,211,420 2,146,970
Reportable segment assets TERAIEE 263,981,085 69,756,617 185,690,765 65,276,116 9,073,320 6,642,895 600,420,798
Capital expenditure ELNEET 6,168050 2219204 12274559 167,300 128,081 592,928 10,610,122
Reportable segment liabilities 2R aRE (183,388,903)  (14,626,129) (327,200,010)  (59,566,473)  (10,574,134)  (1,104,901) (596,550,550)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT

REPORTING (Continued)
(b) Segment reporting (Continueq)

(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities

(Continued)

sRE M IRRMIE
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(b) HEDB
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Year ended 31 March 2024
HETZCME-BA=+-HILEE

Foundation Ground Trading of
construction investigation Financial consumer E-commerce
works services services products business Total
HHER
IR HHEARE 2RRE HERER EaES st
Disaggregated by timing of revenue. M RRBHHE
recognition
- Over time ~Febsrs 219,633,347 65,709,218 554,021 - - 285,896,586
- Atapoint in ime -HE-BEE - - - - 2,757,238 2,757,238
Revenue from external customers NEREHA 219,633,347 65,709,218 554,021 - 2,757,238 288,053,824
Reportable segment revenue EES: 5N 219,633,347 65,709,218 554,021 - 2,757,238 288,653,824
Reportable segment gross prof 2RNHER 30,986,678 19,126,983 553 967 5 2,405,849 53073477
Reportable segment profit/oss) A2RATRREER
before tex (B8 1,405,440 4,791,200 (20,893,310) 11,114,486 1,168,945 (2413,239)
Interest income from bank deposits ROFTHEHA - - (352,909) (289,056) (263) (842,228)
Interest expenses HERZ 6,106,965 S 112502 = 21267 6,040824
Depreciation for the year ERAE 693,431 1,753,967 516,612 = 141,447 3105457
Impairment losses/(Reversal of impaiment) B R ANEEZHfE
on financial and contract assets, net 18/ (RERE) S8 2,038,284 3,042 11,173,311 (10,386,260) 3230 2,831,607
Reportable segment assets n2ENHEE 283,989,947 65,393,881 165,692,900 67,079,789 6,952,742 589,109,259
Capttal expendfture ELGET 459,155 204,013 1,067,195 - 650,092 2,380,455
Reportable segment ibilties EE2 it (201,092,089) (14073889 (286619,329) (60,375,531 (13748 (629745%4)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT
REPORTING (Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continueq)

(i) Reconciliations of reportable segment
revenues, profit or loss, assets and liabilities

“ECAF=ZA=+—HLFE CUBTE)

4 WARDEERS (E

(b) IHEDE)

(i) ETEZEPEMA IRt EERBRZ IR

2025 2024
“ETHRE —“ZTAF
Revenue KA
Reportable segment revenue and consolidated A 2R D BWA KL S WA
revenue (note 4(a)) (F15E4(a)) 301,128,972 288,653,824
Loss E5i8
Reportable segment loss (note 4(b)) A E2FRDEBEIE (FYHEH( ) (30,287,793)  (2,413,239)
Net change in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL 2 AF Azt ABmAI SRR
:’TJX EU NTFEEEHF 58 520,800 (620,800)
Unallocated head office and corporate expenses FOBAAMEBEREEMASY  (22,129,184) (16,406,569)
Consolidated loss before tax PRI AR & R51E (51,896,177) (19,340,608)
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets (note 4(b)) 2| EEE FI5E4(0) 600,420,798 589,109,259

Elimination of inter-segment and head
office’s receivables

70 B 1 K 4B 3% = e MR WA B
R

(342,195,049) (278,885,493)

258,225,749 310,223,766

Financial assets at FVOCI BAFESAHMEE

g Eﬁ%miéﬁ - 2,734,980
Financial assets at FVTPL BATESFAEGRD

{:Elﬁ _NJX 2,480,000 1,959,200
Unallocated head office and corporate assets FOMBMERMEXEE 6,567,145 9,055,927
Consolidated total assets EEBEMRE 267,272,894 323,973,873
Liabilities afd
Reportable segment liabilities (note 4(b)) 2| EEE FI5E4(0)) 596,550,550 562,974,524

Elimination of inter-segment and head
office’s payables

D BB R AR R AR YRR
R

(439,361,969) (390,487,095)

157,188,581 172,487,429
Tax payable FET TR I 1,191,435 2,448,933
Deferred tax liabilities LUEIE% E 1,376,145 513,656
Unallocated head office and corporate liabilities KoM ERERTPESR 57,815,946 57,695,138
Consolidated total liabilities ix él\ BE48%8 217,572,107 233,145,156
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tr o ISR RMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT
REPORTING (Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continueq)
(i)  Information about major customers

Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of the total

4 WARDEERS (E

(b) IHEDE)

(i) BHETEEFRBEH

THE= E +—HLEFE QUBTHE)

RERMEEHAERBRATHREBEI0%M

revenue of the Group for the corresponding years are as ERWBANT :
follows:
2025 2024

ZEZRFE —TT@EF
Foundation construction works: MMERETRE:
Customer A ZRA 47,602,519 N/A* R EMA
Customer B ZFB 47,159,870 N/A* R EMA
Customer C ERC N/A*FERB 63,406,012

(iv)  Geographical information

Revenue from the relevant customer was less than 10% of the
Group’s total revenue for the respective year.

KH210% ©

(iv) HEZF

* REBRAEP AR BREEHRERBUWATE

The geographical information of the revenue is set out as WARNEENTT :
follows:
2025 2024
—E-HRE —“ZTAF
Hong Kong 58 261,978,842 285,896,586
Mainland China e 25 39,150,130 2,757,238
301,128,972 288,653,824
The geographical information of the non-current assets is JFERBEENMEERT
set out as follows:
2025 2024
—S-HFE _—T_MF
Hong Kong 58 22,399,835 11,339,831
Mainland China FRE A RE 197,662 1,729,615
22,597,497 13,069,446
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
nv'F Ej. ﬁ#ﬁﬁ Btl.-‘-I

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) E —_ZE " AF =B =+—HI-FE CUBTEHE)

5 OTHER INCOME, OTHER GAINS AND 5 HfthltA - i R ES 163 ER
LOSSES, NET

2025 2024
—SRE “ZTMF
Rental income from lease of machinery FEEMMME U A 165,800 40,000
Bank interest income IRITHIBURA 1,149,428 655,521
Other interest income HF] BUA - 1,275,842
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEVME -BERREBZWE 1,015,000 135,235
Net change in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL @A T Bzt AEZN R
BEMNATESEH T 520,800 (520,800)
Foreign exchange gains, net PE UK Z50F 2R 170,274 43,457
Sales of raw materials THERME 588,605 406,040
Government grant* B 48 Al 1,200,000 =
Write back of other payables H fh (S ZUE# ] 1,631,760 =
Others Eh 181,255 30,676
6,622,922 2,065,971
* During the year ended 31 March 2025, there were no * HE_ZHF=—A=1+—HIEFE ZEHMM
unfulfiled conditions or other contingencies attaching to these EAREMRGHREMBINEHFo
subsidies.
6 LOSS BEFORE TAX 6 PRI EIES1E
Loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): BRIATEREL&NEG, (5t A) THSEBERE
o
2025 2024
ZEZRFE ZTTWHF
(@) Finance costs (@) FAERD
Interest on borrowing from a related company FE—EHEAREEZFE 2,666,250 2,866,250
Interest on borrowing from directors of subsidiaries KEWBARNESEES S FE 7,139,991 6,100,000
Interest on lease liabilities (note 12(b)) HESEFE ¢EEE12() 754,146 187,645

10,560,387 9,153,895
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SRR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &

THE= E +—HLEFE QUBTHE)

equipment with aggregate amount of approximately
HK$41,047,000 (2024: approximately HK$42,061,000) are
included in “Cost of sales” in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2025.

6 LOSS BEFORE TAX (Continued) 6 [RMAIEE &)
2025 2024
—T-RFE _—T_MF
(b)  Staff costs* (including directors’ (b) BIZ(8FES
remuneration) il =)
Salaries, wages and other benefits s TEREMER 90,526,675 74,371,251
Contribution to defined contribution retirement plans 5 & HEGR AR5 &I B9 L 3,136,084 2,216,132
93,662,759 76,587,383
() Otheritems (c) HftIER
Cost of sales™: & Al A
— cost of construction — SR 208,410,303 235,228,904
— cost of services provided —RHIRFE AR 18,577,132 351,443
— cost of goods sold —IHEERAAE 21,179,183 =
248,166,618 235,580,347
Depreciation and amortisation: IME R -
— property, plant and equipment* o/ E NNk
(note 12(a)) (MFEE12(0)) 3,768,230 2,477,293
— right-of-use assets (note 12(a)) —FREEE (F:E12(@)) 5,230,387 1,657,720
- intangible assets (note 13) I EE ([E13) 6,375 -
9,004,992 4,135,013
(Reversal of impairment)/Impairment losses on TRINRENEEZ CRERRD)
financial and contract assets, net: ORERS1EFEE
— loan receivables —ENER (4,297,136) (16,725,896)
— trade receivables and contract assets —“”%F@WTAIEEZ S#EE 6,130,536 (8,400,236)
— other receivables —H g W =R (2,890,022) 29,012,657
(1,056,622) 3,886,525
Auditor’s remuneration: ZEENENE -
— audit services —EBIZIRTS 1,300,000 1,030,000
— non-audit services —IEBIZARTS 530,000 =
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEME BEREZHE2WE  (1,015,000) (135,235)
Impairment of property, plant and equipment M~ BB R B R E
(note 12(a)(i) (MFEE12(0)()) 2,541,814 -
Foreign exchange gains, net b W e JF 2R (170,274) (43,457)
* The staff costs and depreciation of property, plant and * BHE_Z_AF=-PR=+—HLEFE #EHEH

41,047, ooo;%m (Z=Z U4 4942,061,0005 7T) AY
BETIMARYE BERRBITEF ALGERER
BITEH & A4S A o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tr e ISR RMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) E —_ZE " AF =B =+—HI-FE CUBTEHE)

7 INCOME TAX EXPENSES 7 RS
(a) Income tax expenses in the consolidated (@) SFEEIRPHMRERAXNE:

statement of profit or loss represents:

2025 2024
—SRFE _—T_MF

Current tax: ENHATRIA :

Charge for the year FAZH 550,179 917,814

Over-provision in previous years BEFEEBREE A (5,676) (5,271)

544,503 912,543

Deferred tax IEIERIA :

Charge/(Credit) for the year (note 7(c)) FREZH (KR FEE7() 862,489 (152,729)

1,406,992 759,814

Notes: P SE

[0} Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands, 0} REHSHEINRAKRRG AEEBAGMHES
the Group is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman BEEMFSHK
Islands.

(i) The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year ended (i AEEGERRENL16.6% (ZFZMHF !

31 March 2025 is calculated at 16.5% (2024: 16.5%) on 16.5%) ZMEGHRBE_S_AF=A=+—H
the estimated assessable profits for the year, except for one IEEEEBNGREE EAEE —RHEAR
subsidiary of the Group, which is a qualifying corporation RBRAFERARE T 2 B EBRS
under the two-tiered Profits Tax rate regime.
For this subsidiary, the first HK$2 milion of the assessable wla% Mt A Bl = > H2,000,0008 7t 2 SR i A
profits is taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable profits 28.25% YR R H K > HERME SR a7 #16.5% )
is taxed at 16.5%. The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for MEGR - ZNBARZEBNEREBR T
this subsidiary was calculated at the same basis in 2024. ZNFMERREESE

(iii According to the relevant announcements of income tax (iii R I8 B0 5 A0 75 48 /5 25 10 B/ BL R 12 2 PR 1S AR
relief policy for small low-profit enterprises issued by the EBURHAER A S WS T RN ER &
State Administration of Taxation, a lower corporate income EEARENEEMER (REMRER) X5
tax (“CIT") rate is applicable to small scale enterprises with W HE_S_MR_F_AF=/=+—HIHF
low profitability that meet certain conditions, pursuant to EEREER/NEEENEASTEBAR
which, the subsidiaries qualified as small-scale enterprises %3,000,0007T B9 FE 2R 1R i M) 12 BRI 5% (A%
with assessable profits not over RMB3,000,000 are 25%IERIN Em A 2 (R EFTISRE20%) #iFH o

effectively taxable at 5% (i.e. 20% CIT rate on the 25% of the
assessable profits) for the years ended 31 March 2024 and
2025.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tr o ISR RMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) iZE _E_HF= ﬁ +—RBIEEE CUBTEHE)
7 INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continuea) 7 FriSHRmAEZ (2@
(b) Reconciliation between income tax expense (b) FRiERAZBIERREATNRRAE
and accounting loss before tax at applicable sHESIE Z RV AR -
tax rates:
2025 2024
—SRFE _—T_MF
Loss before tax FRIGAIES 18 (51,896,177) (19,340,608)
Tax at the statutory tax rate BETEME §+§E’Jﬁlﬁ (10,156,181)  (3,983,052)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses O EBEZNREEE 6,981,499 7,980,223
Tax effect of non-taxable income BEFRIMANRBZE (1,424,414)  (4,659,241)
Tax effect of tax benefits not recognised R %RIE@%E’J
M E 6,013,264 1,433,155
Over-provision in previous years BEFEBREEE (5,676) (5,271)
Others Hith (1,500) (6,000)
Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate BRAERBRREFAEZ
MRIEZ M 1,406,992 759,814
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) E —_ZE " AF =B =+—HI-FE CUBTEHE)

7 INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continuea)
(c) Income tax in the consolidated statement of
financial position represents:

Deferred tax liabilities recognised

The components of deferred tax assets and liabilities
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position and the movements during the year are as follows:

7  FRfSMAER (@)
() HREMBRRRBOFREHEE:

BREZiEEREL R

HRAEVMBRARNECHEIELENRBEERE
BREME D RINEANEFHMT !

Depreciation
allowances in
excess of the

related

depreciation

ITEEE

Deferred tax arising from: EERIERAR - 8RR T &8

At 1 April 2023 H-E-_=FMA—AH (666,385)

Credited to profit or loss (note 7(a)) R8P0k (k7)) 152,729
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 M-E-NFE=A=+—HK

—E_NEMA—H (513,656)

Charged to profit or loss (note 7(a)) RiERFPEA (H5E7(0) (862,489)

At 31 March 2025 WZE-RFE=A=+—H (1,376,145)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

7  INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

(d) Deferred tax assets and liabilities not
recognised

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note
2.4 1o the consolidated financial statements, the Group has
not recognised deferred tax assets due to unpredictability
of future profit streams.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had unused tax
losses of approximately HK$134,966,000 (2024:
approximately HK$108,911,000) in which approximately
HK$104,355,000 (2024: approximately HK$93,355,000)
can be carried forward indefinitely, while the remaining
unused tax losses of approximately HK$30,611,000 (2024:
approximately HK$15,556,000) will be expired in five years
from the respective dates of incurrence.

In addition, as at 31 March 2025, the Group had other
deductible temporary differences of approximately
HK$1,696,000 (2024: nil), including the temporary
differences arising from right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities of HK$1,749,000 (2024: approximately
HK$2,390,000) and HK$1,879,000 (2024: approximately
HK$2,534,000), respectively, which has not been
recognised.

As at 31 March 2025, no deferred tax liability has been
recognised on the temporary difference in relation to
the undistributed earnings of approximately HK$4,000
(2024: HK$1,169,000) of a subsidiary in the PRC because
the Group is in a position to control the timing of the
distribution of these retained profits.

sRE M IRRMIE

THE= E +—HLEFE QUBTHE)

7  FRfSMAER (2
(d KREDEERETERER

BREBGEEHHBRRWE2. AR 2 G 5T ER
B PSR 2R e M) ZRRBE LA FE 5T > A B I HE S
PEERIAE £ -

RTE_RAF=R=+—H XEEBBEXIHE
MIERE4134,966,0008 T (ZE_MF :
#9108,911,00087t) » EH4104,355,000
BT (CE-WME : 493,355,000% 70)
ERIAE MBE TRABRAREBEEIEY
30,611,000 (ZZ U4 : 415,556,000
B BREEELEEHERFREM.

sy R _RE=ZBA=+—HB ~&E@H
H fth 7] 40 6 & BRF 1 Z 2B 491,696,000 70 (Z
TTNE D E)  BERBARBERNGER#E
EENTMEEEMEAZERUEEZESINA
1,749,0008 7T (ZE W™ : 892,390,000
BIt) &1,879,0008 c (ZE_ME &
2,534,000 7T) °

RTE_RAF=B=+—H HRAEFBIZE
HZEREBANDIKED HER —B P
BB ABMNRDIKEFA4L,0008T (ZF
T PO 11,169,000/ T) BN ERIEERE
BBEERIBEEE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &

“ECAF=ZA=+—HLFE CUBTE)

8 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8 ERHM
Directors’ remuneration during the years ended 31 March BHE_ZE_AFERZZENFE=RA=+—H
2025 and 2024 which was included in the staff costs LEFEES AGEHBRRIETEO)MIEEN
as disclosed in note 6(b) to the consolidated financial BTRANEEFMNOT :
statements is as follows:
2025 2024
ZECRE “E@EF
Fee wE 1,484,166 2,063,626
Other emoluments: HME < :
Discretionary bonus BB TEAL 220,000 100,000
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind s 2 RBEYER 1,920,000 2,081,195
Pension scheme contributions BIREHEHER 36,000 28,500
Subtotal IINEF 2,176,000 2,209,695
Total 4Bt 3,660,166 4,273,321
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

8 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

(Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2025

sRE M IRRMIE

THE= E +—HLEFE QUBTHE)

8 EEHM =

BE_ZT_AF="A=+—HLFE

Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ Discretionary  and benefits scheme
fee bonus inkind contributions Total
A4
2k MIBTEL  REMERN  BAHEMHER st
Executive Directors BTES
Mr. Bai Huawei HERLE - 220,000 960,000 18,000 1,198,000
Mr. Wang Yu TREE - - 960,000 18,000 978,000
Mr. Yan Shuai (retired on 19 August 2024)  BEN%E4E (MR- -M&E
NBTHABED 276,774 - - - 276,774
276,774 220,000 1,920,000 36,000 2,452,774
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Xu Lin (Chairman) ST E (ER)
(appointed on 4 November 2024) (RZEZMEF
+—ANBEZA 147,000 - - - 147,000
Mr. Lui Kwok Wai BERLTE 240,000 - - - 240,000
Mr. Zhang Zhenyi (retired on RiREAE (RS2 NE
19 August 2024) NB+ABED 92,258 - - - 92,258
Mr. Chui Kwong Kau (resigned on BERRAE (RIS ME
4 November 2024) +—AMB#HD 142,667 - - - 142,667
621,925 - - - 621,925
Independent Non-executive Directors ~ BIIJFHITES
Mr. Jiang Senlin ERMEE 192,000 - - - 192,000
Mr. Zhang Yi RELE 192,000 - - - 192,000
Ms. Dan Xi BBzt
(appointed on 4 November 2024) (B2 mE
+—-BNHEZRD 58,800 - - - 58,800
Mr. Eric, Todd ERERE
(resigned on 4 November 2024) RZB-_mE
+—BlRET) 142,667 - - - 142,667
585,467 - - - 585,467
Total @t 1,484,166 220,000 1,920,000 36,000 3,660,166
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

nv-F

SR EEHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &

8 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

(Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2024

8

BE_T_ME=ZA=+—HLFE

ESHM =

“ECAF=ZA=+—HLFE CUBTE)

Salaries,
allowances  Retirement
Directors’ Discretionary  and benefits scheme
fee bonus inkind contributions Total
LEA L
EEng METEL  REWEH BKHIHS o |
Executive Directors HiTES
Mr. Yan Shuai (Chairman) BENEE (XB) 60,000 60,000 1,071,317 16,500 1,207,817
Mr. Bai Huawei (appointed on HERLE W2 =F
7 September 2023) NLBtHEZD - 40,000 680,000 10,500 730,500
Mr. Wang Yu (appointed on TRt RIZZAF
5 January 2024) —RiH ﬁﬁéﬁc) 222,581 - 64,516 1,500 288,597
Mr. Zhu Jiayu (resigned on RERAE RZTT=E
8 November 2023) +—BN\HE&D 610,400 - 265,362 - 875,762
892,981 100,000 2,081,195 28,500 3,102,676
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Zhang Zhenyi RIRERE 198,400 - - - 198,400
Mr. Chui Kwong Kau ERMEE 198,400 - - - 198,400
Mr. Lui Kwok Wai (appointed on SEELE RZE-mE
5 January 2024) —BRBEEZD 57,419 = = = 57,419
454,219 - - - 454,219
Independent Non-executive Directors ~ BiFFH{ITES
Mr. Eric, Todd ERERE 198,400 - - - 198,400
Mr. Jiang Senlin (appointed on ERMEE (RT22=F
7 September 2023) HEtHEZD 136,000 - - - 136,000
Mr. Zhang Yi (appointed on REXERZEZ=F
7 September 2023) LB tREZF 136,000 = = = 136,000
Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy (resigned on BEELE (RZI2ME
5 January 2024) —BRAHD 183,226 = = = 183,226
Mr. Leung Ka Fai, Nelson (resigned on RERLE (W22 =&
7 September 2023) ABLHED 62,800 - - - 62,800
716,426 - - - 716,426
Total w5t 2,063,626 100,000 2,081,195 28,500 4,273,321
During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, none of RBEE_ES_AFER_E_NFE=B=+—

the Directors was granted share options, in respect of their
services to the Group under the share option scheme of

the Group.

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the Directors as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. Neither the chief executive
officer nor any of the Directors waived any emoluments

during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

9 EMOLUMENTS OF FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

The five highest paid individuals of the Group did
not consist any of the Directors of the Company (the
“Directors”) for the year ended 31 March 2025 and
2024, whose emoluments are disclosed in note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements. The emoluments in
respect of the remaining individuals are as follows:

sRE M IRRMIE

THE= E +—HLEFE QUBTHE)

9 IHAREHMAINNE

BE_ZT_hFEAR_FE_NF=RA=1+—H
LFE - AEBIRESHMA TLIFEME
ABREE(TEF)) EMERENGEMH
HERMES - HERA T T :

2025 2024

ZEZRE —TTHEF

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R REYER 9,583,462 8,380,000
Discretionary bonus BB TEAL 1,500,000 1,500,000
Retirement scheme contributions BIRETEIHER 36,000 36,000
11,119,462 9,916,000

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest
paid individuals (including Directors and employees) or

RB&EE_T_AFEFREFENEF=ZRA=+—
HEEE AEEHERLRESHFMAL
(BREFKER) HEMESFABE > X

other directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the EABEBEMAZREMAXNERZNNE
Group, or as compensation for loss of office. HAERBERAE-
The emoluments of five (2024: five) individuals with the hEB(CEINF AR Ra oA TS
highest emoluments are within the following bands: TFEUTF %ﬁ & :
2025 2024
—E-RE —“ZTAF
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A® A
Below 1,000,000 1,000,000L4 = =
1,000,000-1,500,000 1,000,000—1,500,000 - -
1,500,001-2,000,000 1,500,001 —2,000,000 -
2,000,001-2,500,000 2,000,001 —2,500,000 5 4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) #ZE—

ETHF=RB=1T—HLFE CIBTE)

10 DIVIDENDS 10 K2
The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final EENUAERZRNEBEE A E=H
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2025. No dividend —t+t—BLEFEEZXRH HQ ZIK ’z} I ES
has been declared or paid by the Company for the years RKEKETEEZZTZ i"I E EZ “EWFE=H
ended 31 March 2025 and 2024. =t+—BLEFEZRE
11. LOSS PER SHARE 11. SkREE
(a) Basic loss per share (@) BREXEHE
The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to KRB EEANEBLERELABEELZ T
owners of the Company is based on the following: BEE
2025 2024
—TRE “ZTMF
Loss E5i8
Loss attributable to owners of the Company (HK$) KNBHEE ANEMEBE (Bt (51,429,751)  (20,621,836)
(Restated)
(BRE5)
Number of shares iR &8
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the st ESREAREEZ ZER
purpose of basic loss per share I8 128,240,855 93,876,074

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the calculation of the
basic loss per share attributable to owners of the Company
was based on (i) the loss attributable to owners of the
Company and (ii) the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue which was adjusted by the effect of (a)
3,164,500 shares (adjusted for the share consolidation
(note 26(c)(i) held for the Group’s share award scheme,
and (b) the rights issue which was completed subsequent
to the end of the reporting period on 9 May 2025 (note
32(a)).

Comparative figure has also been adjusted on the
assumption that the rights issue has been effective as at 1
April 2023.

(b) Diluted losses per share

There were no diluted potential shares in existence during
the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tr o ISR RMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) iZE _E_HF= ﬁ +—RBIEEE CUBTEHE)
12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND 12 ME- -BERRH
EQUIPMENT
(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (@ FREEHIER
Right-of-use Leasehold Furniture Motor
assets Machinery improvements  and fixtures vehicles Total
EREERE 220 HERE GARKE HE b
Cost: B
At 1 Aprl 2023 RIB-=F
mAE—H 4,475,211 78,444,869 700,030 2,811,751 16,122,781 102,554,642
Additions g 2,269,238 561,400 - 122,365 1,053,995 4,006,998
Disposals HE - (410,000) - (600,515) - (1010515
Exchange realignments ER A (179,367) = = (5,669) = (185,036)
At 31 March 2024 RZEZmE
=A=1+—-H 6,565,082 78,596,269 700,030 2,327,932 17,176,776 105,366,089
Additions Eilpi 10,870,793 4,979,700 1,308,715 930,403 3,391,304 21,480,915
Disposals HE - (3,206,000) - - (2,636,800 (5,842,800)
Written off b (3,077,457) - - (23,730) - (3,101,187)
Lease modification HEET (61,500) - - - - (61,500)
Exchange realignment EREE (38,047) - 864 (412) - (37,595)
At 31 March 2025 RZIZZ1F
=ZA=+-H 14,258,871 80,369,969 2,009,609 3,234,193 17,931,280 117,803,922

Accumulated depreciation ~ BiHFERHE
and impairment:

At 1 April 2023 RZE-_=%MNA—AH 2,605,818 76,130,031 409,397 2,249,922 11,752,077 93,147,245
Charge for the year ERZH 1,657,720 903,518 60,830 189,736 1,323,209 4,135,013
Disposals HE S (410,000) S (597,582) - (1,007,582
Exchange realignments ERAE (141,737) - - (2,216) - (143,953)
At 31 March 2024 RS [NE

ZA=t+-H 4121801 76,623,549 470,227 1,839,860 13075286 96,130,723
Charge for the year FERZE 5,230,387 1,481,705 340,458 353,140 1,592,927 8,998,617
Disposals HE - (3,206,000) = - (2,136,800)  (5,342,800)
Written off i (3,077,457) - = (23,730) - (3,101,187)
Impairment (note (a)(i)) HE (f5EE)) 2,084,324 = 300,854 156,636 = 2,541,814
Exchange realignment EREE (25,956) - 257 (282) - (25,981)
At 31 March 2025 R-E-RE

=A=+-H 8,333,099 74,899,254 1,111,796 2325624 12,531,413 99,201,186
Net carrying amount IREFE
At 31 March 2025 R-BEZRE

=A=+-H 5,925,772 5,470,715 897,813 908,569 5,399,867 18,602,736
At 31 March 2024 RZE_ME

=B=+—H 2,443 281 1,072,720 229,803 488,072 4,101,490 9,235,366
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ll‘l

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) #ZE—

12

(a)

SR EEHRRME

PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Reconciliation of carrying amount (Continued)
Note (i):

As at 31 March 2025, as the Directors considered that
there were impairment indicators on the property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets of each of its financial
services and e-commerce business segments because of
the substantial loss incurred by these segments during the
year. The Group performed an impairment test on a cash-
generating unit (the “CGU”) of each of the financial services
and e-commerce business segments.

The respective recoverable amounts of the CGU regarding
the financial services and e-commerce business segments
were determined based on a value in use calculation (the “VIU
Calculation”) using cash flow projection based on financial
budget prepared and approved by the management of the
Group. The key assumptions involved in the VIU Calculation
separately regarding the financial services and e-commerce
business segments were the discount rate of 15% and
budgeted gross margin from 23% to 100%.

Based on the respective VIU Calculation, the impairment of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of
approximately HK$457,000 (2024: nil) and approximately
HK$2,084,000 (2024 nil), respectively, were provided during
the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (Continued)

sRE M IRRMIE

THE= E +—HLEFE QUBTHE)

12 YE- -BERSE (E)

(b) Right-of-use assets (b) EREEE
The analysis of the net carrying amount of right-of-use KEMEERNE P NERAEEERA FE
assets by class of underlying asset is as follows: HNoaMmEswT :
2025 2024
“EZRFE ZTMWHE
Right-of-use assets EREEE
carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and R AR RETITE K
impairment BB ER) 5,925,772 2,443,281

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases

RN EREERXIEB /D&Y

recognised in profit or loss is as follows: T
2025 2024
ZEZHRFE T WE
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREESERE 5,230,387 1,657,720
Impairment of right-of-use assets EREEESERE 2,084,324 =
Interest on lease liabilities (note 6(a)) HEaERE (M5E6@) 754,146 187,645
Expense relating to short-term leases BIGHRE E B RS
— machinery — 1 21,911,333 17,490,234
— properties —¥ % 3,093,529 2,166,000

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were
approximately HK$10,871,000 (2024: approximately
HK$2,269,000). This amount related to the capitalised
lease payments payable under new tenancy agreements.

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity
analysis of lease liabilities are set out in notes 21(c), 24 and
29(b) to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

The Group has obtained the right to use of the properties
as its office and warehouses through tenancy agreements.
The leases typically run for an initial period of 2 to 3 years.

There was no lease extension options or early termination
options in the leases entered by the Group for years ended
31 March 2025 and 2024.

FRHIEEREEEL10,871,0008 7T (Z
T POLE 492,269,000 7T) c XS REE T
EZEETEMNNERCESERIEHERE -

EEMH&E’Jfﬁﬁmuﬁm BUKBEESENE
BABERDMZEBDNE NG BHREMN
21(c)~ 24%29(b) °

AEBCEBRHEERZNERANERYEF
REPRERBE - ZEHE—RIOT HHM
E=fFo

FERRBE T _AFRB_NFE=A
=t+—HBLEFESYNEETEEHEZR
IR A4 LEHE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tr e ISR RMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) E —_ZE " AF =B =+—HI-FE CUBTEHE)

13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

13 HEFREE

Club
membership Trademark Licence Total
3 HiE R st
Year ended 31 March 2025 BE-_F-aF¥=RA=+—-H
LLEE
At 1 April 2024: RZE-NEMA—A .
Cost %N 290,000 - - 290,000
Accumulated amortisation RET#H - - - -
Net carrying amount REEE 290,000 - - 290,000
At 1 April 2024, net of RoE-mEmA—R>
accumulated amortisation MR H#E 290,000 = = 290,000
Additions NE - 90,000 850,000 940,000
Amortisation during the year FEREE - (6,375) - (6,375)
At 31 March 2025, net of accumulated W_ZE-HE=A=+—H>
amortisation MeRR e 290,000 83,625 850,000 1,223,625
At 31 March 2025 RZZEZEF=RA=+—H
Cost RN 290,000 90,000 850,000 1,230,000
Accumulated amortisation REt# - (6,375) - (6,375)
Net carrying amount REFE 290,000 83,625 850,000 1,223,625
Year ended 31 March 2024 HE-T_NFE=RA=+-H
LLEE
At 1 April 2023 RZE-=Z&MA—-H
Cost RN 290,000 - - 290,000
Accumulated amortisation Rty - - - -
Net carrying amount RESE 290,000 = = 290,000
At 1 April 2023, net of R_E_=FNA—R
accumulated amortisation B R+ 290,000 = = 290,000
Amortisation during the year FREH - - - -
At 31 March 2024, net of RIE_ME=/=+—A"
accumulated amortisation bR 290,000 = = 290,000
At 31 March 2024 RZZ_RE=R=+-H
Cost RN 290,000 - - 290,000
Accumulated amortisation RE#H - - - -
Net carrying amount REFE 290,000 - - 290,000

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZE&EBZERERAR
Annual Report 2024/25 —8=M /“HFFiR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Club membership

Club membership has an indefinite useful life and is
tested for impairment annually.

Trademark
Trademark has a finite useful life for 8 years and is
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment.

Licence

Licence has an indefinite useful life and is tested for
impairment annually.

13

sRE M IRRMIE

E-FBRF= ﬁ +—HLEFE QUBTHE)

B EE (@)
L

CRNACAERSERB BFENT
(B R &l e

BT

BN ERERRE R ARR
stEEE R B EARK-

R 58

RN E R AR R & E T
AER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) #ZE—

14 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

ETHF=RB=1T—HLFE CIBTE)

14 §é¢ﬁaxam25wﬁmaﬁ

2025 2024
—TRE “ZMHF
Investment in equity securities — Unlisted, at fair value ZAFETE 2B AF S
(note 29(f)) "E—JEL™
(BMF5E29() - 2,734,980

As at 31 March 2024, the above unlisted equity investment
represented approximately 19.7% equity interest in Matsu
Gami IP Development Limited (the “Matsu Gami”),
an entity established in the BVI, which was irrevocably
designated as financial assets at FVOCI as the Group
considered this investment to be strategic in nature. The
Group engaged an independent professional valuer to
determine the fair value of this equity investment as at
31 March 2024 by using discounted cash flow method.
Details of the key assumptions used in the valuation are set
out in note 29(f) to the consolidated financial statements.

During the year, the Group further recorded a fair value
loss of approximately HK$1,135,000 for the financial
assets at FVOCI, which has been subsequently disposed
at a consideration of HK$1,600,000. Upon the disposal
of the financial assets at FVOCI, the fair value reserve was
released to the accumulated losses.

N _E_MNE=ZB=+—H>» L IEFEHFRAE
KREEREBRELBEEN LN —BERNM
IPERBARAT (THR#)) NA19.7% K% > A
RAEBRAZREBREMEE  ZREAFT
Bt mIEE AR ATESAEMZE KRS
HNEMmEE- AEEBZR—RBILEEXEMGEM
BERAWRRSRELIETZRAKZER
TE T HE=ZB=+—HHAFE BFREMGE
PR ANERBRRAEBENGETERE
B 5£29(f) °

RERN AEEREAFEFAEMZE
KaNEeHEEE—IREFSLAFEBEY
1,135,000 &S #&ME1,600,000%8
TFULHE - HERATFEFAEMEZE RS
NEMEER A FERECELORTER
ﬁqo

15 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 15 BMATFEFABENEREE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2025 2024
ZE-HRE —“ZTAF
Investment in equity securities — Listed in BNTFESEZREEBSE
Hong Kong, at fair value (note 29(f) BE—RNEB L™ (FsE29() 2,480,000 1,959,200

The fair value of listed equity investments is determined
with reference to quoted market bid price from the Stock
Exchange and within level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. The
equity investments were classified as financial assets at
FVTPL as they were held for trading.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SRR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

A

THE= E +—HLEFE QUBTHE)

16 INVENTORIES 16 =&
2025 2024
—E-RE —“ZTAF
Finished goods &AL 9,447,328 -
17 CONTRACT ASSETS 17 BHNEE
2025 2024
ZETHRE —“ZTAF
Contract assets arising from: UFREENEGHNEE .
— foundation construction works —MEERTRE 79,629,124 92,841,123
— ground investigation services — = BRI AR 75 13,182,524 26,974,965
92,811,648 119,816,088
Less: Impairment B ORE (4,545,493)  (2,260,836)
88,266,155 117,555,252
Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of HEBEIACHNEESHEBRNTEN —BKIZ N

contract assets recognised are as follows:

The Group’s foundation construction works and ground
investigation services which require stage payments
over the construction/service period once milestones
are reached as application submitted to the customers/
certificate issued by the customer.

At 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group’s foundation
construction works and ground investigation services
typically have an agreed retention period of three months to
one year for 5% - 10% of the contract value, which amount
is included in contract assets until the end of the retention
period as the Group’s entitlement to this final payment is
conditional on the Group’s foundation construction work
satisfactorily passing inspection.

R T

EE R A Lﬁl%&&iﬂﬁﬂﬁﬂﬁlﬁﬁgx
—Et%ffﬁffﬁ(ﬁ%)ﬁi B EREHR
&) B ER IR B ﬁbﬁxﬁ%’ﬂo

N _E_HER_E-_MNE=HB=+—H">
NEBBRENEESREI0N I HERRTR
&i%@%%%ﬁm%ﬁ B—-—KA=EA
F—F O ZeBREEREPERTAFTAEGNE
E RRAXEEER ﬁ?%ﬁﬁm%ﬂﬁx
EEMERERETRIENEBRKEBHOUES-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) E —_ZE " AF =B =+—HI-FE CUBTEHE)

17 CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued)

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses,
which is based on days past due of contract assets for
groupings of various customer segments with similar loss
patterns and adjusted for forward-looking factors specific
to the customers and the environment. Details of the
provision matrix and the movements in the loss allowance
for impairment of contract assets are set out in note 29(a)
to the consolidated financial statements.

18 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

17 BHNEE (&

BMEDTRESREBHET ERERERE
RS ERRPEESER HNERAEFRLE
BEANERFEDEZGNEENBAR XK
SAECURBERARENREMBMERRE
LR - ARBEERRGNEEREBERE
BEINFBHN G HFRERMEE29(0) -

18 BB RHEWRIE

2025 2024
—R"RFE _—T_MF
Trade receivables (Note) B S rWrIE (s 19,326,142 31,800,294
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables e TR mIB R EA
FEURRIE 51,213,072 50,528,742
70,539,214 82,329,036
Less: Impairment B RE
— trade receivables (Note) —B S EUIE (s (5,023,014) (1,177,123)
— other receivables —HE M fE YR IE (29,087,346) (32,000,760)
(34,110,360) (33,177,883)
36,428,854 49,151,153
Note: MyeE -

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit,
except for new customers, where payment in advance is normally
required. Trade receivables are normally due within 30 to 60 days from
the certificate date or 60 to 90 days from the invoice date. Further
details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in note 29(a) to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivable balances. As at the
end of the reporting period, the Group had concentrations
of credit risk as the trade receivables mainly related to a
few number of customers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

18 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses,
which is based on days past due for groupings of various
customer segments with similar loss patterns, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the customers and
the environment. Details of the provision matrix and the
movements in loss allowance for impairment of trade
and other receivables are set out in note 29(a) to the
consolidated financial statements.

Ageing analysis

As at the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of
trade receivables, net of impairment, based on the date of
progress certificates issued by customers or date of invoice
issued to customers and net of allowance, is as follows:

sRE M IRRMIE

THE= E +—HLEFE QUBTHE)

18 HBEREMEWRIE (&)

REIMREREGBHET EYEREEE
R ETEHREEBRE HEERBABAEL
BEEEANSEERHOAETHHE AR
XYABE I REBEEARBRENFEABRER
?T’Eﬁ*ﬂ” EHEHERRE S R EMEI

MEREFEREEEFNFEREENFRSTE
%E%%Iiﬁ&zg( a)e

ARES 7 4R

BERSHR BEREFRELUNEEEZS A
HABEFELNERBRARMNGEER B
FEWGRIE (MNERRELE) NERE DT T ¢

2025 2024

—EZRE T _@OF

Within 1 month —EB R 8,806,622 10,409,405
1 to 2 months —ZMEAS 3,881,962 6,329,711
2 to 3 months ME=EH - 1,754,280
Over 3 months =X Ey= - 1,614,544 12,129,775
14,303,128 30,623,171
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) #ZE—

ETHF=RB=1T—HLFE CIBTE)

19 LOAN RECEIVABLES 19 [EWER
2025 2024
ZEZRFE ZTT@EHF
Fixed-rate loan receivables, unsecured Bl EEWER > EIKIHE 7,700,000 12,900,000
Less: Impairment R (3,840,764)  (8,137,900)
3,859,236 4,762,100
Less: Classified as non-current portion B D EEAIERNEREE D (2,771,136) (809,100)
Current portion BNHERER 1,088,100 3,953,000

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s loan receivable (the
“Loan A”) was secured by personal guarantees, interest
bearing at 12% per annum and has been overdue for
repayment. The Group further agreed with the borrower
to settle the outstanding amount by instalments up to
September 2025. The interest thereon has been waived
save for default in repayment as scheduled.

As at 31 March 2025, the balance consisted of the Loan A
and another loan with principal amount of HK$2,800,000
which is unsecured, bears interest at 15% per annum and
repayable on or before 7 July 2026, and is classified as
non-current portion as at 31 March 2025.

Provision for impairment on loan receivables of
approximately HK$3,841,000 (2024: approximately
HK$8,138,000) was provided for the outstanding
balances as at 31 March 2025. Details of the impairment
assessment are set out in note 29(a) to the consolidated
financial statements.

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group had
concentrations of credit risk as the loan receivables relate
to two borrowers (2024: one).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

sRE M IRRMIE

THE= E +—HLEFE QUBTHE)

20 BRERBREZFEM

2025 2024

—E-HRE —“ZTAF

Deposits with other financial institutions EHREMERIEEINTER - 6,265,830
Deposits with banks with original maturity FEEAR DR =@EA

less than 3 months ?ETT??T)\ 30,000,000 45,000,000

Cash at banks and in hand AR FHRTE 76,964,960 87,019,992

Total cash and cash equivalents Eﬁi\&fﬁﬁf B4R 106,964,960 138,285,822

The cash and bank balances amounting to approximately
HK$3,748,000 (2024: approximately HK$5,220,000)
that were deposited in bank accounts maintained in the
Mainland China and denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”)
were not freely convertible into other currencies and were
subject to exchange controls in the Mainland China.
However, under the Mainland China Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulation, the Group
is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
bank authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

21 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of approximately
HK$10,871,000 (2024: approximately HK$2,269,000)
and approximately HK$10,871,000 (2024: approximately
HK$2,269,000), respectively in respect of lease
arrangement for office and warehouse premises.

EHRRTEAMBTREEUARE (TAR
) FTENIRERIBITHERRL3,748,0008 7T
(_;E_EE 1 495,220,000 7T) AEEE A

RABEME R W= P E A8 E B S AT
MR o AT > IRIE PR i 4 EE B IR IR F R 4
E-EEMRNEEERT AEBELEEAE
REKENEEENRT BARBRKBRAHR
HE o

21 RERERERME

(@ FEFREXRS

RER AEBRBAEREEYENHEE
ZH DB ESERREEREESEIR
£MA10,871,0008B T (ZE_WE : 4
2,269,000%8 7t) &#%10,871,0008 7 (=&
Z PO ;492,269,000 7T) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR EEHRRME

nv'F

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) #ZE—

ETHF=RB=1T—HLFE CIBTE)

21 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED 21 i(FEBRERERME E
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(Continued)
(b) Reconciliation of loss before tax to cash (used (b) BRIRAIESIREEE (FRA) FRIRRENEH
in)/generated from operations: iR :
Notes 2025 2024
k= “ECEHE =g 1=
Cash flows from operating activities R THHENE
Loss before tax BRISAIESIR (51,896,177)  (19,340,608)
Adjustments for: TR IERE
Finance costs FE A 6(a) 10,560,387 9,153,895
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  ¥1# - HE KRR ETE 6(c) 3,768,230 2,477,293
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREBEERE 6(c) 5,230,387 1,657,720
Amortisation of intangible assets mLE A 6(c) 6,375 =
Bank interest income RITFIEUA 5 (1,149,428) (655,521)
Other interest income HAhF) EWA 5 - (1,275,842)
Net change in fair value of financial assets RATESAEGENEREE
at FVTPL AT EEEFE ) (520,800) 520,800
Impairment losses/(Reversal of impairment) on ~ BREWHIERENEEZ
trade receivables and contract assets REER/ CRERE) 6(c) 6,130,536 (8,400,236)
(Reversal of impairment)/Impairment loss on Hhreuia (RE#ER)
other receivables BEEE 6(c) (2,890,022) 29,012,657
Impairment of property, plant and equipment ME - -BERZRERE 12(a) 2,541,814 =
Reversal of impairment losses on FERER 2
loan receivables BB EEE D] 6(c) (4,297,136)  (16,725,896)
Gain on disposal of property, HENE -BERREZ
plant and equipment G 5 (1,015,000) (135,235)
Gain on lease modification HEET 2 Wm (24,205) =
Write back of other payables HMRET B #E R 5 (1,631,760) =
Recognition of long services payment liabilties ~ FE:RREIIRE S B E - 493,534
Operating loss before working EEEREHR2RERE
capital changes (35,186,799) (3,217,439)
Increase in financial assets at FVTPL BATES ABmN
SRBEEN - (2,480,000)
Increase in inventories F5EE (9,447,328) -
Decrease in trade and other receivables B 5 R EMmEWEIER D 11,824,128 12,207,185
Decrease in loan receivables W ERRL 5,200,000 19,054,435
Decrease in contract assets BREERD 27,004,440 12,618,441
(Decrease)/Increase in trade and other payables B 5 & S FE T FIE K
and accruals FESTER (R2L) /0 (12,488,084) 5,283,958
Cash (used in)/generated from operations  #&% (Frf) /FRiEHRE (13,093,643) 43,466,580
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

sRE M IRRMIE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) iZE _E_HF= ﬁ +—RBIEEE CUBTEHE)

21 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(Continued)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows
will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated cash flow
statement as cash flows from financing activities.

21 HREWREHRERME @

() MMEIFHELEZAMRBR

TRALMAEEREETHEE 2 EEES ©
ERERIFREEF METHELEZ2EESR
ERARREAERRERETERERNDER
MELELE2REAEXAREKREREN
=R

Due to Due to
Lease arelated directors of
liabilities company subsidiaries Total
&+ —F FEf
REAR MEAR
HEaE ME  ERZME et

At 1 April 2024 R-ZFE-_NFEMA—H

Changes from financing cash flows: FIEHREREEH !

Payment of principal portion of BREHERENEESHD
lease liabilities

Payment of interest portion of EEREaENHEED
lease liabilities

Advance from directors of subsidiaries [} B /A 5] & E# =
Repayment to directors of subsidiaries AN B AT EZEN
Repayment to a related company B—EREATER

2,590,442 55,350,521 122,000,000 179,940,963

(4,731,262) - - (4,731,262

(754,146) S S (754,146)
= = 6,596,652 6,596,652
- = (21,502,614)  (21,502,614)
S (2,000,000) S (2,000,000)

Total changes from financing cash flows BRE IR & 7S B 84248

(5,485,408)  (2,000,000) (14,905962)  (22,391,370)

Other changes: Hithig :
Increase in lease liabilities from entering F AT HAES

into new leases during the year HE&SEIEM 10,870,793 = = 10,870,793
Interest on lease liabilities HESEFE 754,146 - - 754,146
Interest on borrowing from REMBAREERZ

directors of subsidiaries BEZAE - - 7,139,991 7,139,991
Interest on borrowing from RE—FAELSZ

a related company BEZFE = 2,666,250 = 2,666,250
Effect of lease modification HEEBII 2 E (85,705) - - (85,705)
Exchange adjustment R (12,301) - - (12,301)
Total other changes Hith 54828 11,526,933 2,666,250 7,139,991 21,333,174
At 31 March 2025 R-ZE_HF=A=+—H 8,631,967 56,016,771 114,234,029 178,882,767
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) #ZE—

21 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(Continued)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities (Continued)

ETHF=RB=1T—HLFE CIBTE)

21 HEEREHRERMEE E

() WMEIFHEEZERBRGE

Due to Due to
Lease arelated directors of
liabilities company subsidiaries Total
FEfF—FE P&
REAT MEBAT
HE&R MIE  ERZME EER
At 1 April 2023 R-ZFE-=FMA—H 1,846,420 62,484,271 124,578,127 188,908,818
Changes from financing cash flows: FIEREREEE .
Payment of principal portion of EBEREEAENAEH S
lease liabilities (1,491,935) - - (1,491,935
Payment of interest portion of ERHEAENMNEED
lease liabilities (187,645) - - (187,645)
Repayment to directors of subsidiaries  [AMIB AT EEER - - (8,678,127) (8,678,127)
Repayment to a related company m—EEEARER - (10,000,000) - (10,000,000)
Total changes from financing cash flows BAEIR &= S EiE%E (1,679,580)  (10,000,000) (8,678,127)  (20,357,707)
Other changes: Hithiggh .
Increase in lease liabilities from entering EA] UFHEES
into new leases during the year HE&®EEM 2,269,238 - - 2,269,238
Interest on lease liabilities HEaEHNE 187,645 - - 187,645
Interest on borrowing from REWBABEEZ
directors of subsidiaries BEZFE - - 6,100,000 6,100,000
Interest on borrowing from kE—HEEEARZ
a related company %f‘fzﬂ - 2,866,250 = 2,866,250
Exchange adjustment RRHE (33,281) - - (33,281)
Total other changes E@ﬁ@]?gé 2,423,602 2,866,250 6,100,000 11,389,852
At 31 March 2024 MZE-_MFE=BA=+—H 2,590,442 55,350,521 122,000,000 179,940,963
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tr o ISR RMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) iZE _E_HF= ﬁ +—RBIEEE CUBTEHE)
21 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED 21 i(FEBRERERME E
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(Continued)
(d) Total cash outflow for leases (d FHERSRHLEEE
Amounts included in the cash flow statement for leases MEESFABREREXRPHNETBEEEUTE
comprise the following: 15 .
2025 2024
ZEZRFE ZTTWHF
Within operating cash flows BR&EEeRE 25,004,862 19,656,234
Within financing cash flows BraERens 5,485,408 1,679,580

30,490,270 21,335,814

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 22, B RHEMEMRERESER

ACCRUALS
2025 2024
ZETHRE —“ZOF
Trade payables B S ETIRR 18,069,687 30,929,648
Retention payables FEREE 6,925,933 5,918,872
Other payables and accruals HMENRIEREER 9,639,915 11,906,859
34,635,535 48,755,379
Ageing analysis ERES AR
As at the end of the reporting period, ageing analysis of HERESEHEA ENBEQHNBE S ENIRE
trade payables based on the invoice date is as follows: HER&E o T -
2025 2024
ZETHRE —“ZTAF
Within 1 month —EBARN 11,009,837 17,347,931
1 to 2 months —ZEMEA 5,717,693 9,357,136
2 to 3 months ME=1EH 98,151 2,922,128
Over 3 months =EAM L 1,244,006 1,302,453

18,069,687 30,929,648
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) #ZE—

23 DUE TO A RELATED COMPANY/
DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The amount due to a related company, Bright Dynasty
Trading Limited (“Bright Dynasty”), is unsecured, bearing
interest at 5% (2024: 5%) per annum and repayable on
demand. Bright Dynasty is beneficially owned by Mr.
Fong Hon Hung (“Mr. Fong”), who is a member of key
management personnel of the Group and a director of a
principal subsidiary. In addition, Bright Dynasty agreed,
for a period up to 25 March 2026, not to demand for
repayment of approximately HK$53,000,000 owed by
Hong Kong Wan Wai Company Limited, a subsidiary of the
Company, until it is in a position to do so.

The amount due to a director of a subsidiary, Mr. Lau Woon
Si (“Mr. Lau”), in the amount of HK$107,637,000 (2024:
HK$122,000,000) is unsecured, bearing interest at 6.5%
(2024: 5%) per annum and repayable on demand. Mr.
Lau was a member of key management personnel of the
Group and a director of a subsidiary. In addition, Mr. Lau
agreed, for a period up to 25 March 2026, not to demand
for repayment of HK$102,000,000 owed by Wan Kei
Machinery Company Limited, a subsidiary of the Company,
until it is in a position to do so.

The amount due to a director of a subsidiary, Mr. Chen Yu
(“Mr. Chen”), in the amount of HK$6,597,000 (2024: nil) is
unsecured, bearing interest at 4.5% (2024: nil) per annum
and repayable on demand. Mr. Chen is a member of key
management personnel of the Group and a director of a
subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tr o ISR RMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) iZE _E_HF= ﬁ +—RBIEEE CUBTEHE)

24 LEASE LIABILITIES 24 HEAR

The following table shows the remaining contractual TRITAEBRHEEBBEBZRFSNIEHEL !

maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities:

2025 2024
—EZRE “E2IWF
Present Present

value of the Total value of the Total

minimum minimum minimum minimum

lease lease lease lease

payments payments payments payments

RIEHEE RIEHE RERAESE RIEHEE

MR E fImaRgE ARHIRE INE it

Within 1 year —&ER 5,723,368 6,164,825 1,617,757 1,757,800

After 1 year but within 2 years —FRERMERN 2,673,446 2,777,562 972,685 996,153

After 2 years but within 5 years MEBERRLFR 235,153 235,711 = =

2,908,599 3,013,273 972,685 996,153

8,631,967 9,178,098 2,590,442 2,753,953

Less: Total future interest expenses 78 & R3&H| BRI 4858 (546,131) (163,511)

Present value of lease obligations A& &AIEHIRE 8,631,967 2,590,442
Analysed into: AY i

Current portion BIEAEE 5,723,368 1,617,757

Non-current portion JEBNEAER 7 2,908,599 972,685

8,631,967 2,590,442
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) E —_ZE " AF =B =+—HI-FE CUBTEHE)

25 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(“the MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions to the
plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject
to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.
Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme
operated by the government of the PRC. The subsidiaries
are required to contribute a specified percentage of
payroll cost to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
the retirement benefit scheme is to make the specified
contributions.

No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the
contribution payable in the future years as at 31 March
2025 and 2024.

26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS

(a) Movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s
individual components of equity between the beginning
and the end of the reporting period are set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i

SR HmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) iZE _E_HF= ﬁ +—RBIEEE CUBTEHE)
26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND 26 EBEXR--f#ERRE (2
DIVIDENDS (Continued)
(a Movements in components of equity (a) TESLARREE (2
(Continued)
Company *2RE
Shares
Exchange  held under
Share Capital Special  Fairvalue fluctuation share award Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve scheme losses Total
B R ]
RiVEE  ESRE  RURE ATERE EREBEE  BERGM  EHEH e
Balance at 1 April 2023 R-B-=HEMA-AZER 211357601 9669301 143,726,131 - ~ (19429159) (254,814,122) 90,509,752
Changes in equity during the year  PEZ-Z_NE
ended 31 March 2024: =B=1+- EIM:E‘E/E
2RERE
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - - (1675662 (1,675,662
Equity investment at FVOCI BRATESARMZE NG
ZRARE
- Change in fair value —NFEEE) - - - (5,824,809) - - - (5,824,600)
Loss and total comprehensive FREERZANGZEHE
income for the year - - - (5,824,609 - - (1675662)  (7,500,271)
Balance at 31 March 2024 RZEZmE
ZR=+-B2E&R 211357601 9669301 143726131  (5,824,600) - (19429159 (256,489,784 83,009,481
Shares
Exchange  held under
Share Capital Special ~ Fairvalue fluctuation share award Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve Hschem;e losses Total
Hg
RiYEE  EEHE  RUHRE ATERE EXEDEE ﬁﬁﬂﬁfﬁ 4 b
Balance at 1 April 2024 R-E_MEMB—HZE&IR 211357601 9660301 143726131 (5824609 (19429159 (256,480,784 83,009,481
Changes in equity during the year  MEZ-E_1%
ended 31 March 2025 =A=+- EI&EE
m%
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - - (57590,252)  (57,590,252)
Equity investment at FVOCI BATESARMZE R
PA LS E
— Change in fair value —NTEEE) - - - (1,134,980 - - - (1,134,980)
Transfer of fair value reserve upon — HERATEF AEMZE
the disposal of equity investment Wi 7 RAR SR EE
at FVOCl ARG - - - 6,959,589 - - (6,959,589 -
Loss and total comprehensive FRBERZARGESE
income for the year - - - 5,824,609 - - (64,549,841) (58,725,232
Issue of shares ) 17,280,000 - - - - - - 17,280,000
Share issue expenses RiDETHAS (492,000) = = = = = = (492,000)
Balance at 31 March 2025 RZ%Z .'EiF
ZR=t+—-HZH#H 228,145,601 9,669,301 143,726,131 - - (19,429,159) (321,039,625) 41,072,249
(b) Special reserve (b) SRUGEE
Special reserve represents the difference between the BRHEBEEREBER _ZE—RAFRABAHZE
equity of Hong Kong Wan Wai Company Limited acquired HPTWBEEBRE E RABlz#@mEAAT

pursuant to the Reorganisation on 9 May 2015 over the
nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange

therefore.

ERR

MArETRNZEEZER-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
nv'F Ej. ﬁ$E§ Btl.-‘-I

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) E —_ZE " AF =B =+—HI-FE CUBTEHE)

26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND 26 EBEX--#ERRE (Z
DIVIDENDS (Continueqd)
(c)  Share capital (c) Bex
2025 2024
k- ek 53 “EImE
Number of Nominal Number of Nominal
ordinary shares value  ordinary shares value
LERYE EfE LERHE HE
HK$ HK$
AT BT
Ordinary shares, EERER
authorised:
At beginning of year, of RENASREEET

HK$0.1 each (1 April 2023:  (ZEZ=FEA—H:

HK$ 0.01 each) SREE0O1ET) 200,000,000 20,000,000  2,000,000,000 20,000,000
Share consolidation (note ()) M2 & (fzE() - - (1,800,000,000) =
Increase in authorised share 7% E RRZSIE AN (FF3(i)

capttal (note (i) 800,000,000 80,000,000 - -
At end of year, ordinary shares EREREE0.1BTHEER

of HK$0.1 each 1,000,000,000 100,000,000 200,000,000 20,000,000

2025 2024
k- Jenk -3 —TomE

Number of Nominal Number of Nominal

ordinary shares value  ordinary shares value

EERHE EfE LERHE A

HK$ HK$

AT BT

Ordinary shares, BRTRYRLER
issued and fully paid:

At beginning of year, of RENASREEIET

HK$0.1 each (1 April 2023:  (ZB==&MA—1:

HK$0.01 each) SREE0O1ET) 96,000,000 9,600,000 960,000,000 9,600,000
Share consolidation R &6 ()

(note () - - (864,000,000 -
lssue of shares (note (i) TR (BFEE() 19,200,000 1,020,000 - -
At end of year, ordinary shares EREREE0.1BTHEER

of HK$0.1 each 115,200,000 11,520,000 96,000,000 9,600,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26

(c)
(i

(i)

(i)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS (continued)

Share capital (Continued)

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company on
20 November 2023, every ten issued and unissued
existing shares of HK$0.01 each were consolidated
into one consolidated share of HK$0.1 each,
The share consolidation has been effective on 22
November 2023.

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company on
13 March 2025, the authorised share capital of
the Company was increased from 200,000,000
to 1,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.1 each. The
increase in the authorised share capital has been
effective on 13 March 2025.

On 3 April 2024, the Company entered into a
placing agreement (the “Placing Agreement”) with
a placing agent, pursuant to which, the placing
agent has procured six placees to subscribe for
(the “Placing”) 19,200,000 placing shares (the
“Placing Shares”) of the Company at placing price
of HK$1.00 per Placing Share.

Upon the completion of the Placing on 16 April
2024, net proceeds from the Placing were
approximately HK$18,708,000 (net of the issuing
expenses of approximately HK$492,000), which will
be used for the headquarters’ administration and
operation expenses.

26

(c)
(i)

(iif)

S==

sRE M IRRMIE

THE= E +—HLEFE QUBTHE)

Bf - ffEkiRE (2

Rz ()

BER-BE_=ZF+—RB - +HETK
ﬁ’\jﬂxﬁ%?ﬂﬁgt LE’]%L/\D?&
Z B+REREEIEBITHNEHTT
RRETRAEROEHA—REREE
OB THEHKRO RHSHERZ
T -F+—HAT+ZHEN-

RER-ZEZHAF-"A+-—"HETHR
NEKRERFINAGLBENE B RE
2 KABEEKRAEHRH200,000,000
G AN E1,000,000, OOOHH/_HQETEO 1
B ZzZBRMB - EMEEREAERZE
“HRFE=ZB+=B&EX-

AT _NENAB=ZH AN E HE
EREBIT YR EH=E (TREWHEL) >
Bt BEEREBEEREANLAEADE
("B FEIE) 19,200,000 & A 7 g
ERG (TRERMKM)) SREERKHZ
Bl EE41.008 7T

A TE_MWMEWNAB+AAHREREESE
FEB REFEMEREBEZRENSR
18,708,0008 7 (KR FETHZH
492,000 7T) * AN EMITH R EE
X o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) #ZE—

26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS (Continuead)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Share premium

The share premium account is governed by the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and may be
applied by the Company subject to the provisions, if
any, of its memorandum and articles of association in
paying distributions or dividends to equity shareholders.
No distribution or dividend may be paid to the equity
shareholders out of the share premium account unless
immediately following the date on which the distribution or
dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company will be able
to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

(i) Merger reserve

Merger reserve represents the difference between the
nominal value of the shares issued by the Company in
exchange for the nominal value of the share capital of its
subsidiaries arising from the Reorganisation.

(iii)  Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the deemed capital
contribution from its shareholder, in relation to listing
expenses reimbursed to the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2016.

(iv)  Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve is comprised of the cumulative net
change in the fair value of financial assets at FVOCI.

v) Shares held under share award scheme

Shares held under share award scheme represents
amounts arose as a result of purchasing of Company’s
shares for share award scheme or granting the shares to
relevant grantees of the Group.

(e) Distributability of reserves

At 31 March 2025, save for the share premium which
is distributable subject to the conditions and restrictions
stated above, the aggregate amount of reserves available
for distribution to equity shareholders of the Company was
nil (2024: nil).

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZE&EBZERERAR
Annual Report 2024/25 —8=M /“HFFiR

ETHF=RB=1T—HLFE CIBTE)

26 BX-#ERRKRS E

d) EEZEEREN
) REE

RN EERTASHEEAERE 223N
)1 R R 2 {9 53K 30 AR B B AT AR 4R ELAH M8
ERRNMEMAEX NA) BRRNDEE
R MRFFEBEZRIMDRIAKREEBRRER
RN AEEFBED JHE’JT;?5z a
Al Al 8) A B 10 it B BR LA 1) 1 e zﬁfiﬁ”
KSR R ©

(i) SO

EHFEEHEENREARZBEEATWE L F
BRAMBAERBDETROZAEEEZZFHRE
KRAEEZEZEE-

(i) EXFEHE
EXRREEBIELBEERENREIE AR
E_E-—REZA=Z+—HILEFERAQF
BN LEmHEEZ-

(ivy RFEFE

AT ERFREEEEAFESS ARMEAR RS
NWEREENATEREHFEE-

V) REZE:AEFERE

R ER BB KM IEB N R M ER S
BBELARARNABDAERBRARARER
HERRMDMEENEEE-

(e) FINIR{HE

ATECRE=A=+—B BIBE LR
R BRI BT TR 2 IR 45 3 [ b - B4 53 R T A
NERRBENEESEARAT (SN
£ ®) o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS (Continueqd)

(f) Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to fund its construction business, provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the
cost of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher shareholder returns that might be possible with
higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of
an adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio. For this purpose,
adjusted net debt is defined as total debt (which includes
trade and other payables and accruals, amount due to a
related company, amount due to directors of subsidiaries,
lease liabilities and long services payment liabilities) less
cash and cash equivalents. Total equity include capital and
reserves attributable to the owners of the Company.

The Group’s adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio at 31 March
2025 and 2024 was as follows:

sRE M IRRMIE
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FRESEEKTIEFTRNKRS KRR KA
REEXARAFAERNEDZRREZBIF
T TABEER TN ESNERRBIED

HE o

FEBREHABREH FREBELRLRSE
EEHBEARBE -BUEME W—K%%%E%
BEBFESEHRE (BEES REMEN
REREFER BN —BBEERASZRE
BUMBAREFEZHIE -HERRE KRR
i) ARERREEBY RaREE
BARABEA ANBLELRRFHE-

RIBEZHRFER-ZZE_NF=ZA=+—H0"%&
EECHEREBFRAERLERWT

2025 2024
“ERE “ETF

Total debts BFE4EE 215,004,527 230,182,567
Less: Cash and cash equivalents P Iﬁ%?ﬁ'zi@ﬁ%%% (106,964,960) (138,285,822)
Adjusted net debt AR TS B 4B 108,039,567 91,896,745
Total equity AR 50,002,780 90,321,978
Net debt-to-capital ratio B FEREEARLER 212.25% 101.74%

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject
to any externally imposed capital requirements.

QB R BEAE R E A B R E T E [ 5 ER
H 0 BY B A3 E ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) #ZE—

27 SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 30 June 2020, the Group adopted a share award
scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”) to recognise the
contributions by participants and to provide them with
incentives in order to retain them for the continual operation
and development of the Group and to attract suitable
personnel for further development of the Group.

Subject to any early termination as may be determined
by the board of directors (the “Board”), the Share Award
Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term of ten (10)
years commencing on the adoption date. The Board shall
not make any further award of awarded shares which will
result in the nominal value of the shares awarded by the
Board under the Share Award Scheme exceeding ten per
cent (10%) of the issued share capital of the Company
from time to time. The maximum number of shares which
may be awarded to a selected participant under the Share
Award Scheme shall not exceed one per cent (1%) of the
issued share capital of the Company from time to time.

The Share Award Scheme shall be subject to the
administration of the Board and the trustee in accordance
with the rules of the Share Award Scheme and the terms
of the trust deed. The decision of the Board with respect
to any matter arising under the Share Award Scheme
(including the interpretation of any provision of the Scheme)
shall be final and binding. The trustee shall hold the trust
fund in accordance with the rules of the Share Award
Scheme and the terms of the trust deed.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group
repurchased 31,645,000 of its own shares through the
trustee from open market. The total amount paid to
repurchase the shares was HK$19,429,159 and has been
deducted from equity and such shares were classified
as held under the Share Award Scheme. No shares had
been awarded by the board of directors under the Share
Award Scheme during the years ended 31 March 2024
and 2023. As at 31 March 2024 and 2025, the number of
share held for the share award scheme has been reduced
to 3,164,500 shares followed by the share consolidation
affection on 22 November 2023 as disclosed in note 26(c)
(i) to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

28 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

SR HmRME

THE= E +—HLEFE QUBTHE)

28 HEEHNENZERMIA

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as

follows:

31 March 2025

Financial assets

BE®RSHR

RETMITENKREEDT

—E”"R¥=RAR=+—H

EWMEE

Financial

Financial assets at
assets amortised

at FVTPL cost
BATE BgsERM A
AT HEN
EHEE EHEE
HK$ HK$

BT A

Trade and other receivables
Loan receivables

Financial assets at FVTPL
Cash and cash equivalents

B 5 RE MBS

F—LI 44&1
&@¥@ﬁkﬁﬁm$%§§
ReERFAEEEY

= 30,602,670
S 3,859,236
2,480,000 =
S 106,964,960

2,480,000 141,426,866

Financial liabilities

A 3R

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
BEERFHE
HEmMEE
HK$

BT

Trade and other payables and accruals
Due to a related company

Due to directors of subsidiaries

Long service payment liabilities

Lease liabilities

B REMENERESER

e —RMERRNE

EANBARESEZRE

REGRBEER
HERR

34,635,535
56,016,771
114,234,029
1,486,225
8,631,967

215,004,527
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tr e ISR RMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) E —_ZE " AF =B =+—HI-FE CUBTEHE)

28 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 28 BENINZEMIA @

CATEGORY (Continuea)
31 March 2024 —E-_mE=A=+—H
Financial assets ERMEE
Financial
Financial Financial assets at
assets assets amortised
at FVOCI at FVTPL cost
BATESA BATE b8 [
Hihn2mEikz stAEER SHEN
HERMEE EREE EREE
HK$ HK$ HK$
AT AT A
Financial assets at FVOCI BATEFAEMEER @Y
EHEE 2,734,980 = =
Trade and other receivables B 5 RAMEKRIE - = 45,019,492
Loan receivables EWER - - 4,762,100
Financial assets at FVTPL BATLEH A BGNEREE - 1,959,200 =
Cash and cash equivalents RERRESEEY - - 138,285,822
2,734,980 1,959,200 188,067,414
Financial liabilities ERa®
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
RBEMSE
HEREE
HK$
A
Trade and other payables and accruals B RHMEMTIERESER 48,755,379
Due to a related company R —BEEARRE 55,350,521
Due to directors of subsidiaries BB ATIES 2 A 122,000,000
Long service payment liabilities EREEEE 1,486,225
Lease liabilities HEER 2,590,442
230,182,567
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity and interest rate risks mainly
arises in the normal course of the Group’s business. The
Group is also exposed to equity price risk arising from its
equity investments in other entities. The Group’s exposure
to these risks and the financial risk management policies
and practices used by the Group to manage these risks
are described below.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and
other receivables, contract assets and loan receivables.
The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from cash and
cash equivalents is limited because the counterparties
are banks with sound credit ratings and the Group has
exposure limit to any single financial institution. Given their
high credit ratings, management does not expect any of
these financial institutions and counterparties will fail to
meet their obligations.

The Group has a credit policy in place and the exposures
to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) E —_ZE " AF =B =+—HI-FE CUBTEHE)

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly
by the individual characteristics of customer groups rather
than the industry or country in which the customers
operate and therefore significant concentrations of credit
risk primarily arise when the Group has significant exposure
to individual customers. At the end of the reporting period,
6% (2024: 32%) and 26% (2024: 32%) of the total trade
receivables was due from the Group’s largest key customer
and the five largest key customers respectively within the
foundation construction works segment.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations
focus on the customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as pertaining
to the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Trade receivables are due within 30 to 60 days
from the certificate date or 60 to 90 days from the invoice
date. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from
construction contract and ground investigation services
customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables
and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs
which is calculated using a provision matrix based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments with
similar loss patterns, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the customers and the environment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)
Other receivables and loan receivables

For loan receivables, the Group’s management manages
and analyses the credit risk for each of their new and
existing customers before standard payment terms and
conditions are offered. The management assesses the
collateral and credit quality of each customer based on
customer’s background information, financial position, past
experience and relevant factors. The Group also reviews
from time to time the financial position of the customers.

For all instruments including other receivables and loan
receivables other than trade receivables and contract
assets, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to
12-month ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring
since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) E —_ZE " AF =B =+—HI-FE CUBTEHE)

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)
The following table provides information about the Group’s

exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade and other
receivables, contract assets and loan receivables as at 31

29

(a)

THAREERREMIANATE

(#)

EERE (&

TERREHEHEEFAERNR _ S _1FRK_F
THHE=ZABA=Z+t-—HMESEREMERR
B-GHNEENNRERERFIBERZEERE

March 2025 and 2024: RFEREEBEZER !
2025
—E-RE
Expected Gross
credit carrying Loss
loss rate (%) amount allowance
JERRfEE
B8 (%) IREEE ESiE S
Contract assets BHEE 49% 92,811,648 4,545,493
Trade receivables B 5 I EIE
Current (not past due) ey (GRaaEp) 0.80% 8,877,509 70,887
1-30 days past due #mHE1Z2=30H 1.63% 3,946,487 64,525
31-60 days past due BHAB1E60H N/A RiEH - -
61-90 days past due BHIB1ZE90H N/A RiEH - -
More than 90 days past due B HHE A0 H 75.17% 6,502,146 4,887,602
19,326,142 5,023,014
Other receivables HhfE W IE 56.8% 51,213,072 29,087,346
Loan receivables EUE™ 49.88% 7,700,000 3,840,764
58,913,072 32,928,110
171,050,862 42,496,617
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tr o ISR RMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) iZE _E_HF= ﬁ +—RBIEEE CUBTEHE)

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 29 FTREAMREEREMIANATFE
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL #)
INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)
(@)  Credit risk (Continued) (@ EERKE E
2024
“ETMF
Expected Gross
credit carrying Loss
loss rate (%) amount allowance
FEHEE
B 1EER(%) IREEE it
Contract assets BHEE 1.89% 119,816,088 2,260,836
Trade receivables B 5 EWRIE
Current (not past due) e CRaEHER) 1.70% 135,000 2,296
1-30 days past due BHEA1ZE30H 0.10% 10,287,171 10,470
31-60 days past due #IHA31E60H 0.29% 6,347,923 18,212
61-90 days past due #1EA612E90H 3.47% 1,817,298 63,018
More than 90 days past due HHFE A0 H 8.20% 13,212,902 1,083,127
31,800,294 1,177,123
Other receivables Hh FEWRIE 63.33% 50,528,742 32,000,760
Loan receivables FEWE =R 63.08% 12,900,000 8,137,900
63,428,742 40,138,660
215,045,124 43,576,619

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZEEEZRERAE

Annual Report 2024/25 —F¥=mM " HEFEHR

221



222

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) #ZE—

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(a) Credit risk (Continued)
Movements in the loss allowance account in respect of

trade and other receivables, contract assets and loan
receivables during the year are as follows:

ETHF=RB=1T—HLFE CIBTE)

29 %%HW%E&E@IEMQ¥E

(@ ERER @

FRNEREZREMBRRIBE - GNEEKE
WERNBEERRESHNT !

Trade Other Contract Loan
receivables  receivables assets  receivables Total
EREWRIE HitEKTE BNEE EKER h
Balance at 1 April 2023 R-E-_=EMB—HKNER 10,584,148 3,102,405 1,264,047 24,863,796 39,804,396
Impairment loss recognised/reversed) ~ EREHESD/ () HEERE
during the year (Note 6(c) (B2£6(c) 0407005 29012657  1,006789 (16725896 3,886,525
Exchange realignment ERAE - (114,302) - = (114,302)
Balance at 31 March 2024 R-E_ME=R=+-H
and 1 April 2024 —E-MEMA- AR 1177123 32000760 2260836 8137000 43576619
Impairment loss recognised/reversed) ~ ERERESD/ B[R HESRE
during the year (Note 6(c) (B2t6(0)) 3845879 (2890,022) 2284657 (4297138 (1,086,622
Exchange realignment ERAEE 12 (23,392) - - (23,380)
Balance at 31 March 2025 RZEZREZR=+—AMER 5,023,014 29,087,346 4,545,493 3,840,764 42,496,617
During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group RBEE_ZE_HEF=ZBA=+—HBLEHFE"

recorded a net write back of impairment on financial and
contract assets of approximately HK$1,057,000 (2024:
provision of approximately HK$3,887,000), of which,
as to approximately HK$5,657,000 (2024: provision
of approximately HK$20,036,000) were reversal of
provision for the credit-impaired other receivables and
loan receivables. The decrease of the impairment losses
on financial and contract assets, net was due to the
settlement of financial and contract assets during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tr o ISR RMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) iZE _E_HF= ﬁ +—HIEFE QUETEHE)

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 29 FTREAKREEREMIANATFE

AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL (#)

INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(@) Credit risk (Continued) (@ EERAKE @)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging G K 4F K [ 2
The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum TREVNENRAEREEBRNEEERARD
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, EERR FEENEREN CGRIFEEMEBER AT
which is mainly based on past due information unless other BEANHABERAXBHNERTES) » &R
information is available without undue cost or effort, and —A=1+—BMNFERMEEIE-

year-end staging classification as at 31 March.

The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for P27 N EEEMmEELRAEE
financial assets.

As at 31 March 2025 W-E2-RF=B=+—H
12 months
ECL Lifetime ECLs
128 R
EEE5#E 2HEBEEHE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F—REER BIRER B [5h7 @5t
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
AT AT AT AT AT
Trade receivables B EWEE - - - 19,326,142 19,326,142
Contract assets BREE - - - 92,811,648 92,811,648
Other receivables HitEsEE
- Normal™ —EE" 20,127,725 - - - 20,127,725
- Doubtful™ —FE - - 31,085,348 - 31,085,348
Loan receivables e &R
- Normal™ —EFE" 2,800,000 - - - 2,800,000
- Doubtful™ —TF5 - - 4,900,000 - 4,900,000
Cash and cash equivalent ReRkRLEEY 106,964,960 = = - 106,964,960
Total @zt 129,892,685 - 35,985,348 112,137,790 278,015,823
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
nv'F Ej. ﬁ#ﬁﬁ Btl.-‘-I

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

£

AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

ETHF=RB=1T—HLFE CIBTE)

29 %@HW%E&E@IEMQ¥E

(@)  Credit risk (Continued) (@ EEARE @
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued) REEERFKREER (B)
As at 31 March 2024 RZEZNE=A=+—H
12 months
ECL Lifetime ECLs
12{8 A TaH
(E5t LREHESEE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
—PEER R i 07 wast
HK$ HK$S HKS HKS HK$
BT BT BT BT BT
Trade receivables BRRENEE - - - 31,800,294 31,800,294
Contract assets BNEE - = - 119,816,088 119,816,088
Other receivables Hitn ez
- Normal™ EFH** 15,220,845 - - - 15,220,845
- Doubtful™ —{zhE - - 35,307,897 - 35,307,897
Loan receivables EWER
- Normal™* — P = = = = =
- Doubtful™ —ThE - - 12,900,000 - 12,900,000
Cash and cash equivalent Be&RREEEY 138,285,322 = = - 138,285,822
Total st 153,506,667 - 48,207,897 151,616,382 353,330,946

For trade receivables and contract assets to which the Group

applies the simplified approach for impairment, information
based on the provision matrix is disclosed in notes 17 and 18

to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

>k

The credit quality of the financial assets included in other

receivables and loan receivables is considered to be “normal”
when they are not past due and there is no information
indicating that the financial assets had a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality

of the financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk

Individual subsidiaries within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the raising of
loans to cover the expected cash demands. The Group’s
policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending covenants,
to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and
adequate committed funding lines from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term.

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities as at 31 March 2025 and 2024 of the Group’s
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments

sRE M IRRMIE

THE= E +—HLEFE QUBTHE)

.

29 %m%ﬂﬁ%ii&ﬁmﬂlﬂﬂ’]’&¥fﬁ
(b) FENEZERE

FEEBRTENBAEEEEAENREE
B -OEEEERMURRERRERER A&
ENRRATREZEENRERADESR

ERHEBTEERFENB R UWERREERE
HNRTHEBEREIZSHEBETRENE
AmETRE WEMHEERARBRRANR

ﬁ%EﬁEﬂi

=

TRFIFAEBNEMEBEN S "1FK
TETNE=-ZR=+—HRBGTENEHE
o ENRBEEORMRREERE (BEEH
BREQAXR (FUBFE  ARER-Z "R

N — = —

computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on ERZE_NE=ZB=+—HBEIEARX) ot
rates current at 31 March 2025 and 2024) and the earliest BENFHENMNR RAEBETRERTTNRR
date the Group can be required to pay: HEEME SN -
At 31 March 2025
R-E-1%=B=+-H
Total Within More than More than
contractual 1 year 1yearbut  2years but More
Carrying undiscounted oron less than less than than
amount cash flow demand 2 years 5 years 5 years
BHRER
iﬂﬁbl E _ﬁlkﬁﬁ —ﬂil)U: WELXJ:
IREfE e EEX BRER BREER AENE
Trade and other payables and B 5 R EMERFIER
accruals EHER 34,635,535 34,635,535 34,635,535 - - -
Due to a related company FEf—BEEARNE 56,016,771 56,016,771 56,016,771 = = =
Due to directors of subsidiaries ~ IEIIBARESFE 114,234,029 114,234,020 114,234,029 - - -
Lease liabilties HEER 8,631,967 9,178,008 6,164,825 2,777,562 235,711 -
213518302 214,064,433 211,051,160 2,777,562 235,711 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &=

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

ETHF=RB=1T—HLFE CIBTE)

29 ZRAKREERREMIANATE

(&

(b) FEEEZER (E

At 31 March 2024
RZE_ME=R=1+-H

Total Within More than More than
contractual 1 year 1 year but 2 years but More
Carrying  undiscounted or on less than less than than
amount cash flow demand 2 years 5 years 5 years
BHRER
REng —FR —ELE MEN L
REE e EEX BMER BRER RENE
Trade and other payables and B 5 R EMERTIER
accruals EstER 48,755,379 48,755,379 48,755,379 - - -
Due to a related company FE—BEEARNE 55,350,521 55,350,521 55,350,521 = = =
Due to directors of subsidiaries ~ FEfSIHB AT EEHIE 122,000,000 122,000,000 122,000,000 = = =
Lease liabilities HEBR 2,590,442 2,753,953 1,757,800 996,153 - -
228,096,342 228,859,853 227,863,700 996,153 - -
(c) Interest rate risk () FIERME

The Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk is
mainly attributable to the changes in interest rates of its
interest-bearing financial assets and liabilities. Interest
bearing financial assets are primarily deposits with banks,
which is subject to changes as determined by banks;
Interest bearing financial liabilities are primarily amounts
due to a related company and directors of subsidiaries,
which issued at fixed rates and not subject to change with
the prevailing market interest rate.

The Group does not have an interest rate hedging policy.
However, management monitors the Group’s interest rate
exposure and will consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.

(d) Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures primarily
through its principal activities which give rise to receivables,
payables and cash balances that are denominated in a
foreign currency, i.e. a currency other than the functional
currency of the operations to which the transactions relate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)

(d) Foreign currency risk (Continued)

However, the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk is
insignificant as substantially all of the Group’s transactions
are denominated in functional currency.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the Group’s management
regularly monitors the Group’s foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign exchange
exposure should the need arise.

(e) Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from
equity investments. The Group’s listed investments are
listed in Hong Kong and are valued at quoted market price
at the end of the reporting period.

The sensitivity analysis indicates the instantaneous change
in the Group’s loss after tax and accumulated losses that
would arise assuming that the changes in the stock market
index or other relevant risk variables had occurred at the
end of the reporting period and had been applied to re-
measure those financial instruments held by the Group
which expose the Group to equity price risk at the end
of the reporting period. It is also assumed that the fair
values of the Group’s equity investments would change in
accordance with the historical correlation with the relevant
stock market index or the relevant risk variables, and
that all other variables remain constant. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2025 and 2024.

At 31 March 2025, the Group’s investment in listed equity
securities was carried at a fair value of HK$2,480,000
(2024: HK$1,959,200). It is estimated that an increase/
(decrease) of 5% (2024: 5%) in the market value of the
equity investments carried at FVTPL, with all other variables
held constant, would decrease/(increase) the Group’s
loss after tax by approximately HK$124,000 (2024:
HK$98,000).

sRE M IRRMIE

THE= E +—HLEFE QUBTHE)

2 EMEAREEREMTANATE

d) SMEREER

AN HRAEEBABORZHIUNEET
SHE WAEEEENIINERABAEKR-

AEBER KRG EEMIIEHIPHEE A
m ~EEEEEEENERAERNINER
B UREEREFEBH PERINERR -

() MRAFBERERE

ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ?ﬂ( BERTEREZRABREF
B AEENETREDNREKRSHRNES
J:FEE’J’\T BEmERETUGE

BRESDMBTAERZEGEREER KRR
J»EE?EH ﬁfﬁzﬂﬂﬂ%ﬁ@w*‘“qﬂﬁx % fg 5

E&E%%M%%dgﬁ%!ﬂﬁ%%%%
FLrEBRERABRABRZZFTHT
B-ARBREEERREKEZAFERE
RERBRTEHAEERREE 2 BEME
FEMES MAAEEMEBEERAE-—F
ThHERTETNFERERBEET O

RN _E_RE=ZRB=+—H AxEBRLHR
KEBHZERER AN FEYIER 42,480,000 7T
(ZZE M4 1,959,200/ 7T) o fHsH@AF
Bt ABHIRMWRAKRENHTELA (F
E%) %(—ﬁ @fﬁ 5%)ﬁ'ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂﬂ%5

,‘\’3124,000‘}%77:(_% PO - 98 ooo%m)o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tr e ISR RMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) E —_ZE " AF =B =+—HI-FE CUBTEHE)

29

U]

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)

Fair values measurement

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s
financial instruments measured at the end of the reporting
period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-
level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair
value measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with reference to
the observability and significance of the inputs used in the
valuation technique as follows:

Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the
measurement date.

Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level
2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet
Level 1, and not using significant unobservable
inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which
market data are not available.

Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)

(f) Fair values measurement (Continued)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

(Continued)

The following table analyses within the fair value hierarchy

the Group’s financial assets measured at fair value at 31

sRE M IRRMIE

THE= E +—HLEFE QUBTHE)

29 %ﬁ}ﬂﬂl‘z‘i%iﬂ&ﬁﬁﬂlﬂﬂ’g’z}zﬁﬁ

h 2QFEHEE

BAFEFEZEHMEERAE (7

TERELANR - ZF_AFKR-F_MNF=A
=St+t—B FaEERATEFENEREER

March 2025 and 2024: NEBEEBHR T
At 31 March 2025 HB-E-_ZF=HF=+—H
Fair value measurement using
AFEAERAUATEE
Quoted  Significant  Significant
in active  observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
EX EX
RiERETH IS CIf k! Frgiz
HIER(E BAHE BAHE
Total
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 balance
F—k -t B g
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVTPL: R FEFARDZ
THEE
Listed equity investments (note 15) £ IRAEE (fizE15) 2,480,000 - - 2,480,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) #ZE—

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)

(f) Fair values measurement (Continued)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
(Continued)

At 31 March 2024

ETHF=RB=1T—HLFE CIBTE)

2 EMAREEREMTANATE

h 2QFEHEE

BAFEFEZEHMEERAE ()

S CECF=FA=+—H

Fair value measurement using

NEEFERAUTEE
Quoted Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
EZpN EZpN
RS GIf-2E TR
PR E A BUE AR
Total
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 balance
E— B B HBAERR
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVTPL: BAFEFAER
THEE !
Listed equity investments (note 15)  _EH R AEE (fizE15) 1,959,200 = = 1,959,200
Financial assets at FVOCI: BAFEFARAMEZE
Win 2 EHMEE
Unlisted equity investments (note 14) JEEMIRAKE (izE14) - = 2,734,980 2,734,980
Total fact 1,959,200 - 2,734,980 4,694,180
The Group engaged an independent valuer, Moore AEBZE—LAEIITER KRN E L

Transaction Services Limited, with recognised qualifications
and experiences to determine the fair value of the
financial assets at FVOCI as at 31 March 2024 by using
a discounted cashflow method. Pursuant to the valuation
report, the fair value of the financial assets at FVOCI as
at 31 March 2024 was approximately RMB2,537,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$2,735,000).

For the fair value of the financial assets at FVOCI, the
Directors have estimated the potential effect of using
possible alternatives as inputs to the valuation report.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29

U]

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair values measurement (Continued)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
(Continued)

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to
the valuation together with a quantitative sensitivity analysis
as at 31 March 2024

Assets

HE

Significant unobservable
Valuation techniques inputs

fibfE kG Ek$7§'ﬂ§i€‘)\§ki§

sRE M IRRMIE

THE= E +—HLEFE QUBTHE)

29 %m}ﬂﬂi‘ﬁﬁﬂ&ﬁmﬂlﬂﬂ'yz}%ﬁ

(h AQFESE @@
BAFEFEZEHMEERAE (7)

FHRHZPR —_E_WF=HA=+—HIZEZE
AT EBHEGA BB HEE L E DT ZH

=22
=

Weighted Sensitivity of fair value
Range average to the input
] MEFHY ATERBAYE
ZHEE

Unlisted equity
investments

FLHRERE

Discounted cash flow Discounted rate

methodology

BehEalit BRI

Discount for lack of
marketability

HBemERETE

15% 15% Increase/decrease in
discount rate would
result in (decrease)/
increase in fair value
by approximately
(HK$232,000)/
HK$521,000

15% 15% BRELH/ THE
EYHNTE (A
/#8143 (232,000
B7T) /52100087

15.7% 15.7% Increase/decrease in
discount for lack of
marketability would
result in decrease/
increase in fair value
by approximately
HK$158,000

15.7% 15.7% HzhBREtng
IH/ THREES
NFERD /1M
#7158,00078 7T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) E —_ZE " AF =B =+—HI-FE CUBTEHE)

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)

(f) Fair values measurement (Continued)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
(Continued)

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to
the valuation together with a quantitative sensitivity analysis
as at 31 March 2024 (Continued)

Significant unobservable
Assets Valuation techniques inputs

HE fibfER G EXTURRBABE

29

®

THAREERREMIANATE

&)

[DFEFE &

BAFEFEZEHMEERAE ()

FTERAR _ZE_WFEF=H=+—HFEZE
AR TEEA HIFELESIEHE T Z B

Z (&

Weighted Sensitivity of fair value
Range average to the input
ifE] MEFHHE AFEHBARE
ZBEE

Minority discount

DERETE

20% 20% Increase/decrease in
minority discount
would result in
decrease/increase
in fair value by
approximately
HK$171,000

20% 20% LERETELH/
THREERATE
B /B
171,000 7T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tr o ISR RMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) iZE _E_HF= ﬁ +—RBIEEE CUBTEHE)
29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 29 ZEEABEEREMIANATE
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL (#&)
INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)
()  Fair values measurement (Continued) N AFEFE @B
Movements of these Level 3 fair value measurements BEE=RATFEFTENES
2025 2024
“EZRFE ZTMWHE
Unlisted equity investments: JEETHRRAIRE :
At 1 April RYA—H 2,734,980 8,559,589
Additions Hig - -
Changes in fair value recognised in other Elﬁqﬁfﬂfﬂiﬁuﬁﬁﬁqﬂ
comprehensive income during the year RZNFEED (1,134,980)  (5,824,609)
Disposal HE % (1,600,000) =
At 31 March K=B=+—H - 2,734,980

Net losses for the year included in profit or loss for R EHRFAFEEFT A
assets held at the end of the reporting period Ems FREEFEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR EEHRRME

nv'F

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) #ZE—

ETHF=RB=1T—HLFE CIBTE)

30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 30 EKFEAFRXS
TRANSACTIONS
(@) During the years ended 31 March 2025 and (@ MEBEE-F-_AER-FE-_MNEZ=A

2024, the related parties that had transactions

with the Group were as follows:

Name of related parties

RRE B8

=+—HILLFE: iﬁwilﬁﬁ%ﬁl’mﬁiﬁ
FMTF:

Relationships with the Group
B L ERIRA A

Chung Hang Enterprises Holdings Limited
(“Chung Hang")

RIRtEERARAR (TH{E))

Chung Wah Investment Company Limited
(“Chung Wah”)

RELSERAFRAT (THE)

Mr. Cheung Kit Shing (“Mr. Cheung”)
SRR S A (TR D)

Cheer Trend Limited (“Cheer Trend”)

Cheer Trend Limited (I Cheer Trend )

Etoiles Consultancy Limited (‘Etoiles”)

EXEBABRAE (T8&))

Mr. Chong Ka Yee (“Mr. Chong”)
HEHESLE(THEE))

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed in 2
note 6(a) and 23 to the consolidated financial statements, 4
the Group entered into the following material related party

transactions during the year:

A related company owned by Mr. Lau

M2 LR IRIERE

A related company owned by Mr. Lau

BRI EEENRERT
A director of a subsidiary (Resigned on 3 May 2024)
—ENBABIN—RES (W ZE_MF#H A= HEFF)

Non-controlling interest of a subsidiary wholly-owned by Mr. Cheung
until the completion of the Pure Luck Acquisition (defined herein
below)

BEEMERESTBEERR T EM »—HHREELEREEDN
M A Bl FEER R 2

A related company owned by Mr. Cheung
BRI EHBNAEAT]

A director of a subsidiary

—RENBARN—RES

R BB RERME6(a) R2BWBENR Z &
RN AEBRFRESIIL NIEXRBES
I

I

5&

2025
—E-HEE _—ENE

(i) Leases of properties from:

() MATEHLEEYE

Chung Hang IR 720,000 720,000
Chung Wah HEE 1,380,000 1,380,000
2,100,000 2,100,000
(i) Other transactions (i) HMmzz5
— Professional fees paid to Etoiles —BEREZNEEXEHR 750,000 =
— Acquisition of the additional interests in — B Cheer Trends B84t 12
Pure Luck International Limited (“Pure Luck”) ERBIRAE (T4EE))
from Cheer Trend (note 31) Z%MM& (M5E31) 5,000,000 =
Acquisition of an intangible asset from Mr. Chong Bkt lERTLEE 850,000 =
6,600,000 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30

(a)

(b)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and
2024, the related parties that had transactions
with the Group were as follows: (Continued)

The Directors are of opinion that apart from the borrowings
from a related company and directors of subsidiaries
disclosed in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements,
the above transactions were also entered into during the
normal course of business. The related party transactions
constitute connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules, however, they are fully exempted from
disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Transaction with key management personnel

Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration of key management personnel, including
amounts paid to the Directors as disclosed in note 8
and certain of the highest paid employees and senior
management as disclosed in note 9, is as follows:

sRE M IRRMIE

THE= E +—HLEFE QUBTHE)

30 EXMERRS (E

(@ HMREE-E-_AFR-ZT-_NE=AH
=+—HLEEE - BFERERZHNME
BFWTF: #)

EERR BRESMBRRNF2MRENRE—
Fﬂ%ﬁL@T&Bﬁ%@T%%E’M 85 LR A
BANR—MREBBERTIL - ZEMEFTZEM
L HRBIB4AEFR R ENRER S > AT ZER
FETEHRRET EHRAFVIAZIIRERTE

(b) HIBEBASHRS
TEEEASME
TEEEANEMNE (BEXNFTWESHIRE

EEMMERMEIFIKRESE TRSHMES
ReREEERHRE WTF

2025 2024

“EZRFE ZTWHF

Salaries, wages and benefits He s TEKER 14,707,628 14,124,821
Contribution to defined contribution retirement plans 53 & HEGR R 5 &I B9 FR 72,000 64,500
14,779,628 14,189,321
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) #ZE—

31 ACAQUISITION OF ADDITIONAL
INTEREST IN THE SUBSIDIARIES

Acquisition of additional interest in Pure Luck without
change of control

As at 1 April 2024, the Group held 51% equity interest in
Pure Luck which was accounted for as a subsidiary as the
Group had controls over Pure Luck.

During the year, the Group further entered into an
agreement and an supplemental agreement with the non-
controlling interest, pursuant to which, the Group acquired
(the “Pure Luck Acquisition”) () the remaining 49% equity
interests of Pure Luck from the non-controlling interest;
and (i) assumed the outstanding indebtedness due
from the non-controlling interest to Pure Luck for a cash
consideration of HK$5,000,000.

Upon completion of the Pure Luck Acquisition on 3 May
2024, Pure Luck became a wholly owned subsidiary
of the Group. As the Pure Luck Acquisition did not
involve the change of control, the difference between the
consideration and the carrying amount of the additional
interests acquired of approximately HK$5,132,000 was
recognised in the consolidated statement of change in
equity as “capital reserve”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &ZE —

32 EVENTS AFTER REPORTING

PERIOD

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Group
had the following material events:

(@)

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company on
13 March 2025, the Company offered the rights
issue (the “Rights Issue”) by issuing 115,200,000
rights shares (the “Rights Share(s)”) to the
qualifying shareholders at the subscription price
of HK$0.2 per Rights Share on the basis of one
Rights Share for every one existing share (‘Share”)
of the Company held on 25 March 2025. The
Rights Issue was completed on 9 May 2025, and
the Company intends to apply the net proceeds of
approximately HK$21.7 million (net of the issuing
expense of approximately HK$1.3 million) to fund
the foundation construction works and ground
investigation services segments of the Group and
the general working capital of the headquarters as
and when required.

On 12 May 2025, the Group entered into the sales
and purchase agreement with an independent
third party (the “Purchaser”), pursuant to which,
the Group disposed of its subsidiaries, Prestige
Victory Limited and Topper Summit Limited, to
the Purchaser at an aggregate consideration of
HK$1,350,000. The disposal was completed on 30
May 2025.

sRE M IRRMIE

THE= E +—HLEFE QUBTHE)

32 iREHAEERIA

RBREHBER AEBEEUTEREMF:

(a) *E#EZM}TE\_V_EE B+=H%

Eﬁﬁ;%%%lﬁ:tLLEﬁ—Iﬁ%Lﬁ
%%;’zt:’/}?htﬂf g (THERg)) > =ZR
:g_ﬁﬁ_ﬁ_JrﬁElhﬁ—Hﬁzt:
REIRBERG (TR BE—RERKRR
Mz EE > LUERERKRMD.2ETZ
RBEEOSERKREZEIT115,200,000
ARG, (TERRERM) - HENRZE
“HEFERBNAHER BEARBEEFR
BRIEFEEL21,700,0008 70 (640 %
2 1TRIX 491,300,000 1) BIEAEH
E’\Jimﬂké‘ﬁl%%&iﬂﬂﬁn:ﬁuHlﬁkﬁﬁﬁiﬁ
EREBH—REEE: (WEEE)

b) NRITE_AFREBR+H AEEH—
LBUE=H (BFI)JILEEH=H"
B REBE U4 MKE1,350,00048 7T
BESFHENBABDEIERRA X
BRERRB -HER-_ZE_HFHA
=+tHEM®
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tRe M IRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) &

33 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION OF THE COMPANY

“ECAF=ZA=+—HLFE CUBTE)

33 FARMBRKAR

2025 2024
ZEZRE —TTMWEF
Non-current assets ERHEE
Financial assets at FVOCI AT ESAEMEE
Wz EMEE - 2,734,980
Investment in subsidiaries RB AR NKRE 10,063,937 11,835,930
Total non-current assets JEMBNE EMEE 10,063,937 14,570,910
Current assets RENEE
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables B RIE 1w R EME K
E QL] 2,033,451 1,318,689
Due from subsidiaries FEU B /8 A Bl R IE 102,157,089 140,057,881
Cash and cash equivalents BeRIREEEBY 1,277,069 617,661
Total current assets MEEELE 105,467,609 141,994,231
Current liabilities mENEfE
Other payables Hfh & RIB 418,314 489,288
Due to subsidiaries FETH B A B 318 62,520,983 63,466,372
Total current liabilities BB {EAERE 62,939,297 63,955,660
Net current assets ﬁ@]ﬁéﬁfﬁ 42,528,312 78,038,571
Net assets BEFE 52,502,249 92,609,481
Capital and reserves B R#E
Share capital (Note 26(c)) B&As (B95E26(c)) 11,520,000 9,600,000
Reserves (Note 26(a)) R (MizE26()) 41,072,249 83,009,481
Total equity REmiaga 52,502,249 92,609,481
Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of R B AFARAZ+TtHRKESSGHER
Directors on 27 June 2025. RRET o
BAI HUAWEI WANG YU
BER E 3]
Director Director
BE BE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tr o ISR RMGE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (in HK dollars) iZE _E_HF= ﬁ +—RBIEEE CUBTEHE)
34 COMPARATIVE FIGURES 34 LEREF
Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to ETUHEREBEENTHDEUREEFEZE
conform with the current year’s presentation and the AR MGEEMBRAMTIIPTE MR-
rights issue set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial

statements.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

M=

A summary of the published results, assets, and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years, which does not

FEEBELEVHREENENNEERE EEK
BENHSE TABREEZGEMBREN—

form part of the audited consolidated financial statement, is o &Y -
set out as below:
RESULTS 2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
£ “B-RE C“ZoME "B =F ZE--f CB--F
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
AT BT BT BT BT
Revenue A 301,128,972 288,653,824 315,446,680 263,216,864 293,598,630
Loss before tax BAAIESE (51,896,177)  (19.340,608)  (46,057,791) (13384350  (10,188,168)
Income tax (expense)/credit iR () /R (1,406,992) (759,814) (937,787) 627,765 (2,051,681)
Loss for the year ERES (53,303,169)  (20,100422)  (46095578)  (12,756,585)  (12,239,849)
Loss attributable to owners of AT BB AFE(LEE
the Company (51,429,751) (20,621,836 (46095578) (12,756,585)  (12,239,849)
Non-controlling interests R (1,873,418) 521,414 = = =
(53,303,169) (20,100,422 (46.995578) (12,756,585  (12,239,849)
Loss and total comprehensive ~ FREEREA
income for the year W88 (54,835030) (26,508739) (54,375706) (9,112,486  (7,653,961)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERAR
Total assets BEMAE 267,272,894 323,973,873 354,084,748 458,325,935 466,554,477
Total liabilties =YEreke (217,572,107) (233,145,156) (236,747,292) (286,612,773) (285,728,829)
Non-controlling interests JFER S 1,201,993 (506,739) = = =
Net assets attributable to KATBEE AEN
owners of the Company BEFE 50,002,780 90,321,978 117,337,456 171,713,162 180,825,648

This report is published in both English and Chinese
languages. Should there be any inconsistency between
the Chinese and English versions, the English version shall

prevail.
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